# THE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND MODIFIABLE BREAST CANCER RISK FACTORS

by

Alana G. Hudson

BS, West Virginia University, 2002

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Department of Epidemiology

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2007

-

-

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

#### Graduate School of Public Health

This dissertation was presented

by

#### Alana G. Hudson

It was defended on

November 28, 2007

and approved by

#### **Dissertation Advisor:**

Joel L. Weissfeld, MD, MPH Associate Professor of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health Assistant Professor of Medicine School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh

Rhobert W. Evans, PhD Associate Professor of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health Assistant Professor of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh

> Victor G Vogel III, MD, MHS Professor of Medicine School of Medicine Professor of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

John W. Wilson, PhD Assistant Professor of Biostatistics Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Alana G. Hudson

2007

# THE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS AND MODIFIABLE BREAST CANCER RISK FACTORS

#### Alana G. Hudson, Ph.D

#### University of Pittsburgh, 2007

Experimental evidence suggests that omega-6 (n-6) fatty acids have mammary tumor promoting effects whereas omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids inhibit tumor growth. These two families of fatty acids may influence breast cancer development by impacting prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) formation and consequently estradiol synthesis. Whether this effect on estrogen production can be observed in the circulation or in breast tissue, as reflected on a mammogram, is unknown. Therefore, using fatty acids in erythrocytes as a biomarker of recent dietary intake, we sought to establish the relationship between the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids with both serum estradiol and mammographic breast density, two well-established modifiable breast cancer risk factors. We hypothesized that n-6 fatty acids are positively related and n-3 fatty acids negatively related to both risk factors. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) also inhibit PGE2 formation, therefore we further hypothesized that estradiol levels would be lower among NSAID users. NSAID data was not available at the time of mammogram; hence the relationship between NSAID use and mammographic density could not accurately be assessed. To test our hypotheses we conducted several investigations ancillary to the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS), a case control study of the determinants of mammographic breast density. Participants were eligible for this compilation of studies if they were breast cancer-free, postmenopausal and not taking exogenous

hormones. We observed significantly lower levels of serum estradiol among current users of NSAIDs as compared to non-users of NSAIDs. Further, as hypothesized, estradiol concentration decreased with increasing erythrocyte composition of total n-3 fatty acids and rose with increasing erythrocyte composition of total n-6 fatty acids. However, these findings were noted only among non-users of NSAIDs and not among NSAID users. No relationship was observed between any of the n-6 or n-3 fatty acids measures and mammographic breast density. In summary, lowering consumption of n-6 fatty acids, increasing n-3 intake, or taking a NSAID may result in reduced estradiol synthesis and potentially breast cancer risk. Further research is needed to validate our results. If confirmed, these findings could have a substantial impact on public health as it could lead to the development of chemopreventive guidelines, and ultimately prevent the development of estrogen-dependent breast cancer.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	ACK	NO	WLED	GEMENTSXVI
1.0 INTROD			INTR	ODUCTION1
1.1 I		E	BREAST CANCER EPIDEMIOLOGY1	
			1.1.1	Breast cancer risk factors
			1.1.2	Circulating estradiol
			1.1.3	Mammographic breast density13
			1.1.4	Potential intermediate markers16
		1.2	C	OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS 21
			1.2.1	Biological properties and nomenclature of fatty acids
			1.2.2	Sources of the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids
			1.2.3	Erythrocytes as markers of the omega fatty acids27
		1.3	0	OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND BREAST CANCER 29
			1.3.1	AA, EPA, and prostaglandins29
			1.3.2	Inhibition of prostaglandin E2
			1.3.3	CYP19, estrogen and breast cancer
			1.3.4	The relationship between COX-2, PGE2, and CYP19
			1.3.5	Animal and experimental evidence
			1.3.6	Ecological and epidemiological evidence

	1.3.7	Dietary fat and serum estradiol	
	1.3.8	Dietary fat and mammographic breast density	
1.4	4 5	SUMMARY OF INTRODUCTION	40
2.0	SPEC	CIFIC AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	41
3.0	ART	ICLE ONE: ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FA	ATTY ACIDS
AND P	OSTME	NOPAUSAL SERUM ESTRADIOL	
3.1	1 4	ABSTRACT	
3.2	2	INTRODUCTION	
3.3	3 1	MATERIALS AND METHODS	
	3.3.1	Study Population	
	3.3.2	Subsample Selection	50
	3.3.3	Covariate Information	
	3.3.4	Clinical Measures	
	3.3.5	Measurement of Fatty Acids	
	3.3.6	Measurement of Total Estradiol	53
	3.3.7	Statistical Analyses	
3.4	4 ]	RESULTS	56
3.4	5 (	CONCLUSIONS	59
4.0	ART	ICLE TWO: NONSTEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY	DRUG USE
AND S	ERUM	FOTAL ESTRADIOL IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN	
4.]	1 4	ABSTRACT	71
4.2	2	INTRODUCTION	
4.3	3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	

		4.3.1	Study Population	73
		4.3.2	Subsample Selection	74
		4.3.3	Covariate Information	75
		4.3.4	Assessment of NSAID Use	76
		4.3.5	Clinical Measures	78
		4.3.6	Laboratory Analyses	78
		4.3.7	Statistical Analyses	79
	4.4	R	RESULTS	81
	4.5	D	DISCUSSION	83
5.0		ARTI	CLE THREE: ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATT	ſY
ACI	IDS A	ND M	AMMOGRAPHIC BREAST DENSITY	95
	5.1	A	BSTRACT	96
	5.2	Γ	NTRODUCTION	97
	5.3	N	IATERIALS AND METHODS	99
		5.3.1	Study Population	99
		5.3.2	Subsample Selection	00
		5.3.3	Data Collection10	00
		5.3.4	Erythrocyte Fatty Acid Analysis10	02
		5.3.5	Mammographic Breast Density Assessment10	03
		5.3.6	Statistical Analyses10	04
	5.4	R	RESULTS 10	05
	5.5	C	CONCLUSIONS1	06
6.0		GENE	CRAL DISCUSSION	16

6.1	RESEARCH ARTICLE 1 118
6.2	RESEARCH ARTICLE 2119
6.3	RESEARCH ARTICLE 3120
6.4	SUMMARY 122
6.5	STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS122
6.6	FUTURE DIRECTIONS123
7.0	PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNFICANCE 125
APPENI	DIX A : ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND
POSTM	ENOPAUSAL SERUM ESTRADIOL ADDITIONAL ANALYSES 126
APPENI	DIX B : NSAID USE AND SERUM TOTAL ESTRADIOL IN
POSTM	ENOPAUSAL WOMEN ADDITIONAL ANALYSES155
APPENI	DIX C : ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND
MAMM	OGRAPHIC BREAST DENSITY ADDITIONAL ANALYSES
BIBLIO	GRAPHY 177

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Selected established and potential breast cancer risk factors    4
Table 2. Nested case control studies of circulating estradiol and breast cancer risk in
postmenopausal women
Table 3. Summary of quantitative studies of mammographic density and breast cancer risk 17
Table 4. Naming of omega-6 and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids    22
Table 5. Fatty acid composition of various foods    26
Table 6. Distribution of selected characteristics among postmenopausal women in the
Mammograms and Masses Study
Table 7. Mean fatty acid composition in erythrocytes
Table 8. Spearman rank order correlation coefficients between n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in
erythrocytes and serum estradiol concentrations
Table 9. Multivariable-adjusted geometric mean (95% confidence interval) estradiol
concentrations (pmol/L) by tertile of erythrocyte fatty acid according to NSAID use
Table 10. Distribution of selected characteristics by NSAID use among postmenopausal women
in the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)
Table 11. Self-reported NSAID use in the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)
Table 12. Distribution of selected characteristics by tertile of serum estradiol levels among
postmenopausal women in the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)

Table 13. Unadjusted and adjusted geometric mean estradiol levels (95% confidence interval)
according to NSAID use
Table 14. Selected demographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle characteristics of the study
population 109
Table 15. Pearson's correlation coefficients between mammographic features
Table 16. Characteristics of participants by tertile of percent breast density    112
Table 17. Mean fatty acid composition in erythrocytes
Table 18. Unadjusted and adjusted Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte n-6
and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic characteristics 115
Table A19. Coefficients of variation for erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids
Table A20. Spearman correlation coefficients among erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids 140
Table A21. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and family history of breast
cancer
Table A22. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and postmenopausal
hormone therapy use
Table A23. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and current smoking status
Table A24. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and race    144
Table A25. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and alcohol intake 145
Table A26. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and age    146
Table A27. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and BMI       147
Table A28. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and years since onset of
menopause

Table A29. Mean fatty acid composition in erythrocytes according to NSAID use       149
Table A30. Spearman correlation coefficients between n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and
serum estradiol concentrations
Table A31. Correlations between fatty acids and estradiol    151
Table A32. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythroyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and
serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L) including 9 participants with estradiol levels
>150pmol/L
Table B33. Distribution of selected characteristics by categories of NSAID use among
postmenopausal women
Table B34. Geometric mean estradiol concentration (95% confidence interval) according to
NSAID use, excluding participants in non-user group that reported taking acetaminophen and/or
prescription narcotic analgesics at blood draw
Table B35. Geometric mean estradiol concentration (95% confidence interval) according to
NSAID use including 9 participants with estradiol levels >150pmol/L
Table B36. Geometric mean estradiol concentration (95% confidence interval) according to type
of NSAID use
Table B37. Adjusted geometric mean estradiol concentrations (95% confidence interval)
stratified by BMI subgroup according to categories of NSAID use
Table C38. Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) breast density according to tertile of
erythrocyte fatty acid composition
Table C39. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and
mammographic features including 9 participants with estradiol levels >150pmol/L 166

Table C40. Partial Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids
and mammographic characteristics among women (n=120) whose date of mammogram was $<30$
days from blood draw and film quality not rated as poor
Table C41. Mammographic features by self-reported current NSAID use    168
Table C42. Partial Spearman correlations between erythrocyte fatty acids and mammographic
features by current NSAID use
Table C43. Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) percent breast density according to tertile
of erythrocyte fatty acid composition among participants reporting no current NSAID use 170
Table C44. Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) mammographic features according to
tertile of erythrocyte fatty acid composition among women reporting NSAID use at blood draw
Table C45. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte fatty acids not of the n-6 or n-
3 families and mammographic features
Table C46. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte fatty acids not of the n-6 or n-
3 families and mammographic features among women whose date of mammogram was <30 days
from blood draw and film quality not rated as poor
Table C47. Spearman's correlation coefficients between serum estradiol concentration and
mammographic features

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Global incidence of female breast cancer: ASR, 2002	2
Figure 2. Structure of a fatty acid	. 21
Figure 3. Metabolic pathways of the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids	. 23
Figure 4. Potential n-6 and n-3 PUFA pathway leading to breast cancer	. 34
Figure 5. Adjusted geometrc mean estradol according to self-reported NSAID use	. 94
Figure A6. Distribution of erythrocyte total n-6 fatty acids in the study population	127
Figure A7. Distribution of erythrocyte LA in the study population.	128
Figure A8. Distribution of erythrocyte AA in the study population	129
Figure A9. Distribution of erythcoyte total n-3 fatty acids in the study population	130
Figure A10. Distribution of erythrocyte ALA in the study population.	131
Figure A11. Distribution of erythrocyte EPA in the study population.	132
Figure A12. Distribution of erythrocyte DHA in the study population	133
Figure A13. Distribution of the erythrocyte total 6:3 ratio in the study population.	134
Figure A14. Distrubution of the erythrocyte LA:ALA ratio in the study population	135
Figure A15. Distribution of the erythrocyte AA:EPA ratio in the study population	136
Figure A16. Distribution of the erythrocyte AA:EPA+DHA ratio in the study population	137
Figure A17. Distribution of erythrocyte individual n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in the str	udy
population.	138

Figure A18. Geometric mean se	erum estradiol	concentrations	(pmol/L) b	y tertile	of the
AA:EPA+DHA ratio according to N	SAID use				152
Figure A19. Geometric mean serun	n estradiol conc	centrations (pmo	l/L) by tertile	e of the LA	A:ALA
ratio according to NSAID use					153
Figure B20. Adjusted geometric me	an estradiol acc	ording to self-re	ported NSAI	D use	162

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

An undertaking such as a dissertation is not completed without the unyielding support and encouragement of many people. My first debt of gratitude must go to the chair of my committee, Dr. Joel Weissfeld, for devoting much of his time to me. His expertise, guidance and thoughtful feedback have been invaluable. I am also very thankful for having a truly remarkable doctoral committee who deserves much recognition for their commitment to this research project. Dr. John Wilson, Dr. Rhobert Evans, and Dr. Victor Vogel patiently provided their time and offered insightful comments, for which I am especially grateful.

I have had the privilege of knowing and working with many noteworthy people to whom I am much obliged, for my research would not have been possible without their unwavering support. First and foremost, I must thank Dr. Francesmary Modugno, whose supervision, confidence in my skills, and words of encouragement will never be forgotten. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Gretchen Gierach and Dr. Jennifer Simpson for their strength of character, invaluable opinions, and unflagging friendship. I would further like to acknowledge Lizzy Wentzel, for her willingness to help on all occasions and for her positive outlook on life, which was inspirational. Thanks must also go out to my colleagues and friends, Katherine Reeves and Erin Sauber, for their scholary advice and listening ears.

I would especially like to thank my family for their active role in my academic endeavors. My parents were always a constant source of love and support and I am very blessed to have them in my life. From the beginning they encouraged me to excel in whatever I do and placed great value on education. This degree is just as much theirs as it is mine. My sister, Allison, has been a long-distance confidant and her enduring friendship helped keep me going during difficult times. Special thanks must also go to Mindy and Tom Hudson, my "Pittsburgh parents," for enthusiastically encouraging me throughout my graduate studies and for warmly accepting me into their family.

I am forever grateful to my husband, Scott, whose steadfast support, patience and belief in me ultimately made this PhD possible. I cannot thank him enough. His selflessness, unshakable faith in my abilities, and pride in my achievements were critical ingredients in providing me the strength and persistence necessary to complete this work.

Finally, and above all, I would like to thank the good Lord for providing me with the ability and patience to complete this work.

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 BREAST CANCER EPIDEMIOLOGY

Breast cancer incidence rates, in the United States, are among the highest in the world (Figure 1) [1]. The American Cancer Society estimates that approximately 178,480 new cases of invasive and 62,030 cases of in situ breast cancer will be diagnosed in women residing in the United States in 2007 [2]. Although early diagnosis and adjuvant chemohormonal therapy have resulted in significant improvements in breast cancer survival rates, breast cancer still ranks second in female cancer mortality in the United States, and is expected to account for approximately 40,460 deaths in 2007 [2].

With the exception of gender, age is generally the most acknowledged and scientifically proven risk factor to be linked with breast cancer. Breast cancer is seldom diagnosed before age 25; however, soon after this age the incidence rates rise linearly until around the age of menopause, where rates begin to plateau [3]. Even though the rising breast cancer rate tapers after menopause, older women remain at increasing risk over time, with more than 80% of breast cancer cases occurring in women 50 years of age and older [4].



Figure 1. Global incidence of female breast cancer: ASR, 2002

Age-adjusted breast cancer incidence rates vary greatly around the globe, with approximately a 3-5 fold difference between high and low risk countries [1]. Greater risk is associated with the industrialized nations of North America and Western Europe, and far lower rates are found among the developing nations in Asia and Africa [5]. Unfortunately, the huge geographical variation between countries is difficult to explain.

For decades, studies have shown breast cancer rates rise among women that migrate from countries with low incidence rates to countries with high breast cancer rates. For instance, Asian women have one of the lowest breast cancer rates of any population in the world. In contrast, Asian women who have migrated to North America acquire incidence rates similar to the women in the host country [6-8]. Although these women share a common genetic background, they experience different rates of disease when living in dissimilar geographic and cultural settings. Thus, it appears that exposure to the "Western" lifestyle has a significant impact on breast cancer risk, and therefore breast cancer may be a preventable disease.

#### 1.1.1 Breast cancer risk factors

While the etiology of breast cancer is poorly understood, it is believed to be the result of environmental, reproductive, hormonal, and genetic factors. Epidemiological research has identified a number of factors that may either predispose or protect a woman from developing this disease (**Table 1**). However, it should be noted that many individuals who develop breast cancer have established risk factor values very similar to the population average. Furthermore, the majority of women exposed to multiple well-established breast cancer risk factors never develop breast cancer, and some women that develop this disease have no apparent breast cancer risk factor [9].

Risk factors fall into one of two categories, modifiable or non-modifiable. Modifiable risk factors include diet and obesity, whereas nonmodifiable risk factors include one's age and family history of breast cancer. Of particular interest in cancer prevention research, are those that are modifiable; however, a major modifiable lifestyle risk factor has yet to be recognized which can be used as a means for primary prevention.

RISK FACTOR GROUP (95%CI) †	
Family History [10]	
One first degree relative Women without an Women with 1 1st OR: 1.80	
affected relative degree relative <sup>‡</sup> (1.69, 1.91)	
Two first degree relativesWomen without anWomen with 2 1stOR: 2.93	
affected relative degree relatives (2.36, 3.64)	
Benign Breast Disease [11]	
Atypical hyperplasia Iowa SEER registry Women with RR 4 24	
population proliferative (3.26, 5.41)	
fibrocystic changes	
with atypia	
Proliferative no atypia Iowa SEER registry Women with RR: 1.88	
population proliferative (1.66, 2.12)	
fibrocystic changes	
without atypia	
Nonproliferative Iowa SEER registry Women with non- RR: 1.27	
population proliferative (1.15, 1.41)	
fibrocystic changes	
Reproductive Factors	
Age at menarche [12] <12 years of age 15+ years of age RR: 0.84	
(0.70, 1.02)	
Full-term pregnancy [12] Women with no Women with 1 full- RR: 0.76	
full-term pregnancy term pregnancy (0.61, 0.95)	
Age at first pregnancy [12] Women with first Women with first RR: 1.46	
full term pregnancy full term pregnancy (1.18, 1.81)	
< 22 years of age $> 30$ years of age	
Breast-feeding [13] Parous women that Parous women that OR: 0.94§	
never breastfed breastfed for a	
median of 12	
Abortion [14]	
Addition [14]	
Spontaneous INO record of a Kecord of a OR: 0.98	
spontaneous spontaneous (0.92, 1.04)	
Induced No self-reported Self-reported OD: 0.02	
induced abortion induced abortion (0.80, 0.95)	
Age at menonause [15] $<40$ years of age $>55$ years of age $OR \cdot 1.71$	
(1 37 2 12)	

## Table 1. Selected established and potential breast cancer risk factors

Table 1 (continued)

	REFERENCE	COMPARISON	OR, RR, HR
RISK FACTOR	GROUP	GROUP	(95%CI)
Hormonal Factors Exogenous hormones			
Oral contraceptives [16]	Never user of oral	Current user of oral	OR:1.24 (1.15, 1.33)
Hormone Therapy [17]	Randomized to placebo	Randomized treatment with $E+P^{\#}$	(1.12, 1.55) HR: 1.24 (1.02, 1.50)
Endogenous hormones Sex steroid hormones Premenopausal [18]			
Estradiol	Lowest quartile	Highest quartile	OR: 1.00 (0.66, 1.52)
Estrone	Lowest quartile	Highest quartile	OR: 1.16 (0.72, 1.85)
SHBG**	Lowest quartile	Highest quartile	OR: 0.95 (0.65, 1.40)
Testosterone	Lowest quartile	Highest quartile	OR: 1.73 (1.16, 2.57)
Postmenopausal [19]			
Estradiol	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	RR: 2.00 (1.47, 2.71)
Estrone	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	RR: 2.19 (1.48, 3.22)
SHBG	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	RR: 0.66 (0.43, 1.00)
Testosterone	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	RR: 2.22 (1.59, 3.10)
Estrogen metabolites [20] Premenopausal			(,)
2-OHE††	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	OR: 1.23 (0.45, 3.35)
16-OHE††	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	OR: 1.90 (0.68, 5.31)
2:16OHE	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	OR: 0.55 (0.23, 1.32)
Postmenopausal			(0.20, 1.02)
2-OHE	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	OR: 1.61 (0.66, 3.94)
16-OHE	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	OR: 1.34 (0.55, 3.27)
2:16OHE	Lowest quintile	Highest quintile	OR: 1.31 (0.53, 3.18)

Table 1 (continued)			
RISK FACTOR	REFERENCE CATEGORY	COMPARISON CATEGORY	OR, RR, HR (95%CI)
IGF-1 [21]			
Premenopausal	25th percentile	75th percentile	OR: 1.93
Postmenopausal	25th percentile	75th percentile	(1.38, 2.69) OR: 0.95
			(0.62, 1.33)
IGFBP-3 [21]	2541	7541	$OD \cdot 1.0C$
Premenopausai	25th percentile	/stn percentile	OK: 1.96 (1.28, 2.00)
Postmenonausal	25th percentile	75th percentile	(1.20, 2.99) OR: 0.07
rostnenopausar	25th percentific	75th percentile	(0.53, 1.77)
Factors effected by hormones			(0.55, 1.77)
Bone mineral density [22]	lowest quartile of	highest quartile of	RR: 2.70
	bone density at 3	bone density at 3	(1.4, 5.3)
	skeletal sites	skeletal sites	
Breast density [23]	lowest quartile of	highest quartile of	OR 4.04
	density	density	(2.12, 7.69)
Anthropometry [24]			
Premenopausal			<b>DD</b> 0.50
Weight (kg)	<60.0	<u>≥</u> 80.0	RR: 0.58
Hoight (am)	<1.60	>1 75	(0.40, 0.83)
fieight (chi)	<1.00	<u>&lt;1.75</u>	(0.95, 2.12)
BMI $(kg/m^2)$	<21.0	>33.0	(0.93, 2.12) RR: 0.58
			(0.34, 1.00)
Postmenopausal			
Weight (kg)	<60.0	$\geq \! 80.0$	RR: 1.25
			(1.02, 1.52)
Height (cm)	<1.60	≥1.75	RR:1.28
$\mathbf{D}$ $\mathbf{G}$ $(\mathbf{z}^{2})$			(0.94, 1.76)
BMI $(kg/m^2)$	<21.0	<u>≥</u> 33.0	RR:1.27
Environmental Factors			(1.03, 1.55)
Lonizing Rediction [25]	never exposed to	radiation exposure	$OP \cdot 1.6$
ionizing Radiation [25]	radiation to treat or	between 10 and 19	(0.5, 2.5)
	monitor a condition	vears of age	(0.5, 2.5)
Physical Activity [26]		jeans of age	
Premenopausal	lowest tertile of	highest tertile of	OR: 0.74
	average lifetime	average lifetime	(0.52,1.05)
	activity	activity	
Postmenopausal	lowest tertile of	highest tertile of	OR: 0.81
	average lifetime	average lifetime	(0.64, 1.02)
	activity	activity	

Table 1 (continued)

	REFERENCE	COMPARISON	OR, RR, HR
RISK FACTOR	CATEGORY	CATEGORY	(95%CI)
Smoking [27]			
Postmenopausal	Never smoker	Smoked >40 years	RR: 1.5
		-	(1.2, 1.9)
Dietary Factors			
Alcohol [28]	0g/day	≥45g/day	OR: 1.46
			(1.33, 1.61)
Total Fat [29]	lowest quantile	highest quantile	OR: 1.13
			(1.03, 1.25)
Saturated Fat [29]	lowest quantile	highest quantile	OR: 1.19
			(1.06, 1.35)
Meat intake [29]	lowest quantile	highest quantile	OR:1.17
			(1.06, 1.29)
Soy [30]	lowest quantile	highest quantile	OR: 0.86
			(0.75, 0.99)
Calcium (dietary) [31]	≤500 mg/d	>1,250 mg/d	RR: 0.80
			(0.67, 0.95)
Vitamin D (dietary) [31]	≤100 IU/d	>300 IU/d	RR: 0.89
			(0.76, 1.03)
Folate (total) [32]	150-299µg/d	≥600µg/d	RR: 0.93
			(0.83, 1.03)
Total Fruit [33]	lowest quintile	highest quintile	RR: 1.09
			(0.94, 1.25)
Total Vegetables [33]	lowest quintile	highest quintile	RR: 0.98
			(0.84, 1.14)
Night work [34]	no nightshift work	any nightshift work	OR: 1.48
			(1.36, 1.61)

\* OR=Odds Ratio; RR=Relative Risk; HR=Hazards Ratio

†CI=Confidence Interval

‡ First degree relative=mother, sister, or daughter

§CI not provided

# E+P= estrogen + progestin

\*\*Sex hormone binding globulin

††2-OHE=2-hydroxyestrone; 16-OHE=16-hydroxyestrone

#### 1.1.2 Circulating estradiol

Experimental data strongly support the hypothesis that estrogen plays a causal role in the development of some breast cancers. The mechanisms through which estrogens contribute to the carcinogenic process are complex; however, evidence exists confirming estrogens cause both normal and malignant breast cell proliferation [35]. Many established breast cancer risk factors can be attributed to some means of elevated estrogen exposure. For example, both an early age of menarche and a late age of menopause are related to prolonged exposure to the high levels of estrogen that occur during the menstrual cycle, and both are associated with increased breast cancer risk [12, 15]. Surgical menopause, which results in an abrupt arrest of estrogen secretion by the ovaries, is protective against breast cancer [36]. Moreover, the rate of age specific breast cancer slows around the time of menopause, a time when estrogen levels decline [3]. Increased bone mineral density, a potential reflection of cumulative estrogen exposure, is associated with increased breast cancer development in menopausal women [22]; and obesity, which is positively correlated with circulating estrogen levels is associated with postmenopausal breast cancer risk [22, 24].

Treatment with estrogens may cause an increase in risk of postmenopausal breast cancer. A meta-analysis found an increased risk of breast cancer risk associated with the use of estrogenreplacement therapy (ET) [37]. In contrast, the Women's Health Initiative Study did not find increased risk associated with participants receiving ET; however, the study may not have been long enough [38]. Within the Nurse's Health Study breast cancer risk increased with the duration of ET use, the multivariate relative risks (RRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for breast cancer with current ET use for less than 5 years, 5 to 9.9 years, 10 to 14.9 years, 15 to 19.9 years, and 20 years or more were, respectively, 0.96 (0.75-1.22), 0.90 (0.73-1.12), 1.06 (0.87-1.30), 1.18 (0.95-1.48), and 1.42 (1.13-1.77) (P for trend <0.001) [39]. The relationship was more notable among estrogen receptor positive (ER+) and progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumors, and became statistically significant after 15 years of use (RR, 1.48; 95% CI, 1.05-2.07). Further, there is ample evidence that endogenous levels of estradiol are strongly linked with breast cancer in postmenopausal women [40]. Ten of 11 prospective studies reported higher circulating estradiol concentrations in postmenopausal women who subsequently developed breast cancer than in controls (**Table 2**). However, 4 of the 11 risk estimates were not significant, as to be expected given the small number of cases. A reanalysis pooling data from 9 of these studies found an OR=2.0 (95%CI: 1.4, 2.1) for breast cancer risk when comparing women in the upper versus the lowest quintile of estradiol levels [41].

In addition to the observational studies linking circulating estradiol concentrations and breast cancer risk, convincing data from large clinical trials exist showing drugs that block the action of estrogen reduces breast cancer incidence. The risk reduction is more pronounced in women with higher estrogen levels than in those with lower levels; thus further strengthening the evidence that estrogen exposure is associated with the development of breast cancer [42, 43]. In the Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation (MORE) trial, it was found that women in the highest tertile of estradiol levels had a 2.1 fold risk of breast cancer in comparison to women with the lowest levels of estradiol [44]. Women in the placebo arm of the trial had 6.8 times the risk of developing breast cancer than women with estradiol levels lower than the assays detection limit (0.6%/year, 95%CI: 0%-1.1%), and women with circulating levels of estradiol >10pmol/L in the Raloxifene group had a breast cancer rate 76% lower (95%CI: 53%, 88%) than women with similar levels of estradiol in the placebo group; thus, inhibiting the action of estrogen plays an obvious role in the risk reduction of breast cancer [43].

Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Partition (pmol/L)	Specimen Type	Adjustments & Matching	OR (95%CI)*
Garland (1992) [45]	USA	15/400	<36.7 vs. ≥62.4	Plasma	Adjusted for age	OR=0.6†
Helzlsouer (1994) [46]	USA	29/58	<44.1 vs. >66.1	Serum	Matched on age, time since last natural menstrual period, time of blood draw, and fasting status at the time of blood draw	OR=4.0 (0.4, 34.8)
Berrino (1996) [47]	Italy	24/88	<66.8 vs. >89.6	Serum	Matched on study recruitment center, date of enrollment, daylight savings period at time of blood draw, location of freezer storage (i.e. freezer and level on freezer); adjusted for age	OR= 5.5 (0.8, 37.6)
Dorgan (1996) [48]	USA	71/133	<28.6 vs. ≥88.1	Serum	Matched for age, date of blood draw, and time of blood draw; adjusted for years since last natural menstrual period, height, weight, first degree family history of breast cancer, and parity	OR=2.7 (0.8, 9.1)

## Table 2. Nested case control studies of circulating estradiol and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women

Table 2 (continued)	)					
Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Partition (pmol/L)	Specimen Type	Adjustments & Matching	OR (95%CI)*
Thomas (1997) [49]	Guernsey	61/179	<30.8 vs. >41.1	Serum	Matched for age, year of blood draw and number of years postmenopausal	OR= 5.0 (2.0, 12.5)
Hankinson (1998) [50]	USA	154/306	≤18.4 vs. ≥ 44.1	Plasma	Matched for age, month and time of day and fasting status of blood draw; adjusted for BMI at age 18, family history of breast cancer, age at menarche, parity, age at first birth, age at menopause, and past HT use	OR=1.9 (1.1, 3.5)
Cauley (1999) [40]	USA	97/243	<18.4 vs. ≥29.4	Serum	Adjusted for age, BMI, age at menarche, first birth, and menopause, nulliparity, family history of breast cancer, physical activity, surgical menopause, and alcohol consumption	OR=2.9 (1.2, 7.2)
Kabuto (2000) [51]	Japan	26/56	Lowest quintile vs. highest quintile	Serum	Matched for city, age ( $\pm 3$ years), date ( $\pm 3$ months) of blood collection, and radiation dose	OR=2.5 (0.2, 40.2)

### 

Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Partition (pmol/L)	Specimen Type	Adjustments & Matching	OR (95%CI)*
Missmer (2004) [52]	USA	319/637	Batch specific cutpoints: 1990-1995 <22.0 vs. ≥40.1 1996-1998 <18.4 vs. ≥33.0	Plasma	Matched for age, month and time and fasting status of blood draw; adjusted for BMI at 18 years, family history of breast cancer, age at first birth, parity, age at menopause, duration of HT use	OR= 2.1 (1.5, 3.2)
Zeleniuch-Jacquotte (2004) [53]	USA	294/558	<62.9 vs. >116.3	Serum	Matched on age, date of enrollment, number and dates of subsequent blood draws; adjusted for age at menarche, family history of breast cancer, parity, age at first birth, surgical menopause, previous breast biopsy, BMI, and height	OR=2.1 (1.2, 3.6)
Kaaks (2005) [54]	9 European countries	672/1297	Lowest quintile vs. highest quintile	Serum	Matched on study center, age, time of day of blood draw, fasting statu at blood draw	OR=2.3 (1.6, 3.2)

## Table 2 (continued)

\* OR=Odds ratio; CI=Confidence interval

*†* Not statistically significant. CI not reported

#### **1.1.3 Mammographic breast density**

The mammographic image of the breast differs according to the amounts of each type of breast tissue. Fatty breast tissue is radiolucent, allowing x-ray beams to pass through resulting in dark areas on a mammogram whereas fibroglandular tissue, which is comprised of stroma, ductal, and glandular tissue, is denser and absorbs x-rays, thus appearing lighter on the film. The dense tissue in the breast decreases the visibility of tumors thus hindering mammogram interpretation and consequently reducing mammography sensitivity and specificity [55].

Mammographic breast density is an estimate of the proportion of dense tissue in the breast as opposed to fatty tissue. There is not a standardized means to assess the degree of density in the breast, and a range of subjective and semi-objective classification systems have been developed. Common qualitative measurements include Wolfe's patterns and Tabar's categories. The less subjective quantitative breast density measurements include visual estimation, planimetry, and computerized thresholding.

Wolfe's parenchymal patterns classify the breast into four categories (N1, P1, P2, and DY) according to the relative amounts of fat, epithelial and connective tissue observed on the mammogram: N1 signifies breast tissue predominantly comprised of fatty tissue and no duct pattern is visible; P1 category refers to mainly fatty tissue, but ductal prominence is visible in up to 25% of the breast; P2 displays a prominent ductal pattern in more than 25% of the breast; and DY, denotes dense tissues spread throughout the majority of the breast [56]. Similarly, Tabar's classification consists of categories, as follows: breast image composed of scalloped contours with some lucent areas of fatty replacement, and 1mm evenly distributed nodular densities (represents the typical appearance of a premenopausal woman's breast); composed almost

entirely of lucent areas of fatty replacement, and 1 mm evenly distributed nodular densities; prominent ducts in the retroareolar area; extensive nodular and linear densities, with nodular size larger than normal lobules, and; homogeneous, ground glass-like appearance with no perceptible features [57].

In hopes to improve interrater agreement, more objective measurements to assess the radiographic appearance of the breast were established. Among the first of these methods was visual estimation of the proportion of the breast area occupied by dense tissue [23]. More recent studies have used planimetry, both manual and computerized, to assess breast density. This method involves tracing the total breast area and areas of dense tissue. The percentage of density is then calculated by dividing the area of the dense breast tissue by the total area of the breast [58]. Another adopted method for the quantitative assessment of breast density is through interactive thresholding. In this method, using digitized images of the breast, an observer selects a gray-level value as a threshold to define the edge of the breast from the darker background, and subsequently selects the region of dense tissue [59]. The areas defined are then measured by the computer, and total breast area, dense breast area, nondense breast area and percent density are calculated.

Regardless if density is defined by qualitative or quantitative measurement, numerous epidemiological investigations have shown breast density to be a strong risk factor for breast cancer in the general population; however, studies using a quantitative measure of breast density usually report a stronger association with breast cancer risk [60, 61]. The risk of developing breast cancer is estimated to be 2 to 6 times greater among women with the highest partition of density as compared to women with little or no visible density (**Table 3**). A recent meta-analysis found an increased risk (OR=4.64; 95%CI=3.64-5.91) for breast cancer among women with a

breast density of 75% as compared to women with breast density <5% [61]. This phenomenon is dose dependent and notable in both pre- and postmenopausal women [23]. For each 1% increment in percent breast density an estimated 1.5-2% increase in breast cancer risk occurs [62, 63]; thus, mammographic density is a stronger predictor of breast cancer risk than most traditional risk factors.

Mammographic density is believed to be a result of both genetic and lifestyle factors. Aside from age and BMI [64], two well-established breast cancer risk factors among postmenopausal women, several reproductive and hormonally-related breast cancer risk factors are positively associated with mammographic density. Increased density has been linked to an early age at menarche, late age of menopause, nulliparity and late age at first full-term birth [64-70]. Mammographic density can also be modified with treatments known to alter breast cancer risk such as increased density with HT use, with combined formulations of estrogen and progesterone having the most obvious effects [71-85] and decreased density with use of estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) [86-90]. The effects of both HT [83] and SERMs [91] cease with discontinuation of use. Additionally, changes in density are observed among oral contraceptive users and by phase of the menstrual cycle [92-94]. Because of the above-mentioned associations between reproductive and hormonal exposures and breast density, it has long been hypothesized that mammographic density may, in part, be a marker of estrogen and other hormonal effects on the breast tissue.

Contrary to what would be expected, the limited cross-sectional information available on the relationship between circulating endogenous estradiol concentrations and breast density suggests a strong relationship between the two factors does not exist. Among postmenopausal women, one study found a positive association between estradiol levels and percent mammographic breast density, two studies found an inverse relationship between estradiol and mammographic breast density, and two observed null relationships [95-99]. It has been suggested that localized estrogen production in the breast tissue may be more relevant to breast density than circulating estrogen levels. As with endogenous estrogens and breast density, the relationship between breast density and bone mineral density, an established breast cancer risk factor and surrogate marker of estrogen exposure, remains unclear [100-102].

#### 1.1.4 Potential intermediate markers

Circulating estradiol and mammographic breast density have been proposed as potential intermediate markers of postmenopausal breast cancer. Unlike most other established breast cancer risk factors they have also been shown to be modifiable. Factors that alter estradiol levels and mammographic breast density may also alter breast cancer risk; hence the identification of such factors may lead to a greater understanding in the etiology of breast cancer and the development of prevention strategies. In addition, assessment of endogenous estradiol levels and mammographic breast density is not very invasive and both can be objectively measured, which strengthens the use of these endpoints in epidemiological studies.

Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Age Range	Partition (%)	Method of Measurement	Adjustments & Matching	Adjusted OR or RR (95%CI)*
Case Control Studies							
Boyd (1982) [103]	Canada	183/183	40-65	<10 vs. ≥75	Observer estimation	Age at first birth, parity, family history	OR=2.8† (1.4, 5.6) OR=3.7 (1.7, 4.1) OR=6.0 (2.5, 14.1)
Brisson (1982) [104]	USA	408/1,021	20-69	$0 \text{ vs.} \ge 60$	Observer estimation	Parity, age at first birth, family history of breast cancer, age at menopause, HT use	OR=3.8 <sup>+</sup> (1.6, 8.7) OR=5.4 <sup>+</sup> (2.5,11.4)
Brisson (1984) [105]	USA	362/686		0 vs. $\ge$ 60	Observer estimation	Weight and height	OR=4.4 (2.5,7.9)
Wolfe (1987) [58]	USA	160/160	30-85	$<20 \text{ vs.} \ge 70$	Manual planimetry	Parity	OR=4.3 (1.8, 10.4)
Brisson (1989) [106]	Canada	290/645	40-67	$0 \text{ vs.} \geq 60$	Observer estimation	Age, parity, education, weight, height	OR=3.2 (1.6, 6.5)§ OR=4.6 (2.4, 8.5)§ OR=5.5 (2.3, 13.2)§

Table 3. Summary of quantitative studies of mammographic density and breast cancer risk

## Table 3 (continued)

Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Age Range	Partition (%)	Method of Measurement	Adjustments & Matching	Adjusted OR or RR (95%CI)
(2000) [107]	USA	647/647		<10 vs. > 50	Computer assisted thresholding	Matched by age, ethnicity, year of mammogram; adjusted for age at menarche, parity, age at first birth, menopausal status, HT use, family history of breast cancer, prior breast problems	OR=1.8 (1.1, 3.0)
Ursin (2003) [63] Nested Studies	USA	622/443	35-64	<1 vs. > 75	Computer assisted thresholding	Age, BMI, HT use, age at menarche, family history of breast cancer, parity, age at first birth, menopausal status	OR=5.2 (1.7, 16.1)
Saftlas (1991) [108]	USA	266/301	35-74	<5 vs. ≥65	Manual planimetry	Age, weight, parity	OR= 4.3 (2.1, 8.8)
Boyd (1995) [23]	Canada	354/354	40-59	$0 \text{ vs.} \ge 75$	Observer estimation & computer assisted	Age, parity, age at first birth, weight, height, age at menarche, family history of breast cancer	OR=4.0 (2.1, 7.7)# OR= 6.0(2.8, 13.0)#

Table 3	(continu	ed)
I HOIC C	(comunu)	cu,

Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Age Range	Partition (%)	Method of Measurement	Adjustments & Matching	Adjusted OR or RR (95%CI)
Kato (1995) [109]	USA	197/521	35-65	$\leq 28.5 \text{ vs.} \geq 44.0$	Manual planimetry	BMI, parity, menopausal status	OR=2.1 (1.1, 3.8)
Byrne (1995) [110]	USA	1,880/2,152		0 vs. ≥ 75	Computerized planimetry	Matched for age and race, adjusted for age first birth, weight, family history of breast cancer, education, alcohol use, number breast biopsies, reproductive years	OR= 4.3 (3.1, 6.1)
van Gils (1999) [111]	Netherlands	108/400	50+	<5 vs. >25	Computerized	BMI, menopausal status	OR= 3.3 (1.5, 7.2)
Kerlikowske (2005) [102]	USA	200/431	28+	<23.9 vs. ≥ 66.8	Computer assisted thresholding	Age, family history of breast cancer, age first birth, BMD, race, BMI	OR= 2.7 (1.4, 5.4)
Maskarinec (2005) [112]	USA	607/667		$<10 vs. \ge 50$	Computer assisted thresholding	Ethnicity, age at mammogram, BMI, age at first birth, parity, age at menarche, age at menopause, HT use, family history of breast cancer	OR= 3.1 (2.0, 4.9)
Author (year)	Country	Cases/ Controls	Age Range	Partition (%)	Method of Measurement	Adjustments & Matching	Adjusted OR or RR (95%CI)
--	---------	--------------------	--------------	-----------------	--------------------------------------	---	---------------------------------
Prospective Studies Thomas (2002) [113]	USA	472/547	50+	<26.7 vs. ≥70.3	Manual Planimetry	Age and study	RR= 4.4 (3.0, 6.7)
Torres-Mejia (2005) [114]	UK	111/3,100	35+	<18.7 vs. ≥45.9	Computer assisted thresholding	Age, age at leaving full time education, social class, job status, parity, height, BMI, and change in BMI	RR=3.5 (1.7, 7.2)

# Table 3 (continued)

\* OR=Odds ratio; RR=Relative risk; CI=Confidence interval

<sup>†</sup> OR estimation for each of 3 observers who estimated percent density. OR for total density unless noted otherwise

‡ OR for percentage of nodular density and percentage of homogenous density, respectively

§OR for percentage of nodular density, percentage of homogenous density, and percentage for total density, respectively #OR for observer estimation and computer estimation, respectively

20

# 1.2 OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS

#### **1.2.1** Biological properties and nomenclature of fatty acids

As a class, fatty acids are simple hydrocarbon structures and can be grouped into well defined families. All fatty acids have a common basic structure, consisting of a chain of carbon atoms with hydrogen atoms attached, a methyl group (CH<sub>3</sub>) at one end of the chain, and a carboxylic acid group at the other end (COOH) (**Figure 2**). Although, there are four common chemical naming systems for fatty acids, only one will be reviewed in this section, the "n-minus" system, which denotes the chain length and the number and positions of any double bonds. The number of carbon atoms in the fatty acid chain is the first number, followed by a colon with the second number denoting the number of double bonds (unsaturation level) in the chain. After the second number, "n -" and a third number may appear, this specifies the position of the first carbon double bond from the methyl end (omega end) of the molecule. Thus, 20:5n-3 denotes a 20-carbon fatty acid with five double bonds, the first of which is located three carbons from the terminal methyl group of the fatty acid (**Table 4**) [115].





Common name	Shorthand	Systematic name
Linoleic acid	18:2 n-6	9,12-octadecadienoic acid
Gamma-linolenic acid	18:3 n-6	6,9,12-octadecatrienoic acid
Eicosadienoic acid	20:2 n-6	11,14-eicosadienoic acid
Dihomo-gamma-linolenic acid	20:3 n-6	8,11,14-eicosatrienoic acid
Arachidonic acid	20:4 n-6	5,8,11,14-eicosatetraenoic acid
Docosapentaenoic acid	22:5 n-6	4,7,10,13,16-docosapentaenoic acid
Alpha-linolenic acid	18:3 n-3	9,12,15-octadecatrienoic
Eicosatetraenoic acid	20:4 n-3	8,11,14,17-eicosatetraenoic
Eicosapentaenoic acid	20:5 n-3	5,8,11,14,17-eicosapentaenoic
Docosapentaenoic acid	22:5 n-3	7,10,13,16,19-docosapentaenoic
Docosahexaenoic acid	22:6 n-3	4,7,10,13,16,19-docosahexaenoic

Table 4. Naming of omega-6 and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids

Fatty acids fall into one of three major categories saturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs). The difference between these families of fatty acids is in the type of chemical bonds they contain. Saturated fatty acids have no double bonds in the carbon chain and carry the maximum number of hydrogen atoms, monounsaturated fatty acids have one double bond, and PUFAs have more than one double bond that is methylene-interrupted.

There are only two essential fatty acids encountered in the diet critical to human health, both of which are PUFAs. The omega-6 (n-6) fatty acid linoleic acid (18:2n-6; LA) and the omega-3 (n-3) fatty acid, alpha-linolenic acid (18:3n-3; ALA), are necessary fats that must be obtained through the diet, because humans cannot synthesize these fatty acids de novo. Moreover, the human body cannot interconvert these fatty acids because it lacks enzymes for forming double bonds (desaturase enzymes) past the delta 9 position (9th carbon atom from carboxyl group). The remaining PUFAs in the n-6 and n-3 families are not necessarily essential because the human body can produce a modest amount on its own, via the desaturase and elongase enzymes (enzymes for lengthening the carbon chain) given that an adequate supply of the parent fatty acids, LA and ALA, are readily available (**Figure 3**). Both the n-6 and n-3 families of PUFAs play vital roles in diverse biological processes, including serving as substrates for a number of biological actions that oversee a wide range of functions, including blood pressure regulation, diuresis, muscle contractions, blood platelet aggregation, inflammatory responses to injury and infection, and the manufacturing and repair of cellular membranes [116].

Omega-6 Fatty Acid Metabolic Pathway	Enzyme	Omega-3 Fatty Acid Metabolic Pathway		
Linoleic Acid (LA)		Alpha-linolenic Acid (ALA)		
↓	Delta-6 desaturase			
Gamma-linolenic Acid (GLA)		Steroidonic Acid		
	Elongase	<b>V</b>		
Dihomo-gamma-linolenic Acid (DGLA)	-	Eicosatraenoic Acid		
- <b>↓</b>	Delta-5 desaturase	$\checkmark$		
Arachidonic Acid (AA)		Eicosapentaenoic Acid (EPA)		
↓	Cyclooxygenase (COX)			
Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)		Prostaglandin E3 (PGE3)		

Figure 3. Metabolic pathways of the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids

#### 1.2.2 Sources of the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids

The intake of various fatty acids differs widely among countries. In the typical "Western" diet, approximately 5-20 times more n-6 fatty acids are consumed compared to n-3 fatty acids [117], whereas coastal countries, such as Japan, consume considerably lower quantities of n-6 fatty acids, and much higher intakes of the n-3 PUFAs [118].

This substantial excess of n-6 fatty acids found in the United States population diet, is largely due to the high intake of LA. Approximately 85-95% (approximately 12 to 17g/day for men and 9 to 11g/ day for women) of total n-6 PUFA consumption, is in the form of LA [119]. The majority of LA intake is hidden in prepackaged foods such as cereals, snack foods, and baked goods.

LA is the principal member of the n-6 PUFA family, and from this fatty acid, the human body can manufacture all other members of the n-6 PUFA family. LA is predominantly found in commonplace seed and vegetable oils such as safflower oil, sunflower oil, sesame oil, cottonseed and corn oil; certain nuts (e.g. peanuts, pistachios, almonds); seeds (e.g. pumpkin, sesame); meat from corn-fed animals (e.g. chicken), and Blackcurrant seed oil, borage oil, and evening primrose oil are dairy products. particularly rich sources of the n-6 PUFA, gamma-linolenic acid (18:3n-6; GLA). The long chain n-6 fatty acid, dihomo-gamma-linolenic acid (20:3n-6; DGLA) is found in high doses in liver and certain fish. However, GLA is not typically consumed in large quantities in the United States, and DGLA is near non-existent in the diet. LA, GLA, and DGLA can be converted in the human body, through a serious of enzymatic reactions, to form the n-6 PUFA arachidonic acid (20:4n-6; AA). AA can also be obtained through dietary intake and is derived from the consumption of animal products including poultry, meat, dairy, eggs and some tropical fish, but not from plant-derived fats and oils. AA is not found in plant products because unlike animal cells, plant cells lack enzymes that are capable of the conversion of LA to AA.

The essential fatty acid, ALA, is the predominant plant-derived dietary n-3 PUFA in the United States diet, and given this fatty acid, the human body can make all other

members of the n-3 PUFA family. In contrast to LA, ALA is not consumed in great quantity in the United States (approximately 1.3 to 1.8g/day for men and 1.0 to 1.2g/day for women) [119]. A selection of fats (e.g. margarine, shortening); vegetable and seed oils such as soybean, canola, and flaxseed oils; legumes, primarily soybeans and navy beans; and leafy green vegetables (e.g. kale, broccoli, salad greens) are rich sources of ALA. ALA is the metabolic precursor for eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n-3; EPA) and thence to docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n-3; DHA); however, the elongation rate of ALA to these longer chained (20 or more carbon atoms) highly unsaturated n-3 PUFAs is believed to be inefficient (0.2-15% conversion); thus, ALA is not believed to be a viable source of either EPA or DHA [120, 121]. The major food sources for the human supply of EPA and DHA, are marine plants (kelp and seaweed), shellfish, and cold water fatty fish (salmon, mackerel, anchovies and sardines) [122, 123]. Another important source of EPA and DHA in the Western diet is egg-yolks; however, concentrations of these fatty acids are dependent upon the feed given to the animals [124]. Adult intake of EPA (approximately 0.004 to 0.007 g/day for men and 0.052 to 0.093 g/day for women) and DHA (approximately 0.066-0.093 g/day for men and 0.052-0.069 g/day for women) is minimal in the United States [119].

N-3 fatty acid levels vary substantially among different types of fish and have a propensity to be found in much higher concentrations in fatty fish as compared to lean fish [125]. Moreover, the n-3 fatty acid composition within a single species of fish is likely to differ, as it is effected to a great extent by the eating habits, geographic location and maturity of the fish as well as the canning oils and preparation and cooking methods used [126]. The differences in fatty acid profiles within species is particularly

pronounced when comparing cultivated and wild fish [127]. For example, wild catfish contain twice the amount of EPA as catfish bred in captivity (**Table 5**). Additionally some fish types, such as farmed Atlantic salmon, contain substantially more n-6 AA than either the long chain n-3 PUFAs, EPA and DHA.

Food*	n-3	<b>n-6</b>	Food*	n-3	<b>n-6</b>
Finfish †			Oils‡		
Catfish			Canola	1.302	2.842
Farmed, raw	0.067	0.085	Corn	0.714	5.530
Wild, raw	0.130	0.149	Flaxseed	7.249	1.727
Cod			Rapeseed	0.014	9.466
Atlantic, raw	0.064	0.022	Olive	0.103	1.318
Pacific, raw	0.080	0.017	Peanut	0.000	4.320
Flounder			Safflower	0.000	10.149
Raw	0.093	0.038	Sunflower	0.000	8.935
Halibut			Walnut	1.414	7.194
Atlantic and Pacific, raw	0.071	0.139	Vegetable/Fruits*		
Greenland, raw	0.526	0.061	Apple	0.009	0.043
Herring			Avocado	0.125	1.674
Atlantic, raw	0.709	0.060	Banana	0.027	0.046
Pacific, raw	0.969	0.096	Broccoli	0.021	0.017
Mackerel			Cauliflower	0.104	0.029
Atlantic, raw	0.898	0.183	Lettuce, Romaine	0.113	0.047
King, raw	0.136	0.136	Kale	0.180	0.138
Salmon			Peas	0.035	0.152
Atlantic, farmed, raw	0.618	1.152	Raspberries	0.126	0.249
Atlantic, wild, raw	0.287	0.267	Spinach	0.138	0.026
Pink, raw	0.096	0.078			
Trout			Animal Products <sup>+</sup>		
Rainbow, farmed, raw	0.260	0.025	Beef	0.015	0.227
Rainbow, wild, raw	0.167	0.109	Cheese, Swiss	0.352	0.620
Tuna			Chicken	0.090	1.980
Bluefin, raw	0.283	0.043	Milk, 2%	0.028	0.043
Yellowfin, raw	0.037	0.028	Turkey	0.190	3.180

 Table 5. Fatty acid composition of various foods

\* Data from the USDA Nutrient Database for Standard Reference †Per 100g

‡Per 1Tbsp

#### **1.2.3** Erythrocytes as markers of the omega fatty acids

Dietary semiquantitative food frequency questionnaires, dietary records, and dietary recalls are standard tools used in nutritional epidemiological investigations. Subject to widespread misreporting of fat intake, these instruments may play a role in the conflicting results of dietary fat and breast cancer. In fact, a recent publication from a prospective study found a statistically significant association between dietary fat intake and breast cancer risk when analyzing participants' food records, but did not find a smiliar association when analyzing the same populations' food frequency questionnaires [128].

Food preparation is often not entirely conducted by the participant under study making it difficult, if not impossible, to determine the quantity of each fatty acid in all foods consumed, through the use of a questionnaire [129]. Additionally, dietary instruments for the long chain n-3 PUFAs, such as EPA, typically do not make a distinction between types of fish consumed, but rather measure total fish consumption; thus, they do not capture the large differences in n-3 fatty acid composition within and between species of fish. Use of biochemical indicators of fat reduces error resulting from human perceptions, opinions, and memories [130, 131]. Therefore, studying biological specimens rather than self-reported estimates could possibly reduce the chance of over or underestimation of dietary fat intake, which has been shown to be particularly vulnerable to bias [132].

Fatty acid levels in erythrocytes, represent dietary intake of fatty acids that cannot be produced endogenously (LA and ALA). Furthermore, because erythrocytes have a long half-life (~120days) and lack the ability for de novo fatty acid elongation and desaturation, they are a good reflection of medium term intake of the "nonessential" n-6 and n-3 PUFAS which are derived from elongation of both LA and ALA as well as from the diet [133, 134]. Hence measures of all erythrocyte n-3 and n-6 fatty acids reflect dietary intake, and perhaps more importantly, internal dose [135-137].

Intervention with flaxseed, one of the richest dietary sources of n-3 ALA, results in raised ALA levels in erythrocyte membranes [138, 139]. Comparison among two populations, one with high cold water fatty fish intake and the other without, demonstrated higher n-3 PUFA levels in the erythrocyte phospholipid membranes of the population with greater marine fat intake [133]. Supplementation with fish oil, high in EPA and DHA, results in a rise of these fatty acids in erythrocytes [140-145], and for EPA incremental increases were proportional to the amount supplied [144]. Randomization to consumption of either fresh fish, fish oil, DHA oil, as compared to the control group, resulted in an elevation in total n-3 PUFA, EPA and DHA in erythrocytes [146]. In an experimental study, a strong correlation (r = 0.91 at 6 weeks) was found between EPA measured in erythrocytes and the amount of EPA ingested over a 6-week period [147]. Not only does supplementation of EPA result in elevated erythrocyte levels of this fatty acid, but erythrocyte EPA levels return to baseline values after 18 weeks of discontinuation [148]. EPA and DHA in erythrocytes are also correlated with fatty fish consumption, estimated via a food frequency questionnaire [149].

Less interest has been taken in the association between self-reported dietary intake of the n-6 PUFAs and fatty acids measured in erythrocytes. The correlation of LA in erythrocytes of postmenopausal women with their reported LA intake in food frequency questionnaires is good (r=0.44 and r=0.40) [148, 150]. Supplementation with corn oil, which is high in LA, results in a rise in this fatty acid in erythrocytes, and to a

much lesser extent, LA's elongated product, AA [151]. In pregnant women erythrocyte AA levels were related to reported dietary intake ( $\beta$ =0.49; p=0.04) [152]. Furthermore, AA which is found only in animal products, is minimal in the erythrocytes of individuals who eat no products of animal origin [153, 154]. Dietary supplementation with AA, results in an erythrocyte fatty acid profile significantly enriched in AA [151, 155].

Erythrocyte fatty acid levels, unlike plasma and serum fatty acid compositions, do not change rapidly after dietary treatment, and obtaining blood samples from participants is not as an invasive measurement as obtaining fatty acids from adipose tissue [156-159]. Given that fatty acids in erythrocytes are easily obtainable and are able to express habitual dietary patterns of individuals over several weeks, they are a useful molecular tool in epidemiologic studies when assessing n-6 and n-3 PUFA intake [130, 160-164].

#### 1.3 OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND BREAST CANCER

#### **1.3.1** AA, EPA, and prostaglandins

The release of n-6 AA and n-3 EPA from phospholipids in the cell membrane is the first step in their conversion into prostaglandins (PG), short-lived hormone-like lipids, and occurs in all cells except for erythrocytes [165]. The conversion occurs by the addition of molecular oxygen via cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) or cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) [166], which are the rate limiting enzymes in PG biosynthesis. In general, COX-1 is constitutive, overseeing regular bodily functions such as blood flow in the kidneys; COX-2 is inducible and activated only under certain conditions. Conversion of AA by COX

results in PGE2, primarily known for its role as a pro-inflammatory mediator; whereas conversion of EPA, the n-3 homologue of AA, results in PGE3 which is deemed anti-inflammatory [167].

AA and EPA are competitive inhibitors of each other. EPA competes with AA at the level of incorporation into cell membrane phospholipids, for desaturase and elongase enzymes, as well as for substrates for COX enzymes once they are incorporated into the membrane [168-171], thus resulting in PGs of different series [171, 172]. An experimental study on rat mammary tumors demonstrated that a diet supplemented with long chain n-3 (EPA+DHA) fatty acids compared to a diet high in n-6 fatty acids suppressed COX-2 protein levels by 36% [170]. Moreover, n-3 supplementation has been shown to significantly lower PGE2 production in cancer cells [173, 174]. In fact, supplementation with fish oil, high in EPA and DHA, not only decreases PGE2, but increases PGE3 levels [175] which have not been linked to processes in carcinogenesis and may be protective [176]. Suppression of PGE2 synthesis in animal models has also been shown to be dependent on a decreased shift of the n-6:n-3 ratio [177, 178], thus, the relative proportion of the n-6 PUFAs to n-3 PUFAs may also be of relevance to breast carcinogenesis. Blood PGE2 levels were 41% lower among individuals taking EPA supplements, in comparison to individuals not supplemented with EPA [179]. Humans prescribed a diet with a low AA:EPA ratio had lower urinary levels of PGE2 in comparison to individuals prescribed a diet with a high AA:EPA ratio [151].

# **1.3.2** Inhibition of prostaglandin E2

COX-2 and PGE2 are overexpressed in a spectrum of human malignant lesions [180-184], including breast cancer [185-188], and are highly correlated with one another [187] as well as with poorer prognosis [188]. Several mechanisms have been proposed by which COX-2 and its by-product, PGE2, might contribute to tumor progression, and include promotion of cell proliferation, inhibition of apoptosis, and increased angiogenesis [189, 190]. The anti-carcinogenic activities of the n-3 PUFAs have been attributed to their ability to inhibit PGE2 synthesis.

Intervention with pharmacological agents that block PGE2 biosynthesis, such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents (NSAIDs) and COX-2 selective inhibitors, are protective against breast cancer in animal models [191] and possibly in human populations [192-196]. These agents appear to exert their chemopreventive effects by inhibiting COX-2 activity and ultimately PGE2 production [197]. Harris et al. found a reduced risk of breast cancer associated with the use of NSAIDs at least three times a week for one year (RR=0.66; 95%CI 0.52-0.83), and the effect was dose-dependent [198]. Long-term aspirin use is also found to be chemopreventive, specifically towards hormone receptor positive tumors (OR = 0.74; 95%CI, 0.60-0.93) when compared to hormone receptor negative tumors (OR = 0.97; 95%CI, 0.67-1.40), and in postmenopausal women (OR = 0.77, 95% CI, 0.62-0.97) in comparison to premenopausal women (OR = 0.83; 95% CI, 0.56-1.22). Notably when stratified by menopausal status and receptor status a protective effect occurred in postmenopausal, hormone receptor positive breast cancer (OR 0.70; 95%CI, 0.54-0.91), but not among hormone receptor negative postmenopausal breast cancer (OR= 0.91; 95% CI, 0.58-1.42). Therefore, the chemopreventive effect of PGE2 inhibition may be the result of an effect on estrogen production; particularly since PGE2 has recently been found to increase aromatase activity, which is the primary source of estrogen production in postmenopausal women [199, 200]. Indeed, decreases in aromatase activity were observed in breast cancer cells following treatment with NSAIDs, a COX-1 selective inhibitor, and COX-2 selective inhibitors [201]. Further, experimental evidence has shown that estradiol production is decreased in breast cells that are exposed to a selective COX-2 inhibitor [202]. Considering the profound impact on COX-2 production of PGE2 via the AA cascade, it would be reasonable to assume that dietary reduction of n-6 fatty acids and/or increased intake of n-3 PUFAs could modify one's risk of developing estrogen-dependent breast cancer.

# 1.3.3 CYP19, estrogen and breast cancer

At menopause, when estrogen synthesis of the ovary ceases, estrogen continues to be produced among various tissues of the body from androgens [203]. The aromatase gene, CYP19, catalyzes the conversion of testosterone and androstenedione, to estradiol and estrone respectively by catalyzing three consecutive hydroxylation reactions. The majority of aromatization takes place in peripheral tissues and particularly in adipose tissue and, as previously stated, is the primary source of estrogen exposure in postmenopausal women [204]. Localized estrogen production via aromatase activity has been positively associated with malignant lesions in the breast [205-207] and appears to promote cancerous growth in both an autocrine and a paracrine fashion [208]. In vitro studies demonstrated that 72% of human breast cancer specimens had aromatase activity

greater than that of other tissue [209], therefore, hormonal therapies have been developed targeting this activity. Aromatase inhibitors prevent the development of breast tumors in Sprague-Dawley rats, in a dose-dependent manner [210] and are used in the treatment of postmenopausal estrogen receptor positive breast cancer [211-213]. A 5 year comparison of aromatase inhibitor, Letrozole, found reduced recurrence of breast cancer compared with the placebo group (RR=0.57, CI 0.43-0.75) [214], and Anastrozole reduces serum estradiol levels in postmenopausal Caucasians by 87% [215]. Thus, inhibition of aromatase activity in postmenopausal women has a desirable impact on breast cancer risk.

#### 1.3.4 The relationship between COX-2, PGE2, and CYP19

PGE2 within human breast cells significantly increases aromatase activity in adipose stromal cells (p<0.05) [216]. Additionally, aromatase is strongly correlated with COX-2 expression in breast tumors (r=0.80, p=0.001) [217], but neither are strongly expressed in normal breast tissue [185-188, 218, 219]. COX-2, via production of PGE2, rapidly activates aromatase expression by the enhancement of CYP19 transcription [199, 200]. Since CYP19 is responsible for both peripheral and intratumoral estrogen synthesis this upregulation will ultimately lead to increased estrogen production, and potentially breast carcinogenesis [220]. Therefore, the significant linear correlation between COX-2 and aromatase in breast cancer tissues suggests that they may be involved in the advancement of hormonally-dependent breast cancers [221]. NSAIDS and COX-2 inhibitors inhibit aromatase activity in human breast cancer cells in a dose-dependent fashion, likely by diminishing PGE2 production and consequently CYP19 upregulation [222]. Therefore,

blocking n-6 AA conversion to PGE2 by increasing n-3 intake, a competitive inhibitor of n-6 fatty acids, would theoretically inhibit aromatase induction and result in lowered estrogen production (**Figure 4**). Whether the effects would be systemic or localized to breast tissue is unknown; however, it is critical that this relationship be investigated in human populations.



Figure 4. Potential n-6 and n-3 PUFA pathway leading to breast cancer

# 1.3.5 Animal and experimental evidence

Extensive laboratory and animal model data suggest that high intake of n-6 PUFAs promotes breast tumor development [178, 223-229], while increasing n-3 PUFAs inhibits mammary tumor growth and metastasis [178, 223, 225-228, 230-236]. N-6 AA, has been

shown to stimulate human breast cancer cell growth [237], and numerous studies have shown EPA to inhibit breast cancer cell growth [226, 227, 230, 232-236, 238] including the growth of estrogen-dependent breast cancer cell lines [231].

Levels of estradiol were approximately 30% higher in rats consuming the largest quantities of n-6 PUFAs in their diet (46% fat) than in the females consuming the lowest n-6 fat (12% fat) (p < 0.01) [239], and by week 18 the rats fed the high n-6 PUFA diet developed significantly more mammary tumors than the rats fed a low n-6 PUFA diet (40% vs. 10%; p<0.05) [229]. A meta-analysis on mammary tumor incidence in over 12,800 mice and rats, extracted from 97 reports, indicated that n-6 PUFAs had a strong tumor enhancing effect and n-3 PUFAs a protective effect [228]. The results further indicated that the tumor promoting activity of n-6 PUFAs may be abrogated by the competitive inhibition of the n-3 PUFAs. This inhibitory effect has been observed in numerous experimental studies [178, 233, 236, 240]; moreover, the association appears to be dose dependent [178]. Rodents fed a diet with the lowest 6:3 PUFA ratio in comparison to rodents with the uppermost 6:3 ratio had the greatest reduction in tumor growth rate (p< 0.01) [178].

# **1.3.6** Ecological and epidemiological evidence

In contrast to the abundance of experimental evidence relating n-6 and n-3 PUFAs to mammary carcinogenesis, epidemiological evidence is sparse. The majority of information supporting this hypothesis evolves from international findings of low breast cancer rates in populations with high n-3 fat intake, and elevated rates in populations with high consumption of products containing n-6 PUFAs [241-245]. Significant inverse

associations between n-3 intake and breast cancer risk have previously been reported [246-248]; yet, a recent systematic review of the literature concluded that no association existed between n-3 consumption, primarily from fish, and breast cancer risk [249]. However, this study did not take into account the varying levels of n-3 fatty acids found within and between species of fish. Although explored less intensively than the n-3 fatty acids, the relationship between n-6 PUFAs and breast cancer has also been subject to investigation, and found to be positively associated with risk of breast cancer [250, 251]. Few population based studies have attempted to look at the 6:3 PUFA ratio and breast cancer risk. Nonetheless, epidemiological data using subjective measures of dietary intake suggest a protective effect of a decreased 6:3 PUFA ratio on breast cancer risk [248, 251-253].

N-6 fatty acids and LA in adipose tissue have been positively associated with breast cancer [254, 255], and adipose n-3 fatty acid levels negatively associated with risk of breast cancer [254, 255]. However, null relationships have also been observed between adipose tissue levels of the n-6 PUFAs and n-3 PUFAs and breast cancer risk [254, 256, 257]. In contrast to the relationship observed between adipose n-6 fatty acids and breast cancer, levels of LA and total n-6 in serum have been inversely related to breast cancer risk [258-261]. Further, null relationships have also been observed for n-3 PUFAs in serum and risk of breast cancer [258-260]. The erythrocyte composition of AA has been positively linked to breast cancer risk [262]. In contrast, total erythrocyte n-6 fatty acids have been negatively related to breast cancer [262-265]. The n-3 fatty acid composition of erythrocytes has consistently been inversely linked to breast cancer cancer [263, 264]. In fact, a review of biomarkers of fatty acids and breast cancer risk assessed the

relationship between fatty acids in biospecimens (adipose, serum and erythrocytes) and risk of breast cancer in studies published from 1966-2002. The authors concluded that a significant protective effect was found for total n-3 PUFAs [266].

The ratio of n-6 to n-3 fatty acids in biospecimens and breast cancer risk has been explored to some extent. The fatty acid composition in adipose tissue was compared between 241 women with breast cancer and 88 women with benign breast disease. Women in the highest tertile of total n-6 to total long chain n-3 PUFAs had an increased risk of breast cancer compared to women in the lowest tertile (OR=3.03; p trend=0.0002) [255]. Bagga et al., observed a positive association between the ratio of n-6 PUFAs (AA+LA) to long chain n-3 PUFAs (EPA+DHA) (OR=1.68; p trend =0.09) in adipose tissue and breast cancer [256]. In the EURAMIC study there was little consistency across the five study sites between n-6 or n-3 fatty acid content in breast adipose tissue and breast cancer risk; however, among four of the sites a nonsignificant positive association was observed between the 6:3 ratio and breast cancer risk (pooled OR =1.4; p=0.19) [254]. This effect was more marked when focusing on the long chain n-3 PUFAs from fish oil. A low total n-6 to long chain n-3 (EPA+DHA) ratio was protective for breast cancer in women in the highest tertile compared to the lowest tertile (OR= 0.33; 95% CI, 0.17-0.66; trend p = 0.0002) [255]. Four studies have investigated the 6:3 PUFA ratio in blood specimens, either serum or erythrocytes, and breast cancer risk. Two studies presented no evidence of a relationship between the 6:3 ratio and breast cancer [258, 265], whereas the other two studies found significant positive relationships between the 6:3 ratio [263, 264]. The ratio of AA to EPA in erythrocytes has also been positively related to breast cancer risk [263].

#### **1.3.7** Dietary fat and serum estradiol

Varying levels of fat consumption may influence incidence of hormonally dependent breast cancer by modifying levels of circulating estrogens [267-277]. In fact, free fatty acids added to plasma can significantly increase levels of estradiol in vitro [272, 273]. Among women with a prior history of breast cancer, a significant decrease in estradiol concentration from baseline was observed in those randomized to a one year, low-fat, high-fiber diet (-13pmol/L in intervention group vs. +3pmol/L in control group; p<0.05) [274].) A meta-analysis of 13 intervention trials found serum estradiol levels to be 23% (95%CI: -27.7%, -18.1%) lower in healthy postmenopausal women consuming the least amount of dietary fat when compared to women with the highest fat intake [270]. Among these studies, the greatest estradiol reductions occurred in the two trials with the largest reduction in dietary fat, 10-12% of calories [268, 275]. Nonetheless, when these two studies were excluded from the meta-analysis, the results remained significant. The Diet and Androgens (DIANA) Randomized Trial found a non-significant reduction in serum estradiol (-18.0% in intervention group vs. -5.5% in control group; p=0.13) among postmenopausal women consuming a low animal fat and high n-3 diet [276]. Additionally, an inverse association between n-3 fatty acids from fish consumption and serum estradiol levels has been observed [277]. However, not all studies evaluating dietary fat and estrogen levels have observed reductions in circulating estradiol levels; it has been hypothesized that inadequate dietary assessment may be one cause of contradiction. No epidemiological study has examined the association between erythrocyte fatty acids in relation to circulating estradiol levels.

#### **1.3.8** Dietary fat and mammographic breast density

The few studies that have assessed the role of dietary fat on mammographic density have revealed that diet may influence breast density. A two year intervention with a low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet, reduced breast density by 6.1% in the experimental group as compared to 2.1% in the control group (p=0.02) [278]. Positive associations between total fat intake and high mammographic density have been observed [106, 279-281]. However, decreased density and null findings have also been associated with total fat intake [282-285]. As with total fat, positive and null relationships have been found between total PUFA intake and breast density [106, 279-283, 285]. Women with the highest mammographic pattern reported significantly higher consumption of n-6 PUFAs when compared to women with the lowest mammographic pattern (4.7 % energy vs. 3.8% energy; p<0.001) [281]. Two studies assessed the effects of total meat intake, which is correlated with n-6 AA intake, and breast density. A nonsignificant, positive association (OR=1.59; 95%CI: 0.83, 3.04.) was observed in one study; however, no relationship was found between total meat intake and density in the other [283, 284]. Fish consumption has not been linked to mammographic density in postmenopausal women; however, these studies measured total fish consumption rather than fatty fish intake which better mirrors intake of n-3 PUFAs [282-284]. There was no difference in means of percent breast density when comparing quartiles of n-3 intake or long chain n-3 intake [279, 283], nor was an association observed between n-3 intake and Wolfe's parenchymal patterns in women with breast cancer [281]. Only one study has investigated the effects of the individual fatty acids of the n-6 and n-3 families with breast density. No association was found between mammographic density and n-6 LA,

but a significant inverse association was observed between n-3 ALA and percent breast density (OR=0.69: 95%CI: 0.47, 0.99) [282]. As is the case with circulating estradiol concentrations, no study has examined the association between erythrocyte fatty acids in relation to mammographic breast density.

# **1.4 SUMMARY OF INTRODUCTION**

N-6 and n-3 PUFAs are competitive inhibitors of one another, resulting in different prostaglandin products. PGE2, the result of COX mediated n-6 AA metabolism, stimulates the biosynthesis of estrogen, a causal breast cancer risk factor, by upregulation of the enzyme aromatase. The suppression of aromatase activity via aromatase inhibitors results in lower circulating serum estradiol levels and reduced breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. Since both low n-6 PUFA consumption and elevated n-3 PUFA consumption reduces the production of PGE2, intake of these fatty acids may influence estradiol synthesis and estrogen dependent breast cancer incidence.

# 2.0 SPECIFIC AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

The relationship between the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in breast cancer development is well established in animal models. However, the mechanisms by which these factors affect the development of breast cancer are currently unknown. Few epidemiological studies have examined the relationship between the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and well-established, modifiable breast cancer risk factors, specifically serum estradiol and mammographic breast density. Further, the studies that did assess these relationships did so by measuring dietary intake via self-report dietary assessment instruments, and limitations of these assessment tools and nutrient composition tables are well-known. Measuring n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in biological specimens provides a useful alternative to self-reported dietary intake, and allows for the objective measurement of individual fatty acid levels. The relationship between circulating levels of estradiol, mammographic breast density, and breast cancer risk is greatly documented; hence, identifying agents capable of altering these risk factors could have a substantial impact on public health.

Therefore, the research goal of this body of work was to investigate the relationship between n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and postmenopausal serum estradiol levels and mammographic breast density, both modifiable, well-established breast cancer risk factors. An additional research goal was to investigate the relationship between current NSAID use and serum estradiol. Similarly to elevated n-3 fatty acid

intake, NSAID use reduces the production of PGE2, thus decreasing upreguation of aromatase and estrogen synthesis. Therefore, if it is through alteration of the PGE2 pathyway that n-6 and n-3 fatty acids influence estradiol synthesis, then we would also expect to observe differences in estradiol levels by NSAID use. NSAID data was not available at the time of mammogram; therefore, the relationship between NSAID use and breast density could not accurately be assessed. The specific research questions addressed and corresponding hypotheses are outlined below.

**1.** Are n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes associated with serum estradiol levels in cancer-free, postmenopausal women not using exogenous hormones? The hypothesis is that erythrocyte n-6 fatty acids are positively related to postmenopausal serum estradiol levels and erythrocyte n-3 fatty acids negatively related to postmenopausal serum estradiol levels.

2. Is current NSAID use associated with serum estradiol levels in cancer-free, postmenopausal women not using exogenous hormones? The hypothesis is that current NSAID users have lower circulating serum estradiol levels than NSAID non-users.

3. Are n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes associated with mammographic breast density in cancer-free, postmenopausal women not using exogenous hormones? The hypothesis is that erythrocyte n-6 fatty acids are positively related to mammographic breast density and erythrocyte n-3 fatty acids negatively related to mammographic breast density.

In order to answer these questions, three cross-sectional analyses were undertaken ancillary to the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS). The findings from these three investigations are presented in separate manuscripts. These studies are important as the identification of modifiable lifestyle factors that favorably alter breast cancer risk factors may enable us to reduce the onset of breast cancer, via the development of safe, effective and easily adoptable primary prevention strategies.

# 3.0 ARTICLE ONE: ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND POSTMENOPAUSAL SERUM ESTRADIOL

To be submitted for publication

Alana G. Hudson<sup>1</sup>, Francesmary Modugno<sup>1</sup>, John W. Wilson<sup>2</sup>, Rhobert W. Evans<sup>1</sup>, Victor G. Vogel<sup>3, 4</sup>, Gretchen L. Gierach<sup>5</sup>, Jennifer Simpson<sup>1</sup>, and Joel L.Weissfeld<sup>1, 4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biostatistics, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>4</sup>University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>5</sup> Cancer Prevention Fellowship Program, Office of Preventive Oncology, Division of Cancer Prevention, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland

# 3.1 ABSTRACT

Elevated intake of omega-6 (n-6) polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) may promote breast cancer, whereas omega-3 (n-3) consumption may inhibit the growth of this disease. The mechanism by which these fatty acids impact breast cancer development is unknown; however, experimental evidence indicates that these two families of fatty acids may influence risk by impacting eicosanoid synthesis. Specifically, when n-3 PUFAs displace n-6 PUFAs, prostaglandin E2 production (PGE2) is reduced, resulting in decreased aromatase activity and ultimately suppression of estrogen synthesis. Thus, in this cross-sectional analysis, we sought to determine whether n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes, expressed as a percentage of total fatty acids, were associated with postmenopausal serum total estradiol concentrations. Because NSAIDs also inhibit PGE2 formation, separate analyses were performed for participants using and not using NSAIDs. Among women not using NSAIDs (n=135), multivariate adjusted estimates revealed that mean estradiol concentrations decreased with increasing tertile of total erythrocyte n-3 fatty acids (24.3 pmol/L vs 18.4 pmol/L; p<0.05) and increased with increasing tertile of total n-6 fatty acids (16.0 pmol/L vs. 21.8 pmol/L; p=0.02), the total n-6:n-3 ratio (17.6 pmol/L vs. 22.9 pmol/L; p=0.06) and the ratio of n-6 arachidonic acid to n-3 eicosapentaenoic acid+docosahexaenoic acid (17.6 pmol/L vs. 24.9 pmol/L; p<0.01). Among NSAID users (n=118), mean estradiol was greatest among women in the highest tertile of the n-6 linoleic acid to n-3 alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) ratio as compared to the lowest tertile (21.1 pmol/L vs. 14.2 pmol/L; p=0.01). This finding was primarily due to the inverse association noted between ALA and estradiol. NSAID users in the highest tertile of ALA had a lower mean estradiol concentration than participants in the lowest tertile of ALA (15.2 pmol/L vs. 20.8 pmol/L; p=0.05). No other significant differences were noted among current NSAID users. Because circulating postmenopausal estradiol concentrations are causally related to breast carcinogenesis, these findings provide a mechanism through which the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids may alter breast cancer risk.

# **3.2 INTRODUCTION**

Breast cancer is a common form of cancer among women worldwide and despite substantial advances in the treatment of this disease breast cancer remains a leading cause of death among women. Several lines of evidence implicate that dietary intake may influence breast cancer, and for many years it has been postulated that excessive dietary fat consumption may play a role in the etiology of this disease [286]. However, no clear consensus on this topic has been established. One theory that addresses this debate is that a relationship may not exist between breast cancer risk and total fat intake, but an association may exist between breast cancer and the type of fat consumed. Considerable interest has focused on the association between the omega-6 (n-6) and omega-3 (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and breast cancer risk, largely stemming from analysis of international data [242, 287].

The majority of PUFAs in the United States diet, where breast cancer rates are among the highest in the world, consist of n-6 PUFAs found in abundance in corn and vegetable oils [117, 288]. Populations such as the Greenland Eskimos [289], the Alaskan Natives [290] and the Japanese [118] have high fish consumption, hence high n-3 intake. These populations also have substantially lower rates of breast cancer despite their overall high fat consumption [289, 291, 292]. Therefore, the higher rates of breast cancer observed in the United States may be explained, in part, by the elevated intake of n-6 and/or insufficient intake of n-3 PUFAs. This hypothesis is supported by some experimental [178, 225, 227, 228, 232-235, 238, 293] and epidemiological data [251, 253, 264, 266].

Perhaps the most acknowledged mechanistic pathway through which the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids may influence breast cancer risk is via eicosanoid biosynthesis. Arachidonic acid (AA; 20:4n-6), which can be ingested or formed endogenously by desaturation and elongation of linoleic acid (LA; 18:2n-6), serves as the substrate for cyclooxygenase (COX) mediated prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) production. PGE2 is an inflammatory eicosanoid that is upregulated in breast tumors [294] and is a potent inducer of aromatase activity [200], the key enzyme in postmenopausal estrogen synthesis. In contrast, prostaglandin E3 (PGE3), an anti-inflammatory eicosanoid, is derived from the metabolism of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; 20:5n3). EPA can be consumed, formed from the essential n-3 fatty acid alpha-linolenic acid (ALA; 18:3n-3), or formed from retroconversion of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; 22:6n-3). Unlike PGE2, PGE3 has not been documented to upregulate aromatase and is significiantly less mitogenic [176].

The n-6 and n-3 PUFAs compete with each other for enzymes at multiple levels; therefore, increasing n-3 consumption ultimately suppresses the production of PGE2 [176, 179]. This suggests that reducing n-6 or increasing n-3 intake, which results in lowered PGE2 formation [176, 179, 295], may result in lower circulating estradiol levels. Indeed, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), which also inhibit formation of PGE2, are associated with reduced estradiol production in breast cells [202] and lower serum estradiol concentrations in postmenopausal women (Research article 2). Little is known about the relationship between n-6 and n-3 PUFAs and circulating postmenopausal estrogen levels, likely a result of the methodological issues with the estimation of individual fatty acids from self-reported dietary instruments. Utilizing fatty acids in erythrocytes allows for individual fatty acid assessment, provides an objective measurement, and reflects recent dietary intake of the essential n-6 and n-3 fatty acids. Therefore, we evaluated the association between dietary habits of the n-6 and n-3 PUFAs, as inferred from erythrocyte fatty acid composition, and serum total estradiol concentration in postmenopausal women.

# 3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **3.3.1** Study Population

Details of the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS) have been described previously [296]. The MAMS is a case-control study of estrogen metabolites, mammographic breast density and breast cancer risk. A total of 869 cancer-free women and 264 recently diagnosed breast cancer cases were recruited into the MAMS through the Magee Womens Hospital Mammographic Screening and Diagnostic Imaging Program in the greater Pittsburgh area (Pennsylvania, USA) in 2001-2005. The participants were all women aged 18 years or older and who reported no previous personal history of cancer, with the exception of nonmelanoma skin cancer. Participants in the MAMS include: 1) newly diagnosed breast cancer cases who were recruited from the Magee-Womens Surgical Clinic (n=264); 2) women who were undergoing outpatient needle breast biopsy

through the Breast Biopsy Service at Magee-Womens Hospital, but were not subsequently diagnosed with breast cancer (n=313); 3) cancer-free women who received screening mammography through Magee-Womens Hospital or through Magee Womancare Centers (n=538) and; 4) an additional 18 participants whose blood was dedicated solely to an ancillary study of intra-individual cytokine and hormone concentration reproducibility. To increase recruitment of the "healthy" control group, study flyers were attached to screened negative mammogram reports mailed to patients from 2003-2005. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Pittsburgh and all participants provided written informed consent.

#### 3.3.2 Subsample Selection

Inclusion criteria for entry into this ancillary study were as follows: 1) controls recruited only via study flyers through Magee-Womens Hospital or through Pittsburgh Magee Womancare Centers (n=453), as information on these participants was gathered on the day blood was drawn; 2) postmenopausal (having had no menstrual bleeding during prior year or having undergone a bilateral oophorectomy); 3) not using hormone therapy (HT) within three months of enrollment; and 4) not using vaginal estrogen creams, oral contraceptives, selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) or corticosteroids at study enrollment. A total of 270 women met the inclusion criteria for the present analyses. Of those who were excluded, 98 were premenopausal, 84 were using exogenous hormones, SERMs, or corticosteroids, and 1 participant was later diagnosed with breast cancer.

# **3.3.3** Covariate Information

We used a standardized, self-administered questionnaire to gather participants' exposure information at study enrollment. Information on demographic characteristics, current use of medication and supplements, reproductive history, family medical history, past exogenous hormone use, smoking status, and alcohol intake was obtained. Participants were asked to report all prescribed and over-the-counter medications that were currently being used on the questionnaire. Women who listed using aspirin, COX-2 inhibitors, or other non-aspirin NSAIDs were considered "current NSAID users." Participants who did not list using a NSAID were considered "current NSAID non-users." Because acetaminophen is generally reported to be a weak inhibitor of the COX-1/COX-2 enzymes [297], we classified acetaminophen users as non-users of NSAIDs unless they also reported taking a NSAID. Regular alcohol use (g/day) in the past year was calculated as previously described [298]. Age of menopause was defined according to the methods reported by the Women's Health Initiative [299], where age at menopause corresponded to the age of a woman's last natural menstrual bleeding, bilateral oophorectomy, or age a woman began using HT. For a hysterectomized woman without a bilateral oophorectomy, age at menopause was the earliest age at which she began using HT or first had menopausal symptoms. If neither occurred and her age at hysterectomy was 50 years or older, then age at menopause was her age at hysterectomy. Age at menopause could not be determined in 7 participants. Years since menopause were calculated by subtracting a woman's age at menopause from her age at study enrollment. The questionnaire was reviewed for completeness by a trained research nurse.

#### 3.3.4 Clinical Measures

After participants removed shoes and heavy clothing, height and weight were measured by the study nurse. Weight was measured at a standing position to the nearest 0.1 kg using a standard balance beam; standing height was measured at full inspiration to the nearest 0.1 cm. Measurements were taken twice and were repeated if the first two measurements differed by more than 0.5 cm or 0.5 kg. The mean of the measurements was used to derive final heights and weights. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared ( $m^2$ ).

After anthropometric assessment, a 40 ml non-fasting blood sample was collected by the study nurse. Samples were processed on site according to a standardized protocol. After processing, the samples were separated into red blood cell, serum, plasma and buffy coat and stored at or below -70°C until assayed.

#### 3.3.5 Measurement of Fatty Acids

Erythrocyte fatty acid concentrations were identified using gas-liquid chromatography. Samples were analyzed at the University of Pittsburgh's Heinz Laboratory. Total lipids (500µl of packed red blood cells) were extracted according to the general technique of Bligh and Dyer [300]. Briefly, the samples were homogenized in 4 ml of methanol, 2 ml of chloroform and 1.1 ml of water. Two ml of chloroform and 2 ml of water were added to the samples after 15 min. The tubes were then centrifuged at 1200 g for 30 min at 16°C and the upper phase discarded. The lower phase was dried under nitrogen and resuspended in 1.5 ml 14% boron trifluoride methanol. The samples were heated at 90°C for 40 min and after cooling extracted with 4.0 ml pentane and 1.5 ml water. The mixtures were vortexed and the organic phase recovered [301]. The extracts were dried under nitrogen, resuspended in 50 µl heptane and 2 ml injected into a capillary column (SP-2380, 105 m x 53 mm ID, 0.20 um film thickness). Gas chromatographic analyses were carried out on a Perkin Elmer Clarus 500 equipped with a flame ionization detector. Operating conditions were as follows: the oven temperatures were 140°C for 35 min; 8°C/min to 220°C, held for 12 min; injector and detector temperatures were both at 260°C; and helium, the carrier gas, was at 15 psi. Identification of fatty acids was by comparison of retention times with those of authentic standards (Sigma). A random subset of 27 samples was analyzed for reproducibility; laboratory personnel were blinded to duplicate samples and subject identification. The inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) for the fatty acid measures reported ranged between 1.7-15.2%. CVs's were 4.6% for LA, 3.4% for AA, and 1.7% for total n-6 fatty acids. CV's were higher for the n-3 fatty acids, with CV's of 15.2% for ALA, 5.3% for EPA, 7.5% for DHA and 5.3% for total n-3 fatty acids. The CVs for the total n-6:n-3, LA:ALA, AA:EPA, and AA:EPA+DHA ratios were 5.2%, 11.1%, 4.5% and 5.7% respectively. The individual and total n-6 and n-3 fatty acids are expressed as a percentage by weight of the total erythrocyte fatty acid content.

### 3.3.6 Measurement of Total Estradiol

Serum total estradiol was measured by radioimmunoassay (RIA) after diethyl ether extraction using a highly specific rabbit antiserum raised against an E2-6carboxymethyloxime-BSA conjugate (EIR, Wurenlingen, Switzerland) and Third Generation Estradiol [I125] reagent DSL 39120 (Diagnostic Systems Laboratories Inc., Texas USA). Assays were conducted at the Royal Marsden Hospital in England [302]. The lower detection limit of the assay was 3pmol/L by calculation from the 95% confidence limits of the zero standard. Twenty-seven replicate quality control samples were analyzed to assess reproducibility; the calculated CV between duplicates for estradiol was 14.5%. Laboratory personnel were blinded to quality control status.

## 3.3.7 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS software version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, North Carolina). To improve normality for statistical tests, a log transformation was applied to serum total estradiol concentrations. One participant was excluded from analyses because total estradiol concentrations were deemed unreliable by the laboratory. An additional 9 participants with estradiol values greater than 150 pmol/L were removed from analyses because such high levels likely indicated the participants were not postmenopausal or incorrectly reported current hormone use. Analyses were repeated with extreme data points included (**Appendix A**), and because findings did not change substantially the 9 participants were not included in the final report. The final sample included 260 women.

Descriptive results for continuous variables are expressed as means and standard deviations (SD). Categorical variables are reported as frequencies and percentages (%). Correlation relationships between n-6 and n-3 fatty acid measures and serum estradiol were examined with Spearman's correlation coefficients, with no adjustments and controlling for the effects of age and BMI.

Multivariate associations for serum total estradiol according to tertile of fatty acid were assessed by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) using the general linear models (GLM) procedure of SAS (PROC GLM). Adjusted geometric mean estradiol and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated using least squares means, controlling for the effects of age (continuous), BMI (continuous), years menopausal (continuous), regular alcohol intake in the past year  $(0g/day, <12g/day, \geq 12g/day, entered as a dummy)$ variable), current smoking status (nonsmoker vs. smoker), and current NSAID use (nonuser vs. user). The comparisons were adjusted for these variables as they were strongly related to the majority of erythrocyte fatty acid measures, and with the exception of smoking status, were also related to serum estradiol levels (Appendix A). The geometric mean concentrations of estradiol were calculated by taking the anti-log of the least squares means after adjustment. NSAIDs reduce PGE2 synthesis and hence aromatase activation, thus, intake of the n-6 and n-3 PUFAs may have less of an effect on estradiol levels among NSAID users. Therefore, we performed analyses stratified by NSAID use to assess possible effect modification by this variable. To formally test whether the effects of fatty acids were altered by current NSAID use, an interaction term between fatty acid (tertile) and NSAID use was entered into the unstratified multivariate model. Tests of linear trends were performed across fatty acid measures by modeling tertiles as consecutive integers (continuous variable).

The assumptions of the models were checked by residual analysis. Plots of the residuals versus the predicted values were examined to check for heteroscedasticity. The normal probability plot of the residuals was examined to assess the normality of the error terms. Model assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were met for all
models presented. Tests of statistical significance were two-tailed and given the exploratory nature of this work, we reported our results at the p<0.05 significance level, rather than correct for multiple comparisons. Analyses were repeated excluding participants (n=13) reporting fatty acid supplementation at blood draw, but results did not differ substantially and are therefore not presented.

### 3.4 RESULTS

The characteristics of the study population are shown in **Table 6**. The mean (SD) age was 62.8 (8.4) years and the mean (SD) BMI was 28.5 (6.0) kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Only 6.9% of the women were non-white and 5.8% current smokers. Close to half (47.7%) of the population indicated current use of a NSAID (aspirin, non-aspirin, and/or COX-2 inhibitor) at study enrollment. The geometric mean serum estradiol concentration for the study population was 19.5 pmol/L, with levels ranging from 3.3-140.0 pmol/L.

On average, the proportion of total n-6 fatty acids was higher than the proportion of total n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes (**Table 7**). The average ratio of mean total n-6 fatty acids to mean total n-3 fatty acids was 5.2. N-6 AA and LA were the most abundant fatty acids, with AA composing 16.0% and LA 15.8% of total fatty acids. Of the n-3 fatty acids, DHA accounted for the greatest percentage (4.5%) of total fatty acids.

**Table 8** presents the unadjusted and adjusted correlations between fatty acid measures and serum total estradiol for the entire study population. Analyses revealed distinct differences in the relationships of the erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids with

serum estradiol. Statistically significant positive correlations were observed for both total n-6 fatty acids (r=0.15, p=0.02) and AA (r=0.13, p=0.04) with estradiol. A nonsignificant inverse association was observed for n-6 LA (r=-0.08, p=0.21). Erythrocyte total n-3 fatty acids and all individual n-3 fatty acids were inversely related with serum total estradiol. Correlation coefficients ranged from -0.17 to -0.24 and were statistically significant (p<0.05) for all n-3 fatty acid measures. The strongest inverse correlation was found for EPA (r = -0.24, p<0.0001), followed closely by total n-3 fatty acids (r=-0.22, p=0.0003). Highly significant positive correlations between serum estradiol and the four 6:3 ratios (total n-6:n-3, LA:ALA, AA:EPA, and AA:EPA+DHA) were found. Spearman correlation coefficients ranged from 0.18 (p < 0.004) to 0.25 (p < 0.0001). However, adjustment for age and BMI attenuated the findings.

**Table 9** shows the estimated geometric mean of serum estradiol concentration across tertile of erythrocyte fatty acid. After adjustment for age, BMI, years menopausal, alcohol intake, current smoking status, and current NSAID use, no individual fatty acid was significantly related to estradiol concentration. However, a significant trend of increasing estradiol concentration with tertile of LA:ALA (p trend=0.03) was found. The adjusted total estradiol concentration was approximately 20.5% higher among participants in the highest tertile of LA:ALA as compared to those in the lowest tertile. Although a higher mean estradiol concentration was observed in the highest tertile as compared to the lowest tertile of all other 6:3 ratios (total n-6:n-3, AA:EPA, and AA:EPA+DHA), the findings were not statistically significant. A suggestive inverse trend for ALA tertiles (p trend =0.09) was noted.

Because NSAIDs inhibit the COX/PGE2/aromatase pathway, we next explored the associations between fatty acids and estradiol by NSAID use. Table 9 shows the estimated geometric mean estradiol concentrations across tertile of fatty acid stratified by NSAID use. Among non-users of NSAIDs, multivariate adjusted analyses revealed several significant or borderline significant associations between fatty acid measures and estradiol. Total n-6 fatty acids was positively and significantly related to serum estradiol (p trend=0.02). The adjusted geometric mean estradiol levels also rose with increasing tertile of n-6 AA among NSAID non-users, with mean estradiol levels 24.2% higher in the topmost tertile as compared to the lowest tertile (p trend=0.09). No association was observed between LA and estradiol (p trend=0.97). On the contrary, geometric mean serum estradiol levels decreased with increasing tertile of total n-3 fatty acids (p=0.05), with mean estradiol levels 24.3% lower in the highest tertile as compared to the lowest. Mean estradiol levels were also lower in the highest tertile of all individual n-3 fatty acids (ALA, EPA, and DHA) as compared to the lowest tertile; however, the p for trend did not reach statistical significance for any of these measures. The total n-6:n-3 ratio was positively linked to estradiol and the finding approached statistical significance (p trend=0.06), with 30.1% greater mean estradiol levels in the upper tertile as compared to the lower tertile. A positive relationship was observed between the AA:EPA+DHA ratio and estradiol, with mean estradiol concentrations 40.7% higher in the highest as compared to the lowest tertile (p=0.01). The geometric mean estradiol levels were also higher in the AA:EPA and LA:ALA ratios' uppermost tertiles as compared to the lowest tertiles; however, these trends were not statistically significant.

Among women reporting current NSAID use, a positive association between the LA:ALA ratio and estradiol was noted, with mean estradiol in the highest tertile 48.6% higher than the mean estradiol of the lowest tertile (p trend=0.01). This observation was largely attributable to n-3 ALA, which was inversely related to estradiol in NSAID users (p trend=0.05). Estradiol was 26.9% lower in the highest tertile of ALA as compared to the lowest tertile. No other fatty acid measure was related to serum total estradiol levels within the NSAID user stratam.

Effect modification by NSAID use was formally tested by including interaction terms in the GLMs. Despite substantial differences in the relationships between fatty acids and estradiol between NSAID users and non-users, the only significant interaction was between NSAID use and total n-6 fatty acids with respect to circulating estradiol (p<0.02). The interaction between NSAID use and the AA:EPA+DHA ratio was suggestive (p=0.12). However, this study had limited power to detect interaction effects.

#### 3.5 CONCLUSIONS

In this cross-sectional investigation, we examined the relationships between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and postmenopausal serum total estradiol concentrations. In a population of women not reporting current NSAID use, we found a positive association between total n-6 fatty acids and estradiol and an inverse association between total n-3 fatty acids and estradiol. We further observed positive relationships between the AA:EPA+DHA ratio and the total n-6:n-3 ratio with serum estradiol. As high postmenopausal circulating estradiol concentrations are related to increased breast cancer

risk, these findings are consistent with the hypothesis that n-6 fatty acids may increase the risk of breast cancer and n-3 fatty acids may protect against this disease. Similar associations were not noted among women who reported current NSAID use. Although, none of the significant findings observed among non-users of NSAIDs were found among current NSAID users, a significant positive relationship was noted between the LA:ALA ratio and estradiol levels. This relationship was largely attributable to the inverse association between ALA and estradiol.

A potential explanation for the null finding between n-6 fatty acids and estradiol among NSAID users is that since NSAIDs inhibit PGE2 formation, limiting the amount of substrate available (n-6 fatty acid AA) for PGE2 synthesis is not of biological importance. In addition, a relationship between total n-3 fatty acid measures and estradiol might not have been observed among NSAID users, because both n-3 consumption and NSAID use reduce PGE2 production, and therefore exposure to both anti-inflammatory agents might not offer additional benefit. The strong inverse relationship noted between ALA and estradiol in conjunction with the speculations offered above, may be suggestive that an additional pathway is involved other than ALAs ability to compete for COX enzymes (i.e. through elongation to EPA) among NSAID users. Possible mechanisms of action include ALA's ability to reduce TNF-alpha and IL-6 [303], which have also been shown to stimulate aromatase activity [304]. Although this finding may be biologically plausible, we also must acknowledge the potential role chance plays when multiple comparisons are made.

Although the majority of interactions between fatty acid measures and NSAID use were not statistically significant, the effect sizes suggest that there are differences in the strengths of the relationships between NSAID non-users and users. Thus the lack of significance of the interaction terms may be attributable to the low statistical power of our study. However, it should also be acknowledged that given the nonsignificant interaction terms, the effect modification noted may be a result of chance findings. Nonetheless, given the biological plausibility of an interaction and because no study has previously reported on these associations, we chose to present the data stratified by NSAID use.

We are unaware of any study reporting weaker effects of the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids on breast cancer risk among NSAID users; however, long chain n-3 PUFA levels in blood were associated with decreased colorectal cancer risk among aspirin non-users, but not among aspirin users [305]. Futher a statistically significant interaction between total fat intake and NSAID use (p=0.007) has been noted. Among non-users of NSAIDs, decreasing fat intake was inversely related to recurrence of adenomous polyps [306]. A similar finding was also noted in relation to squamous cell carcinoma of the skin. Erythrocyte levels of n-6 AA were significantly greater among cases than controls and this relationship was more apparent among NSAID non-users [307].

To our knowledge this is the first study to report on the relationship between the essential fatty acids found in biospecimens and endogenous estradiol levels. Further, there is a paucity of data on the impact of n-6 and n-3 fatty acids, as measured via self-report, on concentrations of postmenopausal estradiol levels. Consistent with our findings, estradiol levels have been found to be significantly inversely related to n-3 fat from fish [277]. We are not aware of any epidemiological investigation that assessed the

relationship between individual or total n-6 fatty acids or n-6:n-3 ratios and postmenopausal estradiol levels.

A key limitation of this study is its cross-sectional nature, which does not allow causal inference. Hormone and erythrocyte fatty acid concentrations were measured once and a single measure may be inadequate to some degree because of variability within individuals over time; for that reason, assaying multiple samples over time might better characterize levels in these women. However, use of a single measurement of erythrocyte membranes is capable of reflecting recent n-6 and n-3 fatty acid intake [161]. We cannot rule out that perhaps n-6 and n-3 levels are simply markers of poor or healthy lifestyles. While we adjusted for BMI, alcohol intake and smoking in multivariate analyses, relations between the fatty acids and estradiol levels could be due to residual confounding by unmeasured lifestyle characteristics rather than real dietary effects. Additionally, the MAMS participants included in this analysis are a relatively homogenous sample as all are postmenopausal, not using hormone therapy, and predominantly white, thus the study results may have limited generalizability. In spite of these limitations, this study is unique in that we believe no other epidemiological study has assessed the relationship between circulating fatty acids and serum estradiol levels. Additional study strengths include the use of an objective measure of dietary fat intake and standardized assessment of participant characteristics.

In summary, this study provides modest evidence supporting a positive association between n-6 PUFAs and a negative association between n-3 PUFAs and serum estradiol levels. However, given the cross-sectional design of the study, the observed relationships should be viewed as hypothesis generating and interpreted with

62

caution. The answers to the role of the essential n-6 and n-3 PUFAs in breast cancer development are not definitive, the data being too insufficient to be convincing. Because of limitations in current research, chemoprotective dietary recommendations for women cannot be issued. Given this study's findings and the limitations listed above, prospective studies assessing the relationship between the n-6 and n-3 PUFAs and circulating estrogens using validated dietary assessment instruments along with repeated blood sampling for fatty acid and estradiol analysis are warranted.

postmenopausar women in the Manmograms a	and masses	Study
Continuous variables	mean	SD
Age at blood draw (years)	62.8	8.4
BMI $(kg/m^2)$	28.5	6.0
Age at menopause (years)*	48.7	5.1
Years menopausal*	14.1	10.0
Categorical variables	n	%
Race		
White	242	93.1
Non-white	18	6.9
Surgical menopause *		
No	229	88.4
Yes	30	11.6
Prior hormone therapy use		
No	100	38.5
Yes	160	61.5
Regular alcohol intake in past year		
None	188	72.3
< 12 g/day	46	17.7
$\geq$ 12 g/day	26	10.0
Current Smoker		
No	245	94.2
Yes	15	5.8
Current NSAID use		
No	136	52.3
Yes	124	47.7

 Table 6. Distribution of selected characteristics among

 postmenopausal women in the Mammograms and Masses Study

NOTE: BMI, body mass index; NSAID, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug

\* Mean and prevalence estimates were determined on nonmissing data; missing n=7 for age at menopause, n=7 for years menopausal, and n=1 for surgical menopause

Fatty Acids (wt. %)	mean (SD)
Total n-6 PUFA*	38.3 (2.6)
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.8 (2.4)
20:4n-6 (AA)	16.0 (2.0)
Total n-3 PUFA †	7.9 (2.0)
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.4)
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.5)
6:3 Ratios	
Total n-6:n-3	5.2 (1.5)
LA:ALA	72.7 (19.3)
AA:EPA	21.8 (9.0)
AA:EPA+DHA	3.3(1.2)

Table 7. Mean fatty acid composition in erythrocytes

NOTE: N=260. Data are expressed as mean (SD). Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. \*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6 †18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

Fatty Acids (wt. %)	r*	р	r†	р
n-6 PUFAs				
Total n-6 PUFAs‡	0.15	0.02	0.09	0.13
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.08	0.21	-0.04	0.57
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.13	0.04	0.09	0.13
n-3 PUFAs				
Total n-3 PUFAs§	-0.22	0.0003	-0.11	0.06
18:3n-3 (ALA)	-0.18	0.004	-0.13	0.04
20:5n-3 (EPA)	-0.24	< 0.0001	-0.15	0.02
22:6n-3 (DHA)	-0.17	0.006	-0.06	0.31
6:3 Ratios				
Total n-6:n-3	0.23	0.0002	0.12	0.05
LA:ALA	0.18	0.004	0.14	0.03
AA:EPA	0.25	< 0.0001	0.16	0.01
AA:EPA+DHA	0.22	0.0004	0.11	0.07

 Table 8.
 Spearman rank order correlation coefficients between n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and serum estradiol concentrations

NOTE: N=260. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid

\*Unadjusted Spearman correlation coefficient

†Age- and BMI- adjusted Spearman correlation coefficient

18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

§18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

ter the of crythro	nyn 1a	ally actu accoruing							
					NSAID			NSAID	
Fatty Acids		All	p for		Non-user	p for		User	p for
(wt. %)	N	(N=253)	trend	Ν	(N=135)	trend	Ν	(N=118)	trend
n-6 PUFAs									
Total n-6			0.18			0.02			0.44
≤37.32	83	16.7 (14.4, 19.3)		49	16.0 (13.4, 18.9)		34	18.5 (14.5, 23.7)	
37.33-39.49	86	22.8 (19.8, 26.1)		40	27.9 (23.2, 33.6)		46	18.8 (15.4, 23.1)	
≥39.50	84	19.3 (16.7, 22.3)		46	21.8 (18.3, 26.1)		38	16.3 (13.0, 20.5)	
18:2n-6 (LA)			0.71			0.99			0.66
≤14.69	83	19.3 (16.6, 22.2)		40	20.1 (16.4, 24.7)		43	17.8 (14.4, 22.1)	
14.70-16.84	86	20.8 (18.0, 23.9)		47	22.5 (18.7, 27.0)		39	19.3 (15.4, 24.1)	
≥16.85	84	18.5 (16.0, 21.3)		48	20.2 (16.8, 24.3)		36	16.6 (13.2, 20.9)	
20:4n-6 (AA)			0.20			0.09			0.95
≤15.24	83	18.8(16.3, 21.7)		51	19.0 (16.0, 22.6)		32	18.8 (14.7, 24.0)	
15.25-16.57	86	18.3 (15.9, 21.0)		38	20.7 (16.8, 25.4)		48	16.6 (13.6, 20.2)	
≥16.58	84	21.5 (18.6, 24.9)		46	23.6 (19.6, 28.5)		38	18.9 (15.0, 23.8)	
n-3 PUFAs									
Total n-3			0.17			0.05			0.89
≤6.68	85	21.3 (18.5, 24.6)		46	24.3 (20.1, 29.3)		39	18.7 (14.9, 23.6)	
6.69-8.36	83	18.7 (16.2, 21.6)		45	20.4 (17.0, 24.6)		38	16.7 (13.3, 20.8)	
≥8.37	85	18.4 (16.0, 21.3)		44	18.4 (15.2, 22.3)		41	18.3 (14.6, 22.9)	

Table 9. Multivariable-adjusted geometric mean (95% confidence interval) estradiol concentrations (pmol/L) bytertile of erythrocyte fatty acid according to NSAID use

i usic > (continue	~~,								
					NSAID			NSAID	
Fatty Acids		All	p for		Non-user	p for		User	p for
(wt. %)	Ν	(N=253)	trend	Ν	(N=135)	trend	Ν	(N=118)	trend
18:3n-3(ALA)			0.09			0.57			0.05
≤0.19	84	21.2 (18.4, 24.5)		42	21.5 (17.7, 26.2)		42	20.8 (16.8, 25.8)	
0.20-0.25	86	19.5 (17.0, 22.4)		43	21.5 (17.7, 26.0)		43	17.5 (14.2, 21.5)	
≥0.26	83	17.8 (15.4, 20.5)		50	20.0 (16.8, 23.9)		33	15.2 (12.0, 19.3)	
20:5n-3 (EPA)			0.39			0.31			0.89
≤0.64	83	19.4 (16.8, 22.5)		48	20.9 (17.5, 25.1)		35	17.6 (13.8, 22.4)	
0.65-0.90	85	21.4 (18.6, 24.6)		43	24.3 (20.0, 29.3)		42	18.9 (15.2, 23.3)	
≥0.91	85	17.7 (15.4, 20.5)		44	18.2 (15.1, 21.9)		41	17.2 (13.8, 21.5)	
22:6n-3 (DHA)			0.35			0.14			0.92
≤3.69	84	20.8 (18.0, 24.0)		48	23.1 (19.2, 27.8)		36	18.3 (14.4, 23.2)	
3.70-4.91	84	18.9 (16.4, 22.0)		40	21.1 (17.4, 25.8)		44	17.0 (13.8, 20.9)	
≥4.92	85	18.8 (16.3, 21.7)		47	18.8 (15.7, 22.7)		38	18.6 (14.7, 23.5)	
6:3 Ratios									
Total n-6:n-3			0.21			0.06			0.98
≤4.48	84	17.7 (15.3, 20.3)		46	17.6 (14.6, 21.2)		38	17.7 (14.0, 22.4)	
4.49-5.72	84	20.5 (17.8, 23.6)		43	22.9 (19.0, 27.7)		41	18.2 (14.6, 22.5)	
≥5.73	85	20.3 (17.5, 23.4)		46	22.9 (19.0, 27.8)		39	17.8 (14.2, 22.3)	

Tuble 7 (continue	,uj								
					NSAID			NSAID	
Fatty acids		All	p for		Non-user	p for		User	p for
(wt. %)	Ν	(N=253)	trend	Ν	(N=135)	trend	Ν	(N=118)	trend
LA:ALA			0.03			0.51			0.01
≤64.00	85	17.6 (15.3, 20.3)		51	20.4 (17.0, 24.3)		34	14.2 (11.3, 17.9)	
64.01-78.05	85	19.0 (16.5, 21.8)		46	20.5 (17.0, 24.7)		39	18.1 (14.6, 22.5)	
≥78.06	83	22.1 (19.2, 25.5)		38	22.4 (18.2, 27.4)		45	21.1 (17.3, 25.8)	
ΔΔ·ΕΡΔ			0.11			0.10			0.59
<16.02	81	17.3(15.0, 20.0)	0.11	17	176(147211)	0.10	37	171(135218)	0.57
<u>&lt;</u> 10.92	04	17.3(13.0, 20.0)		41	17.0(14.7, 21.1)		12	17.1(13.3,21.0)	
16.93-25.89	84	20.7 (18.0, 23.9)		41	24.5 (20.1, 29.7)		43	17.7 (14.4,21.8)	
≥25.90	85	20.5 (17.7, 23.7)		47	21.7 (18.1, 26.1)		38	18.9 (14.9,23.9)	
AA:EPA+DHA			0.18			0.01			0.63
≤2.68	84	18.6 (16.1, 21.5)		50	17.7 (14.8, 21.1)		34	19.9 (15.6, 25.5)	
2.69-3.77	84	18.5 (16.1, 21.3)		41	21.5 (17.8, 26.0)		43	16.2 (13.2, 20.0)	
≥3.78	85	21.4 (18.6, 24.7)		44	24.9 (20.6, 30.0)		41	18.1 (14.5, 22.7)	

Table 9 (continued)

NOTE: Fatty acids are expressed as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight, percent, wt.%). Tertile cutpoints were determined from entire study population (n=260). NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. Values were adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), years menopausal (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\geq$ 12g/day; indicator variable), and current smoker (nonsmoker vs. smoker). The unstratified analysis was also adjusted for current NSAID use (yes vs. no). 7 participants were excluded because years since menopause were undeterminable. p for interaction (fatty acid tertile x NSAID use) was significant for total n-6 (p<0.02) and suggestive for AA:EPA+DHA (p<0.12). Linear trend tests were performed by treating the fatty acid tertile groups as continuous variables

# 4.0 ARTICLE TWO: NONSTEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUG USE AND SERUM TOTAL ESTRADIOL IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN

# Published in Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention March 2008, Volume 17, Issue 3

Alana G. Hudson<sup>1</sup>, Gretchen L. Gierach<sup>2</sup>, Francesmary Modugno<sup>1</sup>, Jennifer Simpson<sup>1</sup>, John W. Wilson<sup>3</sup>, Rhobert W. Evans<sup>1</sup>, Victor G. Vogel<sup>4, 5</sup>, and Joel L. Weissfeld<sup>1,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>2</sup> Cancer Prevention Fellowship Program, Office of Preventive Oncology, Division of Cancer Prevention, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biostatistics, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>4</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>5</sup>University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

# 4.1 ABSTRACT

Laboratory and epidemiologic evidence suggest that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) use may be inversely related to the risk of breast cancer; however, the mechanism by which NSAIDs may protect against the development of this disease is The objective of this observational study was to assess the relationship uncertain. between current NSAID use and endogenous estradiol levels, an established breast cancer risk factor. To evaluate this aim, we conducted a cross-sectional investigation among 260 postmenopausal women who were not recently exposed to exogenous hormones. Information on current NSAID use (aspirin, COX-2 inhibitors and other NSAIDs combined) was collected using a questionnaire at the time of blood draw. Estradiol was quantified in serum by radioimmunoassay. General linear models were used to evaluate the association between NSAID use and serum total estradiol. The age- and BMIadjusted geometric mean serum estradiol concentration among NSAID users (N=124) was significantly lower than non-users of NSAIDs (N=136) (17.8 pmol/L vs. 21.3 pmol/L; p=0.03). Further adjustment for additional potential confounding factors did not substantially alter estimates (17.7 pmol/L vs. 21.2 pmol/L; p=0.03). To our knowledge, this report is the first to examine the relationship between NSAID use and serum estradiol in postmenopausal women. These cross-sectional findings suggest that NSAID use may be associated with lower circulating estradiol levels, potentially representing one mechanism through which NSAIDs exert protective effects on breast cancer.

### 4.2 INTRODUCTION

Although breast cancer is a major public health problem, little is known about preventing this disease. Experimental studies have reported a protective effect of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as aspirin and ibuprofen, against mammary carcinogenesis [308-310] and accumulating evidence from both case-control and cohort studies suggests that use of NSAIDs may be associated with a modest decreased risk of breast cancer in women [193, 194, 196, 311-314]. However, findings are mixed [315-321]. Clarifying the association between NSAID use and the development of breast cancer is potentially of great importance clinically. NSAIDs are widely used, readily available and inexpensive agents. If they were shown to be chemopreventive, they could have a substantial impact on public health.

Although the mechanisms by which NSAIDs may protect against breast cancer are not fully understood, data suggest that the protective effect may be attributed, in part, to NSAIDs' ability to decrease the formation of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) by blocking cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 and/or COX-2 activity. One possible mechanism by which the COX/PGE2 cascade promotes breast cancer is via increasing estrogen production, as exposure to endogenous estrogens has been shown to play a causal role in the development of some breast cancers [41].

PGE2 upregulates aromatase activity [200], the enzyme that converts androgens to estrogens, and leads to increased estrogen synthesis. In postmenopausal women, aromatatic conversion of androgens is the primary source of circulating estrogens, and suppression of this enzyme has been shown to have a profound effect on both circulating estrogen levels [322] and breast cancer recurrence [213]. Recently, dose dependent

decreases in aromatase activity were observed in breast cancer cells following treatment with NSAIDs, a COX-1 selective inhibitor, and COX-2 selective inhibitors [201]. Therefore, NSAIDs may offer protection against breast cancer by reducing a woman's exposure to estrogen via the inhibition of aromatase activity. Indeed, laboratory results have shown that estradiol production is decreased in breast cells that are exposed to the selective COX-2 inhibitor Celecoxib [202].

While the above-mentioned pathway through which NSAIDs may decrease the development of breast cancer has previously been highlighted [323, 324], the association between NSAID use and circulating estradiol in women is currently unknown. Therefore, in this cross-sectional investigation, we asked whether differences in serum estradiol levels could be observed between self-reported NSAID users and nonusers in a population of postmenopausal women not taking hormone therapy (HT).

# 4.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.3.1 Study Population

We used data from controls drawn from the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS), a case-control study of estrogen metabolites, mammographic breast density and breast cancer risk. Details of the study methodologies have been presented elsewhere [296]. In brief, 869 cancer-free women and 264 recently diagnosed breast cancer cases were recruited into the MAMS through the Magee Womens Hospital Mammographic Screening and Diagnostic Imaging Program in the greater Pittsburgh area (Pennsylvania,

USA) between September 2001 and May 2005. Women who were 18 years or older, who reported no previous personal history of cancer, with the exception of nonmelanoma skin cancer, and who could provide written informed consent were eligible for study enrollment. Participants in the MAMS include; 1) breast cancer cases who were recruited from the Magee-Womens Surgical Clinic for an initial evaluation after newly diagnosed primary breast cancer (n=264); 2) controls who were undergoing outpatient needle breast biopsy through the Breast Biopsy Service at Magee-Womens Hospital (Pittsburgh, PA), but who were not subsequently diagnosed with breast cancer (n=313); 3) "healthy" controls who received screening mammography through Magee-Womens Hospital or through Pittsburgh Magee Womancare Centers (n=538) and; 4) an additional 18 participants whose blood was dedicated solely to an ancillary study of intra-individual cytokine and hormone level reproducibility. To increase recruitment of the "healthy" control group, study flyers were attached to screened negative mammogram reports mailed to patients between November 2003 and April 2005. The MAMS is approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Review Board and all participants provided written informed consent at the time of study entry.

# 4.3.2 Subsample Selection

Participants were selected for the present study if they met the following eligibility criteria: 1) healthy controls recruited only via study flyers through Magee-Womens Hospital or through Pittsburgh Magee Womancare Centers between 2003-2005 (n=453), because these participants completed a self-administered questionnaire on the day of blood draw; 2) postmenopausal, defined as having no menstrual bleeding during the year

prior to enrollment, having undergone a bilateral oophorectomy, or having a hysterectomy without bilateral oophorectomy and aged 50 years or older. We measured follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) for women under 55 years of age at blood draw who had a hysterectomy without bilateral oophorectomy (n=5); all five participants had FSH levels above 40mIU/ml (range: 49.1-185.2), consistent with FSH elevation in the postmenopausal range; 3) not using HT within three months of enrollment; and 4) did not report using vaginal estrogen creams, oral contraceptives, selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) or corticosteroids on the day of blood draw. Ninety-eight premenopausal women, 55 postmenopausal women using exogenous hormones, 24 women using SERMs, 5 participants on corticosteroids, and 1 participant later found to have a personal history of breast cancer were excluded from the study. Two hundred and seventy participants met the above-mentioned criteria.

# 4.3.3 Covariate Information

A standardized, self-administered questionnaire was used to gather exposure information. Participants in the subsample completed the questionnaire at study enrollment on the day of blood draw. Information collected included demographic data, current use of medication and supplements, reproductive history, family medical history, past exogenous hormone use, and lifestyle factors such as smoking status and alcohol intake. Alcohol use (grams/day) in the past year was calculated as previously reported [298]. Age of onset of menopause was defined according to the methods formerly described by the Women's Health Initiative [299], where age at menopause corresponded to the age of a woman's last natural menstrual bleeding, bilateral oophorectomy, or age a woman began using HT. For a hysterectomized woman without a bilateral oophorectomy, age at menopause was the earliest age at which she began using HT or first had menopausal symptoms. If neither occurred and her age at hysterectomy was 50 years or older, then age at menopause was her age at hysterectomy. Age at menopause was undeterminable in 7 participants. Years since menopause were calculated by subtracting the age at menopause from the age at enrollment.

#### 4.3.4 Assessment of NSAID Use

The primary exposure variable "current NSAID use" was collected on the day of blood draw. On the self-administered questionnaire, participants were asked to report all prescribed and over-the-counter medications that were currently being used. The question asked, "Are you CURRENTLY taking any medications (prescription or over the counter, including aspirin and ibuprofen)?" If a participant responded affirmatively, she was prompted to "please list them in this table." Dosage data were collected, but not analyzed as many participants knew only the number of tablets taken rather than the actual dose. The questionnaire was reviewed for completeness by a trained research nurse (study coordinator), who queried participants if further clarification was needed. Each medication reported in the table was subsequently assigned a code using a therapeutic classification system as indexed in the Nurse Practitioners' Prescribing Reference, which is updated quarterly [325]. Participants who listed aspirin, COX-2 inhibitor, or other nonaspirin NSAID use on the questionnaire were considered "current NSAID users." Participants who did not list using a NSAID were considered "current NSAID nonusers." Because acetaminophen is generally reported to be a poor inhibitor of the COX -

1/COX-2 enzymes [297] and its mechanism of action has yet to be resolved, we classified acetaminophen users as non-users of NSAIDs (n=12) unless they also reported taking a NSAID (n=6).

Two additional NSAID exposure variables were considered in relation to estradiol levels, a secondary exposure variable and a NSAID variable constructed from the primary and secondary variables. The secondary NSAID exposure variable was from the participant's yes-or-no response to the study phlebotomist's question at blood draw, "Have you taken any aspirin or anti-inflammatory agents in the last 48 hours?" No effort was undertaken to determine the specific agent the participant had used. Therefore, this variable is more subjective in that responses were based solely upon each individual's perception of what constitutes an anti-inflammatory agent and aspirin. The secondary exposure variable was used in conjunction with the primary NSAID exposure variable to construct a third variable labeled "consistent NSAID use." "Consistent NSAID users" listed on the questionnaire that they were currently taking a medication that was an aspirin, COX-2 inhibitor, or non-aspirin NSAID and also verbally reported that they took an aspirin or other anti-inflammatory agent in the past 48 hours. "Consistent NSAID nonusers" did not list using any NSAID nor did they state having taken an aspirin or antiinflammatory agent in the past 48 hours. This latter variable was created as an attempt to reduce potential NSAID use/non-use misclassification. None of the participants in this analysis were missing any of the NSAID exposure variable data. Exposure data were collected and coded without knowledge of estradiol levels.

#### 4.3.5 Clinical Measures

The study coordinator obtained physical measurements (height and weight) and recorded information on a standardized form. After the participant removed her shoes and heavy clothing, weight was measured at a standing position to the nearest 0.1 kg using a standard balance beam; standing height was measured at full inspiration to the nearest 0.1 cm. All anthropometric measurements were taken twice and were repeated if the first two measurements differed by more than 0.5 cm or 0.5 kg. The mean of the measurements was used in the analysis. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by the square of height in meters (m<sup>2</sup>).

Forty milliliters (mL) of peripheral non-fasting blood was collected from the participants at study enrollment. All samples were processed on site at the Magee Womens Hospital Satellite General Clinical Research Center according to standard protocols. After processing, the samples were aliquotted into 1 mL cryovials in which red blood cells, serum, plasma and buffy coat were separated. Samples were stored at or below -70°C prior to laboratory analyses.

# 4.3.6 Laboratory Analyses

Serum samples were used for the quantification of total estradiol (Sex hormone binding globulin and albumin-bound plus unbound estradiol) and were assayed at the Royal Marsden Hospital in England. Estradiol concentrations were measured by radioimmunoassay after ether extraction, using a highly specific rabbit antiserum raised against an estradiol-6-carboxymethyloxime-bovine serum albumin conjugate (EIR,

Wurenlingen, Switzerland) and Third Generation Estradiol [I125] reagent DSL 39120 (Diagnostic Systems Laboratories Inc., Texas USA) [302]. The assay detection limit was 3pmol/L by calculation from the 95% confidence limits of the zero standard. A random subset of 27 replicate quality control samples was included to assess reproducibility; the calculated coefficient of variation between duplicates for estradiol was 14.5%. Laboratory personnel were masked to both subject identification and quality control status.

# 4.3.7 Statistical Analyses

Wilcoxon's rank sum test was used to compare selected continuous characteristics between current users and non-users of NSAIDs and the chi-square test or the Fisher's exact test were used to assess differences in categorical variables. The Kruskal-Wallis test was used to test for significant differences in continuous characteristics across estradiol tertile categories. A log transformation was applied to serum estradiol concentrations to obtain homoscedacity and an approximately normal distribution for linear model residuals. One participant was excluded from analyses because her total estradiol level was deemed unreliable by the laboratory. An additional 9 participants with estradiol levels greater than 150 pmol/L, were removed from analyses because such high levels likely indicated the women were not postmenopausal or did not correctly report current hormone use. All analyses were replicated with the 9 data points included; however, findings did not change appreciably and therefore the 9 participants were not included in the reported results (**Appendix B**). Thus, the final sample included 260 women.

Cohen's kappa statistic was calculated as a measure of agreement between the primary and secondary NSAID exposure variables. Differences in mean log estradiol levels between users and nonusers of NSAIDs were tested by Student's t-test. The general linear model (GLM) approach was performed to calculate multivariable-adjusted estradiol levels and to assess differences in levels between NSAID users and non-users. Adjusted means and confidence intervals for each NSAID category were quantified using the least squares mean option of PROC GLM. Two adjusted models are presented. The first model was adjusted for age and BMI, which were deemed necessary covariates given their previously reported associations with both NSAID use [326] and estradiol levels [327, 328]. The second model was further adjusted for variables found to be associated with NSAID use or estradiol levels within the study population (univariate association p<0.15). The final multivariable model was adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), years since menopause (continuous), race (white vs. non-white), and regular alcohol intake in the past year (none, <12g/day,  $\geq 12g/day$ , entered as an indicator variable). The geometric mean concentrations were calculated by taking the anti-log of the least squares means after adjustment. Additional adjustment for family history of breast cancer, past HT use, smoking status, and various reproductive factors yielded similar results, and are not presented.

For each model, a plot of the studentized residuals versus the predicted values was examined to check whether the equality of variance assumption was met. A normal probability plot of the residuals was examined to assess normality. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were met for all models presented. Tests of statistical significance were two-tailed and, given the exploratory nature of this work, we reported our results at the p<0.05 significance level, rather than correct for multiple comparisons. All analyses were performed using SAS software version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, North Carolina).

### 4.4 RESULTS

Characteristics of the study population by current NSAID use are shown in **Table 10**. The majority of participants (66.9%) were overweight or obese (BMI  $\ge 25$ kg/m<sup>2</sup>), white (93.1%), and non-smokers (94.2%). Overall, 124 (47.7%) participants reported current NSAID use at the time of blood draw (**Table 11**). In this study, 25.0%, 12.3%, and 2.3% participants reported using only aspirin, non-aspirin NSAIDs and COX-2 selective inhibitors, respectively, whereas 8.1% reported using at least two different types of NSAIDs (data not shown). One hundred forty (53.8%) women reported that they took aspirin or another anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw. One hundred (38.5%) participants listed current use of a NSAID on the baseline questionnaire and verbally reported aspirin or anti-inflammatory use within 48 hour of blood draw, and 96 (37.0%) reported no use of NSAIDs in both settings. The agreement between the primary and secondary exposure variables was moderate with a kappa value of 0.51.

With the exception of race, NSAID users and nonusers were statistically similar with regard to all other demographic characteristics (**Table 10**). Current users of NSAIDs were more likely to be white than non-users (96.8% vs. 89.7%; p=0.03). Demographic differences between users and nonusers for all NSAID exposure variables (primary, secondary and constructed) were similar, with the exception of BMI. Participants who

reported aspirin or anti-inflammatory drug use within the past 48 hours and those who were consistent users were heavier than participants who reported no use of NSAIDs (**Appendix B**).

The geometric mean serum estradiol concentration for the study population was 19.5 pmol/L, with levels ranging from 3.3-140.0 pmol/L. As illustrated in **Table 12**, higher serum estradiol levels were associated with increasing BMI (p<0.0001) and negatively associated with alcohol intake (p=0.003). Although not statistically significant, it was observed that women with higher circulating estradiol levels were on average fewer years from menopause (p=0.11). With the exception of alcohol intake, all associations persisted after controlling for BMI (data not shown). The association between alcohol intake and estradiol diminished after controlling for BMI.

After adjustment for age and BMI, current NSAID use was significantly inversely associated with serum estradiol concentrations (17.8 pmol/L vs. 21.3 pmol/L; p=0.03) (**Table 13**), with approximately 16.4% lower levels in users than nonusers of NSAIDs. The age-and BMI-adjusted association between use of the secondary NSAID exposure variable (aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent in the past 48 hours) and estradiol was suggestive of an inverse effect, but this finding was not statistically significant (18.5 pmol/L vs. 20.9 pmol/L; p=0.14). A slightly stronger association between NSAID use and estradiol levels was observed when comparing consistent users to consistent nonusers (17.5 pmol/L vs. 21.5 pmol/L; p=0.03). Further adjustment for race, alcohol intake and years menopausal only slightly increased the strength of association observed in the age-and BMI- adjusted analyses. The effects were similar across BMI subgroups (**Appendix B**).

**Figure 5** presents the adjusted geometric mean serum estradiol concentration by sub-category of NSAID use as defined by the cross-tabulation of the primary and secondary NSAID exposure variables. Three categories were defined, the two concordant groups (i.e. No NSAIDs on medication list/ No NSAIDs verbally; Yes NSAIDs on medication list/ Yes NSAIDs verbally) remained as separate exposure categories, whereas the two discordant groups (i.e. No NSAIDs on medication list/ Yes NSAIDs verbally; Yes NSAIDs on medication list/ No NSAIDs on medication list/ Yes NSAIDs verbally; Yes NSAIDs verbally; Yes NSAIDs on medication list/ No NSAIDs verbally) were collapsed into a single category. The three groups had significantly different adjusted geometric mean estradiol levels (p trend = 0.02). As was expected, mean estradiol was lowest for participants who reported NSAID use for both measures, and highest for participants who did not report use for either measure.

To assess the possible effects of acetaminophen use on the findings, all analyses were repeated excluding acetaminophen users from the NSAID non-user groups (n=12). Results did not differ substantially (**Appendix B**).

#### 4.5 **DISCUSSION**

In this cross-sectional investigation we observed lower circulating estradiol levels among postmenopausal women reporting NSAID use. Specifically, we observed approximately 16% lower estradiol levels among current users than non-users. Decreased estradiol levels were consistent regardless of how NSAID use was assessed (i.e. self-reported current NSAID use on questionnaire, verbal reporting of use in past 48 hours, and the agreement between these two variables). Further, the strength of association was slightly

stronger when comparing participants who reported NSAID use at both the time of blood draw and within 48 hours of blood draw to those who reported no use of NSAIDs for both measures. Associations were independent of age, BMI, and other potential confounding variables. As elevated serum estradiol levels have been linked to breast cancer risk, these results provide support to the growing body of evidence linking NSAID use to decreased breast cancer incidence.

Although findings in the literature are not completely consistent, results of several epidemiologic studies suggest that use of aspirin, non-aspirin NSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors may reduce the risk of breast cancer (reviewed in [329]). The inconsistent findings among studies may be explained, in part, by differences in the definition of NSAID use, dosage and frequency data, and NSAID assessment periods. Notably, some studies suggest the decreased risk is stronger among estrogen receptor positive (ER+) breast cancers [192, 330] and, if true, would strengthen the hypothesis of an estrogen modulatory effect by NSAIDs. However, this relationship is not consistently observed [314, 331].

The mechanisms underlying the protective effects of these anti-inflammatory agents have been extensively investigated in the laboratory environment but have been less commonly explored in an epidemiological setting. Establishing the relationship between NSAID use and the various biochemical markers (i.e. steroid hormones, growth factors, and cytokines) involved in the pathogenesis of breast cancer in humans is essential in order to determine the effects these agents have on the development of breast cancer. The reduced risk of breast cancer observed among NSAID users in prior studies may, in part, be mediated through NSAIDs favorable effects on PGE2 production. Decreased PGE2 synthesis may result in suppressed estradiol production in postmenopausal women and subsequently reduced breast cancer risk. In accordance with this biologic paradigm, we observed that postmenopausal participants reporting NSAID use had lower estradiol levels. We know of no other epidemiological study that has reported this relationship. As NSAID use is modifiable, a chemoprotective action attributed to its use could have a considerable public health impact. However, the risk-to-benefit ratio would need to be considered since NSAIDs have potentially serious side effects [332, 333].

The present study has limitations that deserve attention and that should be considered when evaluating the study findings. First, as this is a cross-sectional investigation, we cannot ascertain the temporal relationship between NSAID use and serum estradiol, meaning that causal conclusions cannot be made. Multiple measurements of NSAID use and serum estradiol would have resulted in more precise estimates. Additional limitations of this study include our inability to assess duration of NSAID use or dosage information, as duration of NSAID use was not collected and dosage data were deemed unreliable as many participants listed number of tablets taken rather than the actual dose. Women exposed to a longer duration of NSAID use or larger doses may have more pronounced effects on circulating estradiol levels than occasional NSAID users (i.e. as-needed) or those consuming smaller doses (i.e. low-dose aspirin). The sample size was not large enough to assess the effect of the different types of NSAIDs (e.g. aspirin, nonaspirin NSAIDs, and selective COX-2 inhibitors) on serum estradiol. Further, we cannot rule out exposure misclassification. The result of nondifferential misclassification of our exposure variable (NSAID use vs. NSAID non-use) would most likely bias the findings toward the null hypothesis and possibly underestimate the true association between NSAID use and serum estradiol. We attempted to reduce misclassification by repeating analyses limiting the sample to women who consistently reported NSAID use or nonuse. Further, although we attempted to control for potential confounders in the statistical analyses, we cannot rule out the possibility that women who are users of NSAIDs had a factor in common that we did not measure that is related to lower serum estradiol levels. Finally, the lack of ethnic diversity and exclusion of premenopausal women in our sample limits the generalizability of the results.

Strengths of our study include the use of standardized instruments, reproducible measures of total estradiol, and the assessment of NSAID use on the same day as blood draw. The last strength is important, because the effect of NSAIDs on the inhibition of COX enzymes and PGE2 formation occurs rapidly [334]. Finally, the observed distribution of postmenopausal total estradiol levels and the self-reported prevalence of NSAID use in this population were similar to previous reports [328, 335]. Thus, study findings may be generalizable to similar populations. In our study, 33% MAMS participants (aged 42-85) reported aspirin use and 19% other NSAID use at study enrollment. The third National Health and Nutrition Survey (NHANES III) described a similar prevalence of aspirin and NSAID use [335]. In this population, women aged 45-64 reported 36% and 25% monthly use of aspirin and other NSAID use.

In summary, we believe that we are the first to report on the association between NSAID use and postmenopausal estradiol levels. We found NSAID users to have significantly lower serum estradiol concentrations than non-users which may account for

the protective effect NSAID use has been observed to exhibit on breast cancer development. However, continued research efforts are needed to verify our findings.

Characteristic	NSAID user (N=124)	NSAID non-user (N=136)	р
Age at blood draw (years), mean (SD)	62.6 (8.1)	62.9 (8.7)	0.91
BMI (kg/m2), mean (SD)	28.6 (6.0)	28.3 (6.1)	0.63
Age at menopause (years), mean (SD)*	48.7 (4.4)	48.7 (5.7)	0.57
Years menopausal, mean (SD)*	14.1 (9.8)	14.2 (10.3)	0.94
Surgical menopause, %*			0.38
No	90.2	86.8	
Yes	9.8	13.2	
Age at menarche, %*			0.88
<12 years	19.4	17.8	
12-13 years	57.3	56.3	
$\geq 14$ years	23.4	25.9	
Race, %			0.03
White	96.8	89.7	
Non-white	3.2	10.3	
Family history of breast cancer, %*†			0.98
No	86.9	86.8	
Yes	13.1	13.2	
Prior hormone therapy use, %			0.86
No	37.9	39.0	
Yes	62.1	61.0	
Previous breast biopsy, %			0.83
No	85.5	84.6	
Yes	14.5	15.4	

Table 10.Distribution of selected characteristics by NSAID use among postmenopausal women in the<br/>Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)

Characteristic	NSAID user (N=124)	NSAID non-user (N=136)	р
Regular alcohol intake in past year, %			0.10
None	66.1	77.9	
< 12 g/day	21.8	14.0	
$\geq$ 12 g/day	12.1	8.1	
Smoking status, %			0.88
Never	59.7	61.8	
Former	33.9	33.1	
Current	6.5	5.2	
Parous, %			0.50
No	21.0	17.7	
Yes	79.0	82.4	
Age at first full-term pregnancy, % ‡			0.94
< 30 years	81.6	81.3	
$\geq$ 30 years	18.4	18.8	
Ever breast fed for $> 1$ month, $\%$ ‡			0.52
No	50.0	54.5	
Yes	50.0	45.5	

# Table 10 (continued)

NOTE: Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding. NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; BMI, body mass index

\*missing n=7 for age at menopause; n=7 for years menopausal; n=1 for surgical menopause; n=1 for age at menarche; n=2 for family history of breast cancer

† family history of breast cancer in mother or sister

‡ among parous women

NSAID use	N (%)
Primary exposure variable	
Current use*	
Non-user	136 (52.3)
User	124 (47.7)
Secondary exposure variable	
Past 48 hour use†	
Non-user	120 (46.2)
User	140 (53.8)
Constructed exposure variable	
Consistent use:	
Non-user	96 (36.9)
User	100 (38.5)

Table 11. Self-reported NSAID use in the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)

NOTE: NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug

\*Current use: Based on participant's self-reported current medication list

<sup>†</sup>Past 48 hour use: Based on participant's verbal response to the question "Have you taken an aspirin or other anti-inflammatory drug in the past 48 hours?"

‡Consistent use: The agreement between current NSAID use and past 48 hour use. Non-user=Participant's current medication list did not indicate use of a NSAID and the participant verbally responded that she did not consume an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw. User= Participant's current medication list indicated use of a NSAID, and the participant verbally responded that she consumed an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw.

Characteristic	Tertile 1 (n=91)	Tertile 2 (n=81)	Tertile 3 (n=88)	р
Age at blood draw (years), mean (SD)	63.8 (8.5)	62.6 (8.5)	61.9 (8.2)	0.38
BMI (kg/m2), mean (SD)	25.4 (4.41)	27.3 (4.9)	32.6 (6.2)	< 0.0001
Age at menopause (years), mean (SD)*	48.3 (4.53)	49.0 (5.0)	48.8 (5.7)	0.27
Years menopausal, mean (SD)*	15.6 (9.74)	13.5 (10.2)	13.1 (10.1)	0.11
Surgical menopause, %*				0.64
No	87.8	86.4	90.9	
Yes	12.2	13.6	9.1	
Age at menarche, %*				0.49
<12 years	14.3	17.3	24.1	
12-13 years	60.4	59.3	50.6	
$\geq$ 14 years	25.3	23.5	25.3	
Race, %				0.46
White	95.6	92.6	90.9	
Other	4.4	7.4	9.1	
Family history of breast cancer, %*†				0.95
No	86.8	87.7	86.1	
Yes	13.2	12.4	14.0	
Prior hormone therapy use, %				0.30
No	33.0	38.3	44.3	
Yes	67.0	61.7	55.7	
Previous breast biopsy, %				0.48
No	82.4	84.0	88.6	
Yes	17.6	16.1	11.4	

Table 12. Distribution of selected characteristics by tertile of serum estradiol levels among postmenopausal women in the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)
## Table 12 (continued)

	Estradiol concentrations			
Characteristic	Tertile (n=91)	Tertile 2 (n=81)	Tertile (n=88)	р
Regular alcohol intake in past year, %				0.003
None	60.4	72.8	84.1	
< 12 g/day	28.6	13.6	10.2	
$\geq$ 12 g/day	11.0	13.6	5.7	
Smoking status				0.46
Never	58.2	56.8	67.1	
Former	37.4	37.0	26.1	
Current	4.4	6.2	6.8	
Parous, %				0.47
No	23.1	18.5	15.9	
Yes	76.9	81.5	84.1	
Age at first full-term pregnancy, % ‡				0.93
< 30 years	80.0	81.8	82.4	
$\geq$ 30 years	20.0	18.2	17.6	
Ever breast fed for $> 1$ month, % ‡				0.75
No	54.3	48.5	54.1	
Yes	45.7	51.5	46.0	

NOTE: Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding. BMI, body mass index

\*missing n=7 for age at menopause; n=7 for years menopausal; n=1 for surgical menopause; n =1 for age at menarche; n=2 for family history of breast cancer

† family history of breast cancer in mother or sister

‡ among parous women

	Serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L)					
All Participants	Model 1*	р	Model 2†	р	Model 3‡	р
Primary exposure variable						
Current use		0.11		0.03		0.03
NSAID Non-user (N=136)	21.0 (18.4, 24.0)		21.3 (19.0, 23.7)		21.2 (18.9, 23.7)	
NSAID User (N=124)	18.0 (15.7, 20.7)		17.8 (15.9, 20.0)		17.7 (15.7, 19.9)	
Secondary exposure variable						
Past 48 hour use		0.94		0.14		0.07
NSAID Non-user (N=120)	19.5 (16.9, 22.4)		20.9 (18.5, 23.5)		21.1 (18.7, 23.8)	
NSAID User (N=140)	19.6 (17.2, 22.3)		18.5 (16.5, 20.6)		18.1 (16.2, 20.3)	
Constructed exposure variable						
Consistent use		0.39		0.03		0.02
NSAID Non-user (N=96)	20.3 (17.3, 23.8)		21.5 (18.9, 24.4)		21.4 (18.8, 24.4)	
NSAID User (N=100)	18.4 (15.8, 21.5)		17.5 (15.4, 19.8)		17.2 (15.1, 19.6)	

#### Table 13. Unadjusted and adjusted geometric mean estradiol levels (95% confidence interval) according to NSAID use

NOTE: NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; BMI, body mass index. Current use: Based on participant's medication list. Past 48 hour use: Participant's verbal response to the question, "Have you taken an aspirin or other anti-inflammatory drug in the past 48 hours?" Consistent NSAID use: The agreement between current NSAID and past 48 hours use.

\*Unadjusted model

†Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous) and BMI (continuous)

Missing N=7; Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous), BMI (continuous), race (white, nonwhite), years menopausal (continuous), and current alcohol intake (none, <12 g, >12 g, indicator variable)



Figure 5. Adjusted geometrc mean estradol according to self-reported NSAID use

Serum total estradiol was adjusted for age at blood draw, BMI, race, years menopausal, and current alcohol intake in a general linear model (n=7 missing data). No/No=Participant's current medication list did not indicate use of a NSAID and the participant verbally responded that she did not take aspirin or an anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (n=96). No/Yes=Participant's current medication list did not indicate use of a NSAID, but participant verbally responded that she took aspirin or an anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (n=96). No/Yes=Participant's current medication list did not indicate use of a NSAID, but participant verbally responded that she took aspirin or an anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (n=40). Yes/No=Participant's current medication list indicated use of a NSAID, but the participant verbally responded that she did not take aspirin or an anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (n=24). Yes/Yes=Participant's current medication list indicated use of a NSAID, and the participant verbally responded that she did not take aspirin or an anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (n=100).

# 5.0 ARTICLE THREE: ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND MAMMOGRAPHIC BREAST DENSITY

To be submitted for publication

Alana G. Hudson<sup>1</sup>, Francesmary Modugno<sup>1</sup>, John W. Wilson<sup>2</sup>, Rhobert W. Evans<sup>1</sup>, Victor G. Vogel<sup>3, 4</sup>, Gretchen L. Gierach<sup>5</sup>, Jennifer Simpson<sup>1</sup>, and Joel L.Weissfeld<sup>1, 4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biostatistics, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>4</sup>University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

<sup>5</sup> Cancer Prevention Fellowship Program, Office of Preventive Oncology, Division of Cancer Prevention, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland

# 5.1 ABSTRACT

Diets low in omega-6 (n-6) fatty acids and/or rich in omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids may protect against breast cancer development. Mammographic breast density is one of the strongest risk factors for breast cancer, and may be affected by dietary intake. Therefore, the aim of this study was to examine the association between the essential n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic breast features, specifically percent breast density, dense breast area, and nondense area of the breast. Data were included from 248 breast cancer free, postmenopausal women who were not using hormone therapy. Mammographic breast density, dense area of the breast and nondense areas of the breast were assessed by planimetry. Fatty acids in erythrocytes were measured by gas-liquid chromatography. Spearman's rank order correlation coefficients were used to evaluate the relationships between fatty acid measures and mammographic characteristics. Erythrocyte n-6 fatty acids, n-3 fatty acids, and the n-6:n-3 ratios were not associated with percent breast density or dense area of the breast before or after adjustment for age and body mass index (BMI). Several fatty acid measures were associated with the nondense area of the breast; however, the associations did not persist after controlling for the effects of age and BMI. This is the first study to report on the relationship between erythrocyte fatty acids and mammographic features. These results suggest that if n-6 and n-3 fatty acids influence breast cancer development then the effect may not be through influencing mammographic breast density.

# 5.2 INTRODUCTION

Over the past two decades, mammographic breast density has become acknowledged as one of the strongest, independent risk factors for breast cancer. The majority of epidemiological studies report approximately a four- to six-fold increased risk of breast cancer when comparing women with extensive areas of density to women whose breasts are composed primarily of fatty tissue [110, 23]. Moreover, increased density also reduces the sensitivity of screening mammography [336, 337], thus it is important to identify factors that can reduce dense breast tissue. Several characteristics that have been related with increased density have also been linked to increased breast cancer risk, such as nulliparity, late age at first full term birth, late age of menopause, and hormone therapy (HT) use [70, 65, 72]. Data also exist suggesting that dietary habits can influence breast density [278, 280], though this area of research has not been sufficiently explored.

Experimental and epidemiological studies have found a positive association between n-6 fatty acids and an inverse association between n-3 fatty acids with the risk of breast cancer [252, 253, 264, 266]. Additionally metabolic byproducts of the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids have also been linked with breast cancer. Both n-6 and n-3 fatty acids serve as substrates for prostaglandins. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), a metabolic product of n-6 arachidonic acid (AA; 20:4n-6) metabolism, is unregulated in breast tumors [185-187]. On the contrary, the prostaglandin product of n-3 eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; 20:5n-3) metabolism is of the 3 series (PGE3) and is not a potent stimulator of breast cancer cell growth [176]. One potential mechanism through which these essential fatty acids could influence breast density is via increased estrogen production within the breast. PGE2 stimulates the CYP19 gene [200] which is transcribed and translated into aromatase, the key enzyme in the biosynthesis of estrogen in postmenopausal women [203]. Although circulating levels of estrogen in postmenopausal women drop substantially after the menopause, tissue levels of estrogen are considerably greater than even premenopausal tissue levels, which is likely the result of aromatase activity [328]. Dense areas of the breast are believed to represent proliferation of breast epithelial and/or stromal tissue [339]. Estrogen, a steroid hormone with known mitogenic effects, drives cellular division in breast epithelial cells [340]. Thus, excessive intake of n-6 fatty acids may increase breast cell proliferation via localized estrogen exposure which may be reflected on a mammogram by areas of density. On the other hand, consumption of n-3 fatty acids results in reduced PGE2 synthesis, and therefore may not amplify estrogen production or cellular division within the breast.

There are few studies that have assessed the role of the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids on mammographic breast density. N-6 intake has been associated with increased density [281], and n-3 intake with reduced density [282], however findings are not consistent [279, 281-283]. All studies, thus far, have measured dietary fat intake via self-report dietary assessment instruments, and limitations of these assessment tools and nutrient composition tables are well-known. Biomarkers of the essential n-6 and n-3 fatty acid intake have the advantage of being free of error due to human memory and can reflect recent intake of individual fatty acids [161]. Therefore, in the present study, we

examined the associations between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids with percent mammographic breast density and other mammographic characteristics.

#### 5.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 5.3.1 Study Population

The data presented were collected as part of the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS), the methods of which have previously been reported [296]. The MAMS is a case-control study of estrogen metabolites, mammographic breast density and breast cancer risk. MAMS recruited a total of 869 cancer-free women and 264 recently diagnosed breast cancer cases through the Magee Womens Hospital Mammographic Screening and Diagnostic Imaging Program in the Pittsburgh area (Pennsylvania, USA) during 2001-2005. Study participants were women aged 18 years or older who reported no previous personal history of cancer, with the exception of nonmelanoma skin cancer. Only MAMS controls who were recruited via study flyers (n=453) attached to screened negative mammogram reports (2003-2005) were included in the present analysis, as these participants completed a self-administered questionnaire on the day of blood draw. Prior to enrollment, written informed consent and a signed mammogram release form were obtained from each woman. The MAMS protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Pittsburgh.

#### 5.3.2 Subsample Selection

In addition to the above eligibility criteria of the parent study, the participants were only selected for this ancillary study if they met the following entry criteria: postmenopausal (having had no menstrual bleeding during prior year or having undergone a bilateral oophorectomy); no use of hormone therapy (HT) within 3 months of study enrollment; and not using vaginal estrogen creams, oral contraceptives, corticosteroids or selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) at blood sampling. Additionally, because MAMS utilized routine mammograms, the timing of the film does not coincide with the timing of the baseline blood draw, therefore participants whose time between film date and blood date was greater than 120 days (~4 months), the lifetime of a red blood cell, were also excluded. Of those who were excluded, 98 were premenopausal, 84 were using exogenous hormones, corticosteroids or SERMs, 1 control was later diagnosed with breast cancer, and 13 participants did not have an available mammogram taken within 120 days of blood draw. Additionally, we excluded 9 participants with estradiol levels greater than 150pmol/L as it indicated they might be pre- or peri-menopasual, or misreported current hormone use. Two hundred forty-eight women met the inclusion criteria for the present analysis.

# 5.3.3 Data Collection

A standardized, self-administered questionnaire was administered at blood sampling, and collected information on participant demographics, current use of medications and supplements, reproductive history, family history of breast cancer, past hormone therapy

use, and various lifestyle habits (smoking status and alcohol intake). Participants who reported using aspirin, COX-2 inhibitors, or other non-aspirin NSAIDs were considered "current NSAID users." Participants who did not list using any of these agents on the questionnaire were considered "current NSAID non-users." Regular alcohol use (grams/day) in the past year was calculated as previously reported [298]. Age was defined as a participant's age at the time of blood draw, rather than her age at mammogram. Age of menopause was calculated as the age at last natural menstrual bleeding or bilateral oophorectomy. However, for a hysterectomized woman without a bilateral oophorectomy, age at menopause corresponded to the earliest age at which she began using HT or first had menopausal symptoms. If neither occurred and her age at hysterectomy was 50 years or older, then age at menopause was her age at hysterectomy [299]. Years since menopause were calculated by subtracting a woman's age at menopause from her age at study enrollment.

Height and weight were measured by trained clinical staff, after participants removed shoes and heavy clothing. Weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using a standard balance beam. Standing height was measured at full inspiration to the nearest 0.1 cm. The measurements were repeated, and the average of the values was used in the analyses. Weight and height measurements were used to calculate body mass index (BMI, weight in kg divided by height in meters squared ( $m^2$ )).

A 40 mL non-fasting blood sample was donated by each participant. Samples were processed immediately on site according to a standardized protocol. After processing, the samples were fractioned into 1 mL cryovials of red blood cell, serum, plasma and buffy coat aliquots. Samples were stored at or below -70°C until assayed.

101

#### 5.3.4 Erythrocyte Fatty Acid Analysis

Fatty acids in erythrocytes were analyzed by gas-liquid chromatography at the University of Pittsburgh's Heinz Laboratory. Total lipids (500µl of packed red blood cells) were extracted as previously described [300]. In brief, the samples and an internal standard were homogenized in 4 ml of methanol. Two ml of chloroform and 1.1 ml of water were added to the samples after 15 min. The samples were centrifuged at 1200 g for 30 min at 16°C and the upper phase of the sample was discarded. The lower phase was dried under nitrogen and resuspended in 1.5 ml 14% boron trifluoride methanol. Samples were heated at 90°C for 40 min and extracted after cooling with 4.0 ml pentane and 1.5 ml water. The samples were vortexed and the organic phase recovered [301]. The extracts were dried under nitrogen, resuspended in 50 µl heptane and 2 ul injected into a capillary column (SP-2380, 105 m x 53 mm ID, 0.20 um film thickness). Gas chromatographic analyses were performed with a Perkin Elmer Clarus 500 equipped with a flame ionization detector. The operating conditions were: oven temperatures programmed at 140°C for 35 min, 8°C/min to 220°C, and held for 12 min; the injector and detector temperatures were both at 260°C; and helium, the carrier gas, was at 15 psi. Fatty acid identification was based on the retention time data obtained for the authentic standards (Sigma). Erythrocyte fatty acids are expressed as a percentage by weight of total fatty acids. Inter-assay coefficients of variations (CV) were calculated from 27 masked duplicate samples. The inter-assay coefficients of variation for the erythrocyte fatty acid measures reported ranged from 1.7-15.2%. CVs's were 1.7% for linoleic acid (LA; 18:2n-6), 3.4 % for AA, and 1.7% for total n-6 fatty acids. CV's were 15.2% for alphalinolenic acid (ALA; 18:3n-3), 5.3% for EPA, 7.5% for docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; 22:6n-3) and 5.3% for total n-3 fatty acids. The CVs for the total n-6:n-3, LA:ALA, AA:EPA, and AA:EPA+DHA ratios were 5.2%, 11.1%, 4.5% and 5.7% respectively.

#### 5.3.5 Mammographic Breast Density Assessment

The craniocaudal view of the mammographic film corresponding closest to the participant's date of blood draw was obtained and copied after radiologic evaluation had ruled out malignancy. The film copies were deidentified and sent to a single expert reviewer (Ms. Martine Salane) for assessment of breast density. A transparent overlay was placed on top of the film, and using a wax pencil, the reviewer outlined the total area of the breast and areas of dense tissue. Biopsy scars, Cooper's ligaments and breast masses were not considered in the reading. Next, using a compensating planimeter (LASICO, Los Angeles, CA), the reviewer traced the outlined areas to compute total area of the breast  $(cm^2)$  and dense breast area  $(cm^2)$ . Percent breast density was calculated by dividing the dense breast area by the total area of the breast multiplied by 100. Nondense area (cm<sup>2</sup>) of the breast was determined by subtracting dense breast area from the total area of the breast. To determine the reproducibility of the mammographic readings twenty-one randomly selected mammograms (7 from each tertile of density) were read blindly a second time by the reader and the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated. The ICC was calculated from an F value that was derived by dividing the mean square error terms for the between-participant variance by that of the withinparticipant variance. Calculated ICC values were excellent at  $\rho=0.92$ ,  $\rho=0.99$  and  $\rho=0.96$ for area of density, total area of the breast, and percent breast density, respectively.

Mammograms were also visually assessed for quality of film (excellent, good, fair, and poor).

#### 5.3.6 Statistical Analyses

Percent breast density, dense breast area, and nondense area of the breast were examined as continuous variables. Descriptive results for selected, participant characteristics are expressed as a mean and standard deviation (SD) or as a frequency and percentage (%). Medians and interquartile ranges were determined for the mammographic features. Differences in continuous variables between tertiles of percent density were determined using Kruskal-Wallis. Differences in categorical variables between tertiles of breast density were compared using the chi-square analysis, unless expected cell sizes were less than 5, in which case the Fisher's exact test was used. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to determine the relationship between percent breast density, dense breast area, and nondense area of the breast; a square root transformation was applied to the three mammographic features to normalize distributions for this statistical test. Correlation relationships between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acid measures and mammographic characteristics were examined with Spearman's correlation coefficients, with no adjustments and adjusting for the effects of age and BMI. Data were analyzed using SAS statistical program version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). All statistical tests were two-sided, and an alpha level of 0.05 was set a priori in order to determine statistical significance.

#### 5.4 RESULTS

As shown in **Table 14**, the mean (SD) age of the study population was 63.0 (8.4) years, mean BMI was 28.6 (6.1) kg/m<sup>2</sup>, the mean time since menopause was 14.3 (10.1) years, and 93.6% were white. The average time interval between the mammogram and blood collection was 35 days, with a range of 8-114 days (data not shown). The median (interquartile range) percent breast density was 23.7 (13.4 to 39.7)%, dense area was 35.8 (21.7 to 54.6) cm<sup>2</sup>, and nondense breast area was 104.2 (65.2 to 169.2) cm<sup>2</sup>. Percent mammographic density was strongly correlated with both dense breast area (r=0.80; p<0.0001) and nondense area of the breast (r=-0.77; p<0.0001) (**Table 15**).

The characteristics of the study participants, by tertiles of percent breast density, are shown in **Table 16**. Women with denser breasts were more likely to have reported prior HT use, regular use of alcohol in the past year, and had a breast biopsy. Contrary to prior reports, parous women in our population who breastfed for more than 1 month had greater percent breast density. BMI, time since menopause, and current use of cigarettes were inversely related with percent breast density. Although, a significant difference was noted for age at menopause across tertiles of density, the relationship between the two variables was not clear.

Mean erythrocyte fatty acid compositions for the participants are described in **Table 17**. Study participants had a greater concentration of n-6 fatty acids as compared to n-3 fatty acids incorporated into their erythroctytes. The mean (SD) total n-6 fatty acids was 38.3 (2.6)% and total n-3 was 7.9 (2.1)%. N-6 AA and LA were the most abundant fatty acids, with AA composing 16.1 (1.9)% of the total erythrocyte fatty acid

content and LA 15.8 (2.4)%. Of the n-3 fatty acids, DHA accounted for the greatest percentage of the total fatty acids at 4.5 (1.5)%.

Unadjusted and adjusted Spearman rank correlation coefficients were determined and presented in **Table 18**. No association was observed between any one of the erythrocyte fatty acid measures and percent breast density or dense breast area in either the unadjusted or adjusted analyses. N-6 LA, total n-3 and all individual n-3 fatty acids were inversely correlated with nondense area of the breast before adjustments were made for age and BMI. However, none of these associations persisted after adjusting for these variables. The n-6:n-3 ratios were all positively and significantly correlated with nondense area of the breast, but associations diminished after correcting for covariates. Adjustment for additional factors in a general linear model did not produce any statistically significant findings (**Appendix C**).

In a secondary analysis, we excluded participants (n=128) whose date of mammogram was more than 30 days before blood sampling as well as participants whose mammographic films were rated as poor quality. Findings did not differ substantially (**Appendix C**).

#### 5.5 CONCLUSIONS

In this cross-sectional investigation, we assessed the association between the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and percent breast density and other mammographic features. To our knowledge, we are the first to report on these relationships. In contrast with what we had predicted, no association was found between any fatty acid measure and percent

breast density. Further, a relationship was not observed between the n-6 or the n-3 fatty acids and dense breast area. These null associations remained after limiting the study population to women whose mammograms were taken within 30 days of blood draw. Although several fatty acid measures were significantly related to nondense area of the breast, these associations disappeared after controlling for the confounding effects of age and BMI.

A few epidemiological studies have reported on the association between dietary intake of the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic breast density, and all measured diet via self-report. Women with the highest mammographic density pattern reported significantly higher consumption of n-6 PUFAs when compared to women with the lowest mammographic pattern [281]; however, another study reported no association between the n-6 fatty acid LA and breast density [282]. No difference in breast density was observed when comparing quartiles of total n-3 intake or long chain n-3 fatty acids [279, 281, 283]. Consumption of fish, which is typically high in the long chain n-3 fatty acids, has not been linked to mammographic density in postmenopausal women [282-284]. Only one study has investigated the effects of the n-3 fatty acid, ALA, with breast density and a significant inverse association was observed [282].

Several limitations of this study should be mentioned. First, blood was not drawn on the same day that the mammogram was taken (range 8-114 days); however, erythrocyte n-3 and n-6 fatty acids reflect dietary intake over the preceding weeks or months [161]. Further, the dietary intake within our study population may have been too similar to detect a difference in mammographic features. Study results have reduced generalizibility due to the study population being entirely postmenopausal and predominately white. The cross-sectional nature of this study does not allow temporal relationships between fatty acid intake and mammographic characteristics to be established. Finally, as information on NSAID use at the time of mammogram was not collected, we were unable to accurately determine if the relationship between erythrocyte fatty acid measures and breast density is modified by NSAID use (**Appendix C**). This may be of some concern given that differences in the strengths of the relationships between fatty acid measures and estradiol concentrations differed by NSAID use in this population (Research article 1, unpublished data). Study strengths include the use of a single expert reader with excellent reproducibility for breast density assessment, the use of a validated biochemical marker of dietary n-6 and n-3 fatty acids which is capable of reflecting recent dietary intake [161], and standardized measurement of participant characteristics.

In conclusion, in the present study we found no evidence of an association between n-6 or n-3 fatty acids and mammographic breast density in postmenopausal women. Thus our results suggest that if the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids affect the risk of breast cancer, it may not be through altering mammographic breast density. However, considering the biological plausibility of an association between the essential n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and breast density and the study limitations noted above, further studies are necessary to confirm these findings. Understanding the possible influences of dietary intake on mammographic breast density may contribute understanding to the etiology of breast cancer, and could aid in improving the sensitivity of mammograms, which are hindered by dense breast tissue [341].

Characteristics (N=248)	
Means (SD)	
Age at blood sampling (years)	63.0 (8.4)
Age at menopause (years)*	48.7 (5.2)
Years menopausal*	14.3 (10.1)
BMI $(kg/m^2)$	28.6 (6.1)
Frequencies (%)	
Race	
White	232 (93.6)
Non-white	16 (6.5)
Age at menarche (years)*	
<12	47 (19.0)
12-13	139 (56.3)
≥13	61 (24.7)
Family history of breast cancer* †	
No	214 (87.0)
Yes	32 (13.0)
Surgical Menopause*	
No	221 (89.5)
Yes	26 (10.5)
Past hormone therapy use	
No	97 (39.1)
Yes	151 (60.9)
Past year regular alcohol intake (g/day)	
None	179 (72.2)
<12	45 (18.2)
≥12	24 (9.7)
Current Smoker	
No	234 (94.4)
Yes	14 (5.7)
Current NSAID use	
No	129 (52.2)
Yes	119 (47.8)
Ever pregnant	
No	41 (16.5)
Yes	207 (83.5)

Table 14. Selected demographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle characteristics of the study population

Table 14 (continued)

Characteristics				
Number of live births‡				
1	28 (14.1)			
2	83 (41.7)			
≥3	88 (44.2)			
Age at first full term pregnancy‡				
<30	163 (81.9)			
≥30	36 (18.1)			
Ever breastfed >1 month‡				
No	103 (51.8)			
Yes	96 (48.2)			
Ever breast biopsy				
No	212 (85.5)			
Yes	36 (14.5)			
Median (IOR)				
Percent breast density	23.7 (13.4 - 39.7)			
Dense breast area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	35.8 (21.7 - 54.6)			
Nondense breast area $(cm^2)$ 104.2 $(65.2 - 169.2)$				
NOTE: Percentages (%) may not add up to 100% due to rounding. BMI, body mass				
index; NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; IQR, interquartile range				
*missing n=6 for age at menopause, n=6 for years menopausal, n=1 for age at menarche				
n=2 for family history of breast cancer, and n=1 for surgical menopause				

 $\dagger family$  history of breast cancer in mother of sister

‡ among parous women

	Dense breast area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Nondense breast area (cm <sup>2</sup> )
Percent breast density	0.80 (<0.0001)	-0.77 (<0.0001)
Dense breast area (cm <sup>2</sup> )		-0.28 (<0.0001)
37	0 1 1	

Table 15. Pearson's correlation coefficients between mammographic features

Note: A square root transformation was applied to percent breast density, dense breast area, and nondense breast area

	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3	
Characteristics (n=248)	(<16.46)	(16.47-34.24)	(≥34.25)	р
Means (SD)				1
Age at blood sampling (years)	64.1 (8.7)	62.7 (8.2)	62.2 (8.1)	0.31
Age at menopause (years)*	49.3 (4.7)	47.8 (5.3)	49.1 (5.4)	0.03
Years menopausal*	14.9 (9.6)	14.9 (9.8)	13.1 (10.9)	0.15
BMI $(kg/m^2)$	31.1 (6.6)	29.3 (5.7)	25.2 (4.2)	< 0.0001
Frequencies (%)				0.50
Race				0.73
White	77 (91.7)	77 (93.9)	78 (95.1)	
Non-white	7 (8.3)	5 (6.1)	4 (4.9)	
Age at menarche (years)*				0.90
<12	18 (21.7)	16 (19.5)	13 (15.9)	
12-13	46 (55.4)	46 (56.1)	47 (57.3)	
≥13	19 (22.9)	20 (24.4)	22 (26.8)	
Family history of breast cancer* †				0.44
No	69 (83.1)	72 (88.9)	73 (89.0)	
Yes	14 (16.9)	9 (11.1)	9 (11.0)	
Surgical Menopause*				0.29
No	77 (92.8)	74 (90.2)	70 (85.4)	
Yes	6 (7.2)	8 (9.8)	12 (14.6)	
Past hormone therapy use				0.05
No	40 (47.6)	24 (29.3)	33 (40.2)	
Yes	44 (52.4)	58 (70.7)	49 (59.8)	
Past year regular alcohol intake (g/day)				0.05
None	68 (81.0)	61 (74.4)	50 (61.0)	
<12 g/day	11 (13.1)	15 (18.3)	19 (23.2)	
≥12 g/day	5 (6.0)	6 (7.3)	13 (15.9)	
Current Smoker				0.13
No	76 (90.5)	80 (97.6)	78 (95.1)	
Yes	8 (9.5)	2 (2.4)	4 (4.9)	
Current NSAID use	. ,	. ,		0.77
No	45 (53.6)	40 (48.8)	44 (53.7)	
Yes	39 (46.4)	42 (51.2)	38 (46.3)	
Ever pregnant	. /	~ /	× /	0.31
No	10 (11.9)	14 (17.1)	17 (20.7)	
Yes	74 (88.1)	68 (82.9)	65 (79.3)	

Table 16. Characteristics of participants by tertile of percent breast density

# Table 16 (continued)

	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3	
Characteristics	(<16.46)	(16.47-34.24)	(≥34.25)	р
Number of live births‡				0.93
1	11 (15.3)	8 (12.3)	9 (14.5)	
2	29 (40.3)	26 (40.0)	28 (45.2)	
≥3	32 (44.4)	31 (47.7)	25 (40.3)	
Age at first full term pregnancy‡				0.32
<30	61 (84.7)	55 (84.6)	47 (75.8)	
$\geq 30$	11(15.3)	10 (15.4)	15 (24.2)	
Ever breastfed >1 month‡				0.07
No	43 (59.7)	35 (53.9)	25 (40.3)	
Yes	29 (40.3)	30 (46.2)	37 (59.7)	
Ever breast biopsy				0.02
No	79 (94.1)	68 (82.9)	65 (79.3)	
Yes	5 (6.0)	14 (17.1)	17 (20.7)	

NOTE: BMI, body mass index; NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Percentages (%) may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

\*missing n=6 for age at menopause, n=6 for years menopausal, n=1 for age at menarche,

n=2 for family history of breast cancer, and n=1 for surgical menopause

†family history of breast cancer in mother of sister

‡ among parous women

Fatty acids (wt. %)	mean (SD)
n-6 PUFAs*	
Total n-6	38.3 (2.6)
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.8 (2.4)
20:4n-6 (AA)	16.1 (1.9)
n-3 PUFAs†	
Total n-3	7.9 (2.1)
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.4)
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.5)
6:3 Ratios	
Total n-6:n-3	5.2 (1.5)
LA:ALA	72.8 (19.5)
AA:EPA	21.7 (8.9)
AA:EPA+DHA	3.3 (1.2)

 Table 17. Mean fatty acid composition in erythrocytes

NOTE: N=248. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt.%). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid

\*18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-

6+22:5n-6

18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

Fatty acids (n=248)	% breast density	dense area	nondense area
N-6 PUFAs	<b>-</b>		
Total n-6*	-0.006 (0.93)	0.001 (0.99)	0.03 (0.69)
	0.02 (0.75)	-0.01 (0.87)	-0.04 (0.51)
18:2n-6 (LA)	0.08 (0.22)	-0.04 (0.51)	-0.17 (0.006)
	-0.02 (0.78)	-0.06 (0.34)	-0.08 (0.22)
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.01 (0.85)	0.07 (0.25)	0.08 (0.23)
	0.08 (0.20)	0.08 (0.22)	-0.02 (0.79)
N-3 PUFAs			
Total n-3†	0.10 (0.11)	0.01 (0.88)	-0.18 (0.004)
	0.02 (0.77)	0.02 (0.77)	-0.04 (0.51)
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.04 (0.52)	-0.05 (0.46)	-0.12 (0.06)
	-0.04 (0.55)	-0.06 (0.39)	-0.02 (0.76)
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.07 (0.28)	-0.04 (0.48)	-0.18 (0.004)
	-0.02 (0.70)	-0.04 (0.51)	-0.05 (0.45)
22:6n-3 (DHA)	0.10 (0.12)	0.04 (0.57)	-0.14 (0.03)
	0.03 (0.64)	0.05 (0.47)	-0.02 (0.80)
6:3 Ratios			
Total n-6:n-3	-0.09 (0.15)	-0.01 (0.91)	0.16 (0.009)
	-0.01 (0.84)	-0.02 (0.78)	0.02 (0.65)
LA:ALA	-0.02 (0.75)	0.03 (0.61)	0.07 (0.29)
	0.02 (0.74)	0.03 (0.63)	0.004 (0.95)
AA:EPA	-0.06 (0.32)	0.05 (0.39)	0.19 (0.003)
	0.04 (0.51)	0.05 (0.40)	0.04 (0.52)
AA:EPA+DHA	-0.08 (0.18)	0.003 (0.96)	0.17 (0.008)
	0.01 (0.88)	-0.003 (0.96)	0.01 (0.83)

Table 18. Unadjusted and adjusted Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic characteristics

NOTE: PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alphalinolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. First line is unadjusted estimates. Partial correlations estimates adjusted for age and BMI, and appear immediately below the unadjusted correlations. P between parentheses.

\*18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

†18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

#### 6.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Breast cancer incidence rates in the United States are among the highest in the world [1]. This year alone, it is estimated that approximately 178,480 new cases of invasive and 62,030 new cases of in situ breast cancer will be diagnosed in women residing in the United States [2]. Despite substantial advances in treatment for this disease, breast cancer still ranks second in female cancer mortality [2], and therefore, it is important to identify modifiable factors associated with this disease.

One of the most investigated nutritional associations with breast cancer risk is dietary fat, yet despite decades of intensive experimental and epidemiological research, our understanding on the role of fat consumption in the etiology of breast cancer is deficient. Cross-national and migrant studies of breast cancer rates indicate that dietary fat may be partially responsible for the large population differences in breast cancer risk [6-8], yet case-control and cohort findings repeatedly produce inconsistent results [29]. It has been implicated that type of fat consumed may be more important than total fat intake, and if specific fatty acids were found to possess unique breast cancer chemopreventive properties it would help to determine the ideal proportions of each type of fat to be consumed and potentially reduce the burden of this disease. Yet, in spite of its clear public health importance, no consensus exists as to which fats are harmful and which fats are beneficial.

Research has shown circulating estradiol concentrations and mammographic breast density to be strong risk factors for postmenopausal breast cancer [41, 61]. Women with the highest levels of estradiol or highest percentage of breast density are at increased risk of developing breast cancer [41, 61]. Unlike the majority of other well-established risk factors, both circulating estradiol and breast density have been shown to be modifiable [270, 278]. Dietary habits that alter circulating estradiol levels and/or mammographic breast density may also alter breast cancer risk, although this has yet to be proven. Nonetheless, determining factors that influence these breast cancer risk factors may lead to a greater understanding of breast cancer pathogenesis.

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), the metabolic product of omega-6 (n-6) arachidonic acid (AA), stimulates biosynthesis of estrogen by upregulation of the enzyme aromatase [200]. Consumption of omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids inhibits the synthesis of PGE2 [176, 179]. Therefore, in theory, a diet rich in n-3 fatty acids and/or low in n-6 fatty acids should decrease estradiol production by suppressing PGE2 activation of aromatase. Such an event may ultimately result in a reduction of estrogen dependent breast cancer occurrence. For that reason, we sought to determine the relationship between n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and two hormonally influenced breast cancer risk factors, specifically, serum total estradiol concentrations and percent mammographic breast density. Given that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) also reduce the synthesis of PGE2 [334], we further assessed the relationship between current NSAID use and serum total estradiol concentrations. NSAID use data was not available at the time of mammogram; therefore, the relationship between NSAID use and mammographic density could not accurately be assessed.

The Mammogram and Masses Study (MAMS), a case-control study on the hormonal determinants of breast density, provided a unique opportunity to assess the relationship between fatty acids, NSAID use, and modifiable breast cancer risk factors. Our first study tested the association between the essential n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and serum total estradiol concentrations. The second study assessed the relationship between current NSAID use and serum total estradiol levels. Finally, the third study investigated the association between the erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic features. The three research projects utilized a population of breast cancer-free, postmenopausal women not using hormone therapy (HT). We are unaware of any studies that have previously reported on any one of these study aims.

# 6.1 RESEARCH ARTICLE 1

The aim of the first research article was to investigate the relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and serum total estradiol concentrations. Exposure to endogenous estrogens has been consistently linked to increased postmenopausal breast cancer risk [41]; therefore, lifestyle factors related to reducing a woman's exposure to estrogens may lead to the prevention of breast cancer. We believe this to be the first study to report on the association between fatty acids in biological specimens with circulating endogenous estradiol levels.

The study population consisted of 260 breast cancer free, postmenopausal women not using exogenous hormones who were recruited between 2003 and 2005 in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Study results revealed a statistically significant inverse association between total n-3 fatty acids and serum estradiol concentrations (p<0.05). Further, total n-6 fatty acids (p=0.02), the total n-6:n-3 ratio (p=0.06) and the ratio of n-6 arachidonic acid (AA) to n-3 fatty acids eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) + docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) (p<0.01) were positively associated with total estradiol. These statistically significant relationships were only noted among women not reporting current use of NSAIDs. Among NSAID users, the ratio of n-6 linolenic acid (LA) to n-3 alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) was positively related to estradiol concentrations (p=0.01), and was primarily a result of the inverse relationship between ALA and estradiol (p=0.05). Because circulating postmenopausal estradiol concentrations are positively related to breast cancer risk, our results provide a mechanism through which the essential n-6 and n-3 PUFAs may impact breast cancer development.

# 6.2 RESEARCH ARTICLE 2

Research article 2 assessed the relationship between current NSAID use and serum total estradiol concentrations in a population of postmenopausal women. Our interest in evaluating this association stemmed from our previous finding that n-3 fatty acids were inversely related with circulating estradiol levels. Similarly to n-3 fatty acid intake, NSAID use decreases the production of PGE2 [334], thus reducing upreguation of aromatase and hence biosynthesis of estrogen [200]. Therefore, if it is through PGE2 inhibition that n-3 fatty acids lower estradiol levels, then we would also expect to observe reduced estradiol levels among users of NSAIDs. Discovering an inverse association

between NSAID use and circulating estradiol levels would provide additional support to the mechanism proposed by which the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids are related to breast cancer.

Participants recruited between 2003 and 2005 into the MAMS study who were breast cancer free, postmenopausal, and not using exogenous hormones were selected for this ancillary study (n=260). As hypothesized, the geometric mean serum estradiol concentration among NSAID users (N=124) was significantly lower than non-users of NSAIDs (N=136) (17.8 pmol/L vs. 21.3 pmol/L; p=0.03). Lower estradiol levels were noted regardless of how NSAID use was defined (i.e. self-reported current NSAID use on questionnaire, verbal reporting of use in past 48 hours, and the agreement between these two variables).

Many studies have assessed the relationship between NSAID use and breast cancer [329], but we unaware of any published reports that document the relationship between NSAID use and circulating estradiol concentrations. The detection of lower estradiol levels among NSAID users is consistent with the notion that NSAIDs are protective against breast cancer, via reducing estrogen exposure.

#### 6.3 RESEARCH ARTICLE 3

Research article 3 evaluated the association between the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and mammographic breast density, a hormonally responsive breast cancer risk factor [72]. Breast density is believed to represent cellular division of mammary epithelial cells [339], and estrogen has been shown to drive cellular division in breast epithelial cells [340]. Therefore dense tissue, as reflected on a mammogram, may

represent the stimulatory effect of estrogen on epithelial cell proliferation. Since n-6 and n-3 fatty acids may be capable of altering estrogen synthesis, via influencing PGE2 production, these fatty acids may also influence breast density. For instance, consuming n-6 fatty acids may increase mammographic breast density by encouraging cellular proliferation via increasing estrogen production. On the contrary, intake of n-3 fatty acids may result in lower breast density, as estrogen synthesis is not stimulated and cellular division not amplified. To test the hypotheses that erythrocyte n-6 fatty acid content is positively related and erythrocyte n-3 fatty acid content is inversely related to mammographic breast density we undertook an observational study in 248 breast cancerfree women enrolled in the MAMS study. All women selected for this ancillary study were postmenopausal, reported no use of HT within 3 months of study entry, and had a mammographic exam within 120 days (the lifetime of an erythrocyte) of blood draw.

Contrary to our hypotheses, the results of this study do not support the premise that n-6 and n-3 fatty acids influence mammographic breast density. No statistically significant relationship was found between any of the fatty acids measures (n-6 fatty acids, n-3 fatty acids, and 6:3 ratios) and measurements of breast density (percent density or dense breast area). These findings suggest that if n-6 and n-3 fatty acids influence breast cancer development then the effect may not be through affecting mammographic breast density. Future studies are needed to gain a better understanding of the true relationship between the essential fatty acids and mammographic breast features.

#### 6.4 SUMMARY

In summary, we attempted to clarify the relationship between the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and NSAIDs with two well-established breast cancer risk factors, specifically, serum total estradiol concentrations and mammographic breast density. As hypothesized, we observed a positive relationship between n-6 fatty acids and serum estradiol concentrations and inverse associations between both the n-3 fatty acids and NSAID use and serum estradiol. These findings are consistent with extensive experimental data and a growing body of epidemiological evidence. Interestingly, the majority of associations observed between the essential fatty acids and estradiol concentrations were observed in NSAID nonusers, but not among current NSAID users. Contrary to our hypotheses, we did not observe an association between any one of the fatty acid measures with mammographic density (percentage or absolute). Therefore, if the n-6 and n-3 fatty acids influence breast cancer risk, it may not be through affecting breast density. To our knowledge, none of the aforementioned relationships have previously been explored.

#### 6.5 STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

Some important limitations of this study must be acknowledged. The primary weakness of this study is that it is cross-sectional in nature and does not allow us to determine temporal associations. The use of multiple measurements of fatty acids, NSAID use, serum estradiol and mammographic breast density over time might better characterize these women. Our biological samples were stored at -70°C, and reliability of erythrocyte

fatty acids at this temperature has only been reported in one study. Correlation was high for all PUFAs (r >0.90), but analyses were reported only after a 12 month time frame [342]. Some of our samples were stored for longer than one year before analysis (8 months-25 months) and we are unsure of the effects of longer storage at -70°C on the individual fatty acid levels; however, storage at -80°C for up to 48 months does not result in significant decreases in any of the n-6 or n-3 PUFAs [343]. A final weakness of this study is the homogeneity of the study population, thus potentially limiting the generalizibility of the study findings.

Regardless of the aforementioned limitations, study strengths should also be noted. Strengths of our study include the use of standardized instruments; reproducible measures of fatty acids, total estradiol and mammographic breast density; assessment of NSAID use on the same day as blood draw and; the use of a biochemical marker of dietary intake. Above all, we believe no other epidemiological study has previously explored these study aims.

# 6.6 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The findings from this project, could spawn research in multiple areas with potential research aims including, but not limited to the following: 1) establish the relationship between NSAID use and breast density; 2) investigate the relationships between fatty acids and NSAID use on modifiable breast cancer risk factors (estradiol and breast density) in premenopausal women and minority populations; 3) assess the relationship between circulating PGE2 levels and both estradiol concentrations and mammographic

breast density; 4) determine if an interaction exists between the n-6 and n-3 PUFAs, and genetic polymorphisms in the COX-2 and CYP19 (aromatase) genes with serum estradiol and breast density; 5) determine if an interaction exists between NSAID use and genetic polymorphisms in the COX-2 gene with serum estradiol and breast density; 6) test the association between fatty acids in breast adipose tissue, a long-term marker of fatty acid intake, and mammographic breast density and; 7) conduct a clinical trial assessing fish oil supplementation and NSAID use on modifiable breast cancer risk factors (estradiol and breast density).

# 7.0 PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNFICANCE

The public health burden of breast cancer is substantial, with approximately 178,480 incident invasive cases and 40,460 deaths from breast cancer expected to occur among women in 2007. Age is a major determinant of breast cancer and with a rapidly aging population the affliction of breast cancer will likely worsen. Therefore, primary prevention of this disease is a much desired and sought after public health goal.

The relationships between circulating levels of estradiol, mammographic density, and breast cancer risk are greatly documented; hence, agents capable of altering these well-established risk factors could have a substantial impact on public health. In this body of research, we observed a positive relationship between erythrocyte n-6 fatty acids and serum estradiol. We further observed inverse associations between n-3 fatty acids and NSAID use with circulating estradiol concentrations. To date, there has been no epidemiological study to investigate these relationships and the discovery of modifiable behaviors that favorably alter breast cancer risk factors is needed. If confirmed, these findings could aid in the development of chemopreventive guidelines, and ultimately prevent the development of estrogen-dependent breast cancer.

# APPENDIX A: ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND POSTMENOPAUSAL SERUM ESTRADIOL ADDITIONAL ANALYSES





# Figure A6. Distribution of erythrocyte total n-6 fatty acids in the study population.

In this boxplot, the edges of the box correspond to 25th and 75th percentiles. The horizontal line in the middle of the box corresponds to the median. The vertical bars above and below the box correspond to percentiles 10 and 90.


## Linoleic Acid (18:2n-6; LA)

Figure A7. Distribution of erythrocyte LA in the study population.



### Arachidonic Acid (20:4n-6; AA)

#### Figure A8. Distribution of erythrocyte AA in the study population.



### Total n-3

Figure A9. Distribution of erythcoyte total n-3 fatty acids in the study population.



## Alpha-linolenic Acid (18:3n-3: ALA)

#### Figure A10. Distribution of erythrocyte ALA in the study population.

In this boxplot, the edges of the box correspond to 25th and 75th percentiles. The horizontal line in the middle of the box corresponds to the median. The vertical bars above and below the box correspond to percentiles 10 and 90. Open circles beyond the box correspond to outliers (values between 1.5 and 3 box lengths from the upper or lower edge of the box) and stars correspond to extremes (values beyond 3 box lengths from the edge of the box).



### Eicosapentaenoic Acid (20:5n-3; EPA)

#### Figure A11. Distribution of erythrocyte EPA in the study population.

In this boxplot, the edges of the box correspond to 25th and 75th percentiles. The horizontal line in the middle of the box corresponds to the median. The vertical bars above and below the box correspond to percentiles 10 and 90. Open circles beyond the box correspond to outliers (values between 1.5 and 3 box lengths from the upper or lower edge of the box) and stars correspond to extremes (values beyond 3 box lengths from the edge of the box).



### Docosahexaenoic Acid (22:6n-3; DHA)

#### Figure A12. Distribution of erythrocyte DHA in the study population.



Total 6:3

#### Figure A13. Distribution of the erythrocyte total 6:3 ratio in the study population.



## LA:ALA

Figure A14. Distrubution of the erythrocyte LA:ALA ratio in the study population.



Figure A15. Distribution of the erythrocyte AA:EPA ratio in the study population.



### AA:EPA+DHA

# Figure A16. Distribution of the erythrocyte AA:EPA+DHA ratio in the study population.



Fatty Acids

Figure A17. Distribution of erythrocyte individual n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in the study population.

In this boxplot, the edges of the box correspond to 25th and 75th percentiles. The horizontal line in the middle of the box corresponds to the median. The vertical bars above and below the box correspond to percentiles 10 and 90. Open circles beyond the box correspond to outliers (values between 1.5 and 3 box lengths from the upper or lower edge of the box) and stars correspond to extremes (values beyond 3 box lengths from the edge of the box).

Fatty Acid (wt. %)	Mean (SD)	Coefficient of Variation (%)
n-6 PUFAs		
Total n-6 PUFAs*	38.3 (2.6)	1.7
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.8 (2.4)	4.6
20:4n-6 (AA)	16.0 (2.0)	3.4
n-3 PUFAs		
Total n-3 PUFAs†	7.9 (2.0)	5.3
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)	15.2
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.4)	5.3
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.5)	7.5
6:3 Ratios		
Total n-6:n-3	5.2 (1.5)	5.2
LA:ALA	72.7 (19.3)	11.1
AA:EPA	21.8 (9.0)	4.5
AA:EPA+DHA	3.3 (1.2)	5.7

Table A19. Coefficients of variation for erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

<sup>†</sup>18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

	18:3	20:2	20:3	20:4	22:4	22:5	18:3	20:4	20:5	22:5	22:6	Total	Total
	n-6	n-6	n-6	n-6	n-6	n-6	n-3	n-3	n-3	n-3	n-3	n-6*	n-3†
18:2n-6	0.16	0.29	0.14	-0.45	-0.36	-0.25	0.60	0.10	-0.06	-0.34	-0.24	0.46	-0.24
18:3n-6		-0.27	0.17	-0.10	-0.15	-0.08	0.28	0.06	0.03	-0.21	-0.29	-0.25	-0.06
20:2n-6			0.05	-0.22	0.01	-0.01	0.16	0.16	-0.17	-0.12	-0.05	0.12	-0.08
20:3n-6				-0.27	-0.01	0.19	0.04	0.47	-0.19	-0.10	-0.31	0.09	-0.28
20:4n-6					0.51	0.37	-0.38	-0.39	-0.15	0.09	-0.08	0.45	-0.09
22:4n-6						0.72	-0.36	-0.32	-0.51	-0.01	-0.44	0.42	-0.45
22:5n-6							-0.31	-0.19	-0.70	-0.22	-0.54	0.39	-0.59
18:3n-3								0.31	0.17	-0.09	-0.10	0.15	-0.01
20:4n-3									0.21	0.02	0.06	-0.25	0.13
20:5n-3										0.55	0.70	-0.42	0.82
22:5n-3											0.38	-0.29	0.57
22:6n-3												-0.49	0.96
Total n-6*													-0.51

Table A20. Spearman correlation coefficients among erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids

NOTE: Correlations coefficients calculated on 260 postmenopausal participants in the Mammograms and Masses Study (MAMS)

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

<sup>†</sup>18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

	Family h breast		
	yes	no	
Fatty Acids (wt. %)	(n=34)	(n=224)	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	38.4 (2.4)	38.3 (2.7)	0.83
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.7 (2.3)	15.8 (2.5)	0.78
20:4n-6 (AA)	16.1 (1.9)	16.0 (2.0)	0.90
Total n-3 PUFA†	8.0 (1.7)	7.9 (2.1)	0.37
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.3 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.30
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.3)	0.9 (0.5)	0.16
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.3)	4.5 (1.5)	0.83
Total n-6:n-3	5.0 (1.2)	5.3 (1.6)	0.44
LA:ALA	68.1 (16.1)	73.4 (19.8)	0.12
AA:EPA	20.0 (7.7)	22.1 (9.1)	0.20
AA:EPA+DHA	3.2 (1.0)	3.3 (1.2)	0.63

Table A21. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and family history of breast cancer

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

_	Ever hormon	e therapy use	_
	yes	no	
Fatty Acids (wt. %)	(n=160)	(n=100)	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	38.2 (2.7)	38.4 (2.6)	0.63
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.9 (2.5)	15.6 (2.3)	0.36
20:4n-6 (AA)	15.9 (2.0)	16.3 (2.0)	0.20
Total n-3 PUFA†	7.9 (2.1)	7.8 (1.9)	0.74
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.27
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.4)	0.9 (0.4)	0.35
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.6)	4.5 (1.5)	0.69
Total n-6:n-3	5.2 (1.5)	5.3 (1.5)	0.86
LA:ALA	71.8 (19.0)	74.0 (20.0)	0.47
AA:EPA	21.2 (8.9)	22.8 (9.0)	0.13
AA:EPA+DHA	3.3 (1.1)	3.4 (1.3)	0.71

 Table A22. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and postmenopausal hormone therapy use

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

	Current	smoker	
	yes	no	
Fatty Acids (wt. %)	(n=15)	(n=245)	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	39.9 (2.1)	38.2 (2.6)	0.02
18:2n-6 (LA)	16.2 (1.8)	15.8 (2.5)	0.36
20:4n-6 (AA)	16.6 (2.5)	16.0 (2.0)	0.29
Total n-3 PUFA†	6.5 (1.4)	8.0 (2.1)	0.007
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.64
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.6 (0.2)	0.9 (0.4)	0.006
22:6n-3 (DHA)	3.6 (1.2)	4.6 (1.5)	0.02
Total n-6:n-3	6.5 (1.8)	5.2 (1.5)	0.005
LA:ALA	81.3 (23.7)	72.1 (19.0)	0.16
AA:EPA	29.1 (9.0)	21.4 (8.8)	0.003
AA:EPA+DHA	4.3 (1.5)	3.3 (1.1)	0.004

Table A23. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and current smoking status

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

	Ra	ice	
Fatty Acids (wt %)	white $(n=242)$	non-white (n=18)	n
Total n 6 DIFA*	$\frac{(112+2)}{382(26)}$	39.6 (2.5)	<u> </u>
	38.2 (2.0)	39.0 (2.3)	0.03
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.8 (2.5)	16.0 (2.0)	0.54
20:4n-6 (AA)	15.9 (1.9)	17.1 (2.7)	0.08
Total n-3 PUFA <sup>†</sup>	7.8 (2.0)	8.4 (2.5)	0.39
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)	0.3 (0.1)	0.99
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.4)	0.9 (0.7)	0.53
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.5)	5.0 (1.6)	0.17
Total n-6:n-3	5.2 (1.5)	5.1 (1.4)	0.80
LA:ALA	72.6 (18.8)	73.8 (26.3)	0.97
AA:EPA	21.6 (8.7)	24.9 (11.5)	0.22
AA:EPA+DHA	3.3 (1.2)	3.2 (1.1)	0.86

 Table A24. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and race

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

	Past	_		
Fatty Acids (wt. %)	none (n=188)	<12g/day (n=46)	$\geq 12g/day$ (n=26)	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	38.5 (2.6)	38.1 (2.3)	37.0 (3.0)	0.05
18:2n-6 (LA)	15.6 (2.5)	16.7 (2.1)	15.9 (2.2)	0.01
20:4n-6 (AA)	16.3 (2.0)	15.4 (1.8)	15.2 (1.9)	0.007
Total n-3 PUFA†	7.7 (2.0)	8.2 (2.2)	8.5 (2.0)	0.07
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.2 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.3 (0.1)	0.17
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.8 (0.4)	1.0 (0.5)	1.1 (0.5)	< 0.001
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.4 (1.5)	4.7 (1.6)	4.8 (1.4)	0.22
Total n-6:n-3	5.4 (1.5)	5.0 (1.5)	4.6 (1.3)	0.04
LA:ALA	73.2 (19.2)	72.5 (19.2)	69.0 (20.8)	0.73
AA:EPA	23.3 (8.9)	18.9 (8.4)	16.3 (6.7)	< 0.0001
AA:EPA+DHA	3.5 (1.2)	3.0 (1.1)	2.8 (1.0)	0.01

Table A25. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and alcohol intake

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

Fatty Acids (wt. %)	r	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	-0.24	0.0001
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.25	< 0.0001
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.05	0.38
Total n-3 PUFA <sup>†</sup>	0.19	0.003
18:3n-3 (ALA)	-0.10	0.10
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.12	0.06
22:6n-3 (DHA)	0.19	0.002
Total n-6:n-3	-0.22	0.0003
LA:ALA	-0.05	0.42
AA:EPA	-0.10	0.12
AA:EPA+DHA	-0.16	0.01

Table A26. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and age

NOTE: Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). r=Spearman correlation coefficient. PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

Fatty Acids (wt. %)	r	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	0.12	0.05
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.11	0.08
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.10	0.12
Total n-3 PUFA <sup>†</sup>	-0.24	< 0.0001
18:3n-3 (ALA)	-0.14	0.03
20:5n-3 (EPA)	-0.21	0.0005
22:6n-3 (DHA)	-0.21	0.0006
Total n-6:n-3	0.24	0.0001
LA:ALA	0.12	0.05
AA:EPA	0.22	0.0003
AA:EPA+DHA	0.24	0.0001

Table A27. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and BMI

NOTE: Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). r=Spearman correlation coefficient. BMI, body mass index; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

Fatty Acids (wt. %)	r	р	
Total n-6 PUFA*	-0.20	0.001	
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.22	0.0004	
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.04	0.50	
Total n-3 PUFA†	0.17	0.006	
18:3n-3 (ALA)	-0.09	0.14	
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.09	0.13	
22:6n-3 (DHA)	0.18	0.004	
Total n-6:n-3	-0.20	0.002	
LA:ALA	-0.03	0.65	
AA:EPA	-0.08	0.19	
AA:EPA+DHA	-0.15	0.02	

 Table A28. Relationship between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and years since onset of menopause

NOTE: Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). r=Spearman correlation coefficient. PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

	Mean fatty a	icid (SD)	
$\Gamma_{\text{ref}} = \Lambda_{\text{ref}} = (+, 0/)$	NSAID non-users	NSAID users	
Fatty Acids (Wt. %)	(N=136)	(N=124)	р
Total n-6 PUFA*	38.3 (2.8)	38.4 (2.5)	0.79
18:2n-6 (LA)	16.0 (2.5)	15.6 (2.4)	0.27
20:4n-6 (AA)	15.8 (2.1)	16.2 (1.8)	0.11
Total n-3 PUFA†	7.8 (2.0)	8.0 (2.1)	0.51
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.3 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.04
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.9 (0.4)	0.9 (0.5)	0.26
22:6n-3 (DHA)	4.5 (1.5)	4.5 (1.5)	0.98
Total n-6:n-3	5.3 (1.5)	5.2 (1.5)	0.73
LA:ALA	70.6 (19.1)	75.0 (19.4)	0.07
AA:EPA	22.2 (9.1)	21.4 (8.9)	0.46
AA:EPA+DHA	3.3 (1.2)	3.4 (1.2)	0.65

 Table A29. Mean fatty acid composition in erythrocytes according to NSAID use

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

	NSAID 1 (N=	non-users 136)	NSAID users (N=124)	
Fatty acids (wt. %)	r	р	r	р
n-6 PUFAs				
Total n-6 PUFAs*	0.27	0.001	0.04	0.67
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.04	0.65	-0.13	0.14
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.18	0.04	0.11	0.21
n-3 PUFAs				
Total n-3 PUFAs†	-0.25	0.003	-0.18	0.04
18:3n-3 (ALA)	-0.14	0.10	-0.24	0.01
20:5n-3 (EPA)	-0.22	0.01	-0.22	0.01
22:6n-3 (DHA)	-0.22	0.009	-0.11	0.22
6:3 Ratios				
Total n-6:n-3	0.27	0.001	0.18	0.05
LA:ALA	0.16	0.07	0.23	0.01
AA:EPA	0.24	0.004	0.24	0.01
AA:EPA+DHA	0.28	0.0008	0.16	0.07

Table A30. Spearman correlation coefficients between n-6 and n-3 fatty acids in erythrocytes and serum estradiol concentrations

NOTE:). Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

	Serum estradiol (pmol/L)			
Fatty Acid (wt. %)	r	р		
14:0	-0.05	0.43		
15:0	0.14	0.03		
16:0	-0.05	0.45		
17:0	-0.01	0.89		
18:0	0.07	0.24		
16:1t	-0.01	0.82		
18:1 t-1	-0.09	0.13		
18:1 t-2	0.02	0.74		
18:1 t-3	0.02	0.80		
18:1 t-4	-0.02	0.79		
18:1 t-5	-0.09	0.14		
18:2 tt	-0.04	0.53		
16:1n7c	-0.03	0.66		
18:1n9c	-0.05	0.41		
18:1n7c	-0.11	0.08		
20:1n9	0.10	0.11		
24:1n9	0.12	0.05		

Table A31. Correlations between fatty acids and estradiol

Note: Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). r= Spearman correlation coefficient. Adjusted for age (continuous) and BMI (continuous)



Figure A18. Geometric mean serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L) by tertile of the AA:EPA+DHA ratio according to NSAID use

NOTE: AA:EPA+DHA= Arachidonic acid to Eicosapentaenoic acid+Docosahexaenoic acid ratio. A log transformation was applied to estradiol concentrations. Adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), years menopausal (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\ge 12g/day$ ) and current smoker (yes vs. no).  $\Box$  Geometric means (95% CI) of estradiol for increasing tertile of the AA:EPA+DHA ratio among participants not taking NSAIDs [17.7 (14.8, 21.1); 21.5 (17.8, 26.0); and 24.9 (20.6, 20.0)]. Geometric means (95% CI) of estradiol for increasing tertile of the AA:EPA+DHA ratio among participants taking NSAIDs [19.9 (15.7, 25.5); 16.2 (13.2, 20.0); and 18.1 (14.5, 22.7)].



Figure A19. Geometric mean serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L) by tertile of the LA:ALA ratio according to NSAID use

NOTE: LA:ALA=linoleic acid to alpha-linolenic acid ratio. log transformation was applied to estradiol concentrations. Adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), years menopausal (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\ge 12g/day$ ) and current smoker (yes vs. no).  $\Box$  Geometric means (95% CI) of estradiol for increasing tertile of the LA:ALA ratio among participants not taking NSAIDs [20.4 (17.0, 24.3); 20.5 (17.0, 24.7); and 22.4 (18.2, 27.4)]. Geometric means (95% CI) of estradiol for increasing tertile of the AA:EPA+DHA ratio among participants taking NSAIDs [14.2 (11.3, 17.9); 18.1 (14.5, 22.5); and 21.1 (17.3, 25.8)].

Fatty Acid (wt. %)	r	р
n-6 PUFAs		
Total n-6 PUFAs*	0.15	0.01
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.06	0.35
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.13	0.03
n-3 PUFAs		
Total n-3 PUFAs <sup>†</sup>	-0.21	0.0004
18:3n-3 (ALA)	-0.18	0.003
20:5n-3 (EPA)	-0.23	0.002
22:6n-3 (DHA)	-0.17	0.007
6:3 Ratios		
Total n-6:n-3	0.22	0.0003
LA:ALA	0.19	0.002
AA:EPA	0.24	< 0.0001
AA·EPA+DHA	0.21	0.0005

Table A32. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythroyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L) including 9 participants with estradiol levels >150pmol/L

\*18:2n-6+18:3n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

# APPENDIX B: NSAID USE AND SERUM TOTAL ESTRADIOL IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN ADDITIONAL ANALYSES

	Past 48 hour use			Consistent use		
Characteristic	User (N=140)	Non-user (N=120)	р	User (N=100)	Non-user (N=96)	р
Age at blood draw (years), mean (SD)	63.2 (8.6)	62.3 ( 8.1)	0.38	62.3 (8.1)	61.9 (8.1)	0.53
BMI (kg/m2), mean (SD)	29.3 (6.4)	27.5 (5.4	0.03	29.2 (6.3)	27.8 (5.7)	0.13
Age at menopause (years), mean (SD)*	48.8 (4.5)	48.6 (5.7)	0.73	48.5 (4.6)	48.3 (6.1)	0.65
Years menopausal, mean (SD)*	14.4 (9.7)	13.7 (10.4)	0.37	14.0 (10.0)	13.6 (10.7)	0.55
Surgical menopause, %*			0.23			0.26
No	90.7	85.8		88.9	83.3	
Yes	9.4	14.2		11.1	16.7	
Age at menarche, %*			0.56			0.63
<12 years	20.1	16.7		18.0	14.6	
12-13 years	57.6	55.8		62.0	60.4	
$\geq 14$ years	22.3	27.5		20.0	25.0	
Race, %			0.22			0.06
White	95.0	90.8		96.0	88.5	
Non-white	5.0	9.2		4.0	11.5	
Family history of breast cancer, %*†			0.16			0.41
No	84.1	90.0		85.7	89.6	
Yes	15.9	10.0		14.3	10.4	
Prior hormone therapy use, %			0.83			0.82
No	37.9	39.2		37.0	38.5	
Yes	62.1	60.8		63.0	61.5	
Previous breast biopsy, %			1.00			0.90
No	85.0	85.0		85.0	84.4	
Yes	15.0	15.0		15.0	15.6	

Table B33. Distribution of selected characteristics by categories of NSAID use among postmenopausal women

	Past 48 hour use			Consistent use		
Characteristic	User (N=140)	Non-user (N=120)	р	User (N=100)	Non-user (N=96)	р
Regular alcohol intake in past year, %			0.76			0.28
None	70.7	74.2		68.0	78.1	
< 12 g/day	19.3	15.8		22.0	14.6	
$\geq$ 12 g/day	10.0	10.0		10.0	7.3	
Smoking status, %			0.54			0.91
Never	61.4	60.0		63.0	63.5	
Former	34.3	32.5		32.0	30.2	
Current	4.3	7.5		5.0	6.3	
Parous, %			0.33			0.38
No	21.4	16.7		25.0	19.8	
Yes	78.6	83.3		75.0	80.2	
Age at first full-term pregnancy, % ‡			0.39			0.60
< 30 years	83.6	79.0		81.3	77.9	
$\geq$ 30 years	16.4	21.0		18.7	22.1	
Ever breast fed for $> 1$ month, $\%$ ‡			0.32			0.33
No	49.1	56.0		44.0	52.0	
Yes	50.9	44.0		56.0	48.1	

NOTE: BMI=body mass index; NSAID=nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Percentages's may not add up to 100% due to rounding \*missing n=7 for age at menopause; n=7 for years menopausal; n=1 for surgical menopause; n=1 for age at menarche; n=2 for family history of breast cancer

† family history of breast cancer in mother or sister

‡ among parous women

# Table B34. Geometric mean estradiol concentration (95% confidence interval) according to NSAID use, excluding participants in non-user group that reported taking acetaminophen and/or prescription narcotic analgesics at blood draw

_	Serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L)					
Participants (n=248)	Model 1*	р	Model 2 <sup>+</sup>	р	Model 3‡	р
Primary exposure variable						
Current use		0.11		0.03		0.03
NSAID Non-user (N=124)	21.1 (18.4, 24.2)		21.3 (19.0, 23.9)		21.2 (18.9, 23.9)	
NSAID User (N=124)	18.0 (15.7, 20.7)		17.8 (15.9, 20.0)		17.7 (15.7, 19.9)	
Constructed exposure variable						
Consistent use		0.50		0.05		0.04
NSAID Non-user (N=88)	19.9 (16.9, 23.5)		21.1 (18.4, 24.1)		21.1 (18.4, 24.1)	
NSAID User (N=100)	18.4 (15.8, 21.5)		17.5 (15.5, 19.9)		17.2 (15.1, 19.6)	

NOTE: BMI=body mass index; NSAID=nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Current use: Based on participant's medication list. Past 48 hour use: Participant's verbal response to the question, "Have you taken an aspirin or other anti-inflammatory drug in the past 48 hours?" Consistent NSAID use: The agreement between current NSAID and past 48 hours use.

\*Unadjusted model

†Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous) and BMI(continuous)

 $\ddagger$  Missing N=7; Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous), BMI (continuous), race (white, nonwhite), years menopausal (continuous), and current alcohol intake (none, <12 g/day, ≥12 g/day, indicator variable)

Table B35. Geometric mean estradiol	concentration (95% confidence interval) according to NSAID use including 9
participants with estradiol levels >150	pmol/L

Participants (n=269)		Seru	m estradiol concentration	ns (pmol/I	L)	
	Model 1*	р	Model 2†	р	Model 3‡	р
Primary exposure variable						
Current use		0.06		0.03		0.03
NSAID Non-user (N=142)	23.8 (20.4, 27.7)		24.1 (20.9, 27.7)		24.0 (20.8, 27.7)	
NSAID User (N=127)	19.2 (16.3, 22.6)		19.0 (16.4, 22.0)		18.9 (16.2, 22.0)	
Secondary exposure variable						
Past 48 hour use		0.48		0.10		0.06
NSAID Non-user (N=126)	22.5 (19.1, 26.4)		23.6 (20.3, 27.4)		23.9 (20.6, 27.8)	
NSAID User (N=143)	20.7 (17.8, 24.2)		19.8 (17.2, 22.8)		19.5 (16.9, 22.5)	
Constructed exposure variable						
Consistent use		0.16		0.03		0.03
NSAID Non-user (N=102)	24.2 (20.0, 29.2)		25.1 (21.1, 29.9)		25.1 (21.0, 30.0)	
NSAID User (N=103)	19.9 (16.5, 24.1)		19.2 (16.1, 22.8)		18.9 (15.8, 22.7)	

NOTE: BMI=body mass index; NSAID=nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Current use: Based on participant's medication list. Past 48 hour use: Participant's verbal response to the question, "Have you taken an aspirin or other anti-inflammatory drug in the past 48 hours?" Consistent NSAID use: The agreement between current NSAID and past 48 hours use.

\*Unadjusted model

†Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous) and BMI(continuous)

Missing N=7; Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous), BMI (continuous), race (white, nonwhite), years menopausal (continuous), and current alcohol intake (none, <12 g/day, >12 g/day, indicator variable)

	Serum estradiol concentrations (pmol/L)					
NSAID use	Model 1*	р	Model 2†	р	Model 3‡	р
Aspirin		0.19		0.05		0.04
Non-user (N=136)	20.8 (18.6, 23.3)		21.3 (19.2, 23.7)		21.4 (19.2, 23.8)	
User (N=58)	18.8 (14.8, 23.8)		17.6 (15.1, 20.5)		17.5 (14.9, 20.5)	
Non-Aspirin NSAIDs		0.42		0.20		0.45
Non-user (N=136)	21.0 (18.5, 24.0)		21.2 (19.0, 23.7)		20.8 (18.6, 23.3)	
User (N=32)	18.6 (14.2, 24.4)		18.0 (14.3, 22.6)		18.8 (14.8, 23.8)	

Table B36. Geometric mean estradiol concentration (95% confidence interval) according to type of NSAID use

NOTE: BMI=body mass index; NSAID=nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug.

\*Unadjusted model

†Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous) and BMI(continuous)

 $\pm$ Missing n=5 for aspirin user/nonuser analysis and N=2 for non-aspirin user/nonuser analysis; Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous), BMI (continuous), race (white, nonwhite), years menopausal (continuous), and current alcohol intake (none, <12 g/day, ≥12 g/day, indicator variable)

	Adjusted geometric mean serum estradiol (pmol/L)*					
NSAID exposure category	BMI <27.03		$BMI \ge 27.03$			
	(n=125)	р	(n=128)	р		
Current NSAID use		0.22		0.07		
NSAID Non-user	14.5 (12.5, 16.8)		30.9 (26.0, 36.6)			
NSAID User	12.6 (10.7, 14.8)		24.6 (20.6, 29.3)			
48 hour NSAID use		0.10		0.27		
NSAID Non-user	14.8 (12.8, 17.2)		30.1 (24.8, 36.5)			
NSAID User	12.3 (10.5, 14.4)		26.1 (22.2, 30.6)			
Consistent NSAID use		0.07		0.10		
NSAID Non-user	15.0 (12.5, 17.8)		30.4 (24.8, 37.2)			
NSAID User	11.7 (9.6, 14.2)		24.2 (20.1, 29.0)			

Table B37. Adjusted geometric mean estradiol concentrations (95% confidence interval)stratified by BMI subgroup according to categories of NSAID use

NOTE: BMI=body mass index; NSAID=nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Median BMI based on entire population (n=260). Interaction terms between NSAID use and BMI were not statistically significant for any of the NSAID categories (all p-values  $\geq 0.17$ ) \*Missing N=7; Adjusted for age at blood draw (continuous), BMI (continuous), race (white, nonwhite), years menopausal (continuous), and current alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\geq$ 12g/day, indicator variable).



Figure B20. Adjusted geometric mean estradiol according to self-reported NSAID use

Serum total estradiol was adjusted for age at blood draw, BMI, race, years menopausal, and current alcohol intake in a general linear model. **No/No=**Participant's current medication list did not indicate use of a NSAID and the participant verbally responded that they did not consume an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (N=96; mean=21.4; 95%CI=18.7, 24.5). **No/Yes=** Participant's current medication list did not indicate use of NSAID, but participant verbally responded that they consumed an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (N=24; mean=20.6; 95%CI=16.7, 25.4). **Yes/No=** Participant's current medication list indicated use of a NSAID, but the participant verbally responded that they did not consume an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (N=24; mean=20.6; 95%CI=16.7, 25.4). **Yes/No=** Participant's current medication list indicated use of a NSAID, but the participant verbally responded that they did not consume an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (N=40; mean=19.9; 95%CI=15.1, 26.1). **Yes/Yes=** Participant's current medication list indicated use of a NSAID, and participant verbally responded that they consumed an aspirin or anti-inflammatory agent within 48 hours of blood draw (N=100; mean=17.2; 95%CI=15.1, 19.6).

## APPENDIX C: ERYTHROCYTE OMEGA-6 AND OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND MAMMOGRAPHIC BREAST DENSITY ADDITIONAL ANALYSES
Fatty acids (wt. %)	Percent density*	p trend†	Dense area*	p trend†
n-6 PUFAs				
Total n-6 ‡		0.29		0.71
≤37.32	24.1 (20.6, 28.0)		35.9 (30.3, 41.9)	
37.33-39.49	23.7 (20.3, 27.4)		34.4 (29.1, 40.1)	
≥39.50	27.2 (23.4, 31.2)		37.5 (31.9, 43.7)	
18:2n-6 (LA)		0.32		0.20
≤14.69	27.2 (23.4, 31.2)		38.5 (32.8, 44.8)	
14.70-16.84	23.5 (20.1, 27.2)		36.3 (30.9, 42.2)	
≥16.85	24.3 (20.8, 28.1)		33.1 (27.8, 38.8)	
20:4n-6 (AA)		0.07		0.16
≤15.24	22.6 (19.3, 26.3)		31.9 (26.8, 37.5)	
15.25-16.57	24.7 (21.3, 28.5)		38.4 (32.8, 44.5)	
≥16.58	27.6 (23.8, 31.6)		37.5 (31.9, 43.6)	
n-3 PUFAs				
Total n-3 §		0.54		0.64
≤6.68	25.2 (21.6, 29.1)		36.9 (31.3, 43.0)	
6.69-8.41	26.2 (22.6, 30.0)		36.0 (30.6, 41.8)	
≥8.42	23.6 (20.1, 27.3)		34.9 (29.5, 40.8)	
18:3n-3 (ALA)		0.16		0.20
≤0.19	27.3 (23.6, 31.2)		38.8 (33.2, 44.9)	
0.20-0.25	24.0 (20.6, 27.8)		35.3 (29.9, 41.1)	
≥0.26	23.6 (20.1, 27.3)		33.6 (28.3, 39.3)	
20:5n-3 (EPA)		0.22		0.21
≤0.64	24.8 (21.2, 28.5)		36.6 (31.1, 42.6)	
0.65-0.90	28.9 (25.2, 32.9)		40.1 (34.4, 46.2)	
≥0.91	21.5 (18.3, 25.1)		31.4 (26.3, 37.0)	
22:6n-3 (DHA)		0.80		0.78
≤3.69	24.7 (21.1, 28.6)		35.1 (29.7, 41.1)	
3.70-4.86	26.1 (22.5, 30.0)		36.3 (30.9, 42.2)	
≥4.87	24.1 (20.6, 27.8)		36.3 (30.8, 42.2)	

 Table C38. Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) breast density according to tertile of erythrocyte fatty acid composition

Fatty acids	Percent density*	p for trend†	Dense area*	p for trend†
6:3 Ratios		1		<b>I</b>
Total n-6:n-3		0.21		0.57
<u>≤</u> 4.48	22.5 (19.1, 26.1)		34.3 (28.9, 40.2)	
4.49-5.73	26.7 (23.1, 30.5)		36.7 (31.3, 42.6)	
≥5.74	25.8 (22.2, 29.8)		36.7 (31.1, 42.8)	
LA:ALA		0.40		0.47
≤64.00	24.5 (21.1, 28.3)		35.8 (30.4, 41.6)	
64.01-78.05	23.7 (20.2, 27.4)		33.3 (28.1, 39.0)	
≥78.06	26.8 (23.1, 30.8)		38.8 (33.1, 45.0)	
AA:EPA		0.17		0.28
≤16.92	22.5 (19.1, 26.2)		32.6 (27.3, 38.3)	
16.93-25.89	26.1 (22.6, 30.0)		38.1 (32.6, 44.1)	
≥25.90	26.3 (22.6, 30.3)		37.1 (31.5, 43.3)	
AA:EPA+DHA		0.21		0.35
≤2.67	22.7 (19.3, 26.4)		34.1 (28.8, 40.0)	
2.68-3.77	26.2 (22.6, 30.0)		35.6 (30.2, 41.4)	
≥3.78	26.1 (22.4, 30.0)		38.1 (32.4, 44.2)	

## Table C38 (continued)

NOTE: N=248. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. Tertile cutpoints were determined from entire study population (n=248). Values were adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), age at menopause (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\geq$ 12g/day), current smoker (yes vs.no), previous breast biopsy (yes vs. no), nulliparous (yes vs. no), ever breastfed for > 1 month (yes vs. no), and past hormone therapy use (yes vs. no). 7 participants were excluded for missing variables

\*Square root transformation was applied to percent density and dense breast area † Linear trend tests were performed by treating the fatty acid tertile groups as continuous variables

 $\ddagger 18: 2n-6+18: n-6+20: 2n-6+20: 3n-6+20: 4n-6+22: 4n-6+22: 5n-6$ 

18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

Fatty acids (wt.%)	Percent density	Dense area	Nondense area
N-6 PUFAs	<u>y</u>		
Total n-6*	-0.01 (0.88)	-0.02 (0.81)	0.02 (0.81)
	0.01 (0.83)	-0.03 (0.61)	-0.05 (0.42)
18:2n-6 (LA)	0.07 (0.24)	-0.07 (0.29)	-0.19 (0.002)
	-0.03 (0.68)	-0.08 (0.20)	-0.09 (0.16)
20:4n-6 (AA)	<0.01 (0.99)	0.07 (0.25)	0.09 (0.14)
()	0.07 (0.24)	0.08 (0.23)	-0.01 (0.89)
N-3 PUFAs			
Total n-3†	0.11 (0.08)	0.04 (0.57)	-0.16 (0.008)
	0.03 (0.63)	0.05 (0.46)	< 0.01 (0.95)
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.04 (0.56)	-0.06 (0.34)	-0.13 (0.04)
	-0.04 (0.55)	-0.06 (0.30)	-0.03 (0.59)
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.06 (0.32)	-0.03 (0.59)	-0.16 (0.01)
	-0.02 (0.72)	-0.03 (0.64)	-0.03 (0.59
22.6n-3 (DHA)	0 11 (0 07)	0.07 (0.29)	-0 13 (0 04)
	0.05(0.44)	0.08(0.21)	<0.01 (0.95)
6:3 Ratios		0.00 (0.21)	0.01 (0.90)
Total n-6:n-3	-0.10 (0.11)	-0.03 (0.61)	0.15 (0.02)
	-0.03 (0.69)	-0.04 (0.48)	0.01 (0.82)
ΙΔ·ΔΙΔ	-0.02 (0.74)	0.03 (0.62)	0.07(0.27)
	0.02(0.74) 0.01(0.82)	0.03(0.62)	0.07(0.27) 0.02(0.79)
	0.01(0.02)	0.05 (0.05)	0.02 (0.77)
AA:EPA	-0.06 (0.33)	0.05 (0.46)	0.18 (0.005)
	0.04 (0.55)	0.04 (0.50)	0.03 (0.61)
ΔΔ·ΕΡΔ+DΗΔ	-0.10(0.11)	-0.02 (0.70)	0.16(0.01)
	-0.01 (0.89)	-0.03 (0.60)	<0.01 (0.97)

Table C39. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic features including 9 participants with estradiol levels >150pmol/L

NOTE: N=257. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. 1st line is unadjusted estimates. 2nd line is estimates adjusted for age and BMI. P between parentheses. \*18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6 +18:n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

ajs mom stood and t			
Percent density	Dense area	Nondense area	
-0.03 (0.77)	-0.03 (0.77)	0.10 (0.26)	
0.14 (0.13)	0.10 (0.27)	-0.08 (0.37)	
-0.10 (0.27)	-0.04 (0.66)	0.14 (0.12)	
-0.03 (0.77)	-0.004 (0.96)	-0.04 (0.64)	
0.15 (0.11)	0.15 (0.11)	-0.07 (0.46)	
0.05 (0.60)	0.05 (0.60)	-0.11 (0.22)	
-0.03 (0.73)	-0.01 (0.92)	-0.02 (0.79)	
0.02 (0.85)	0.001 (0.99)	0.06 (0.51)	
-0.12 (0.21)	-0.12 (0.19)	0.06 (0.49)	
-0.08 (0.40)	-0.07 (0.45)	0.15 (0.11)	
-0.01 (0.92)	-0.01 (0.90)	0.08 (0.41)	
	Percent density           -0.03 (0.77)           0.14 (0.13)           -0.10 (0.27)           -0.15 (0.11)           0.05 (0.60)           -0.03 (0.73)           0.02 (0.85)           -0.12 (0.21)           -0.08 (0.40)           -0.01 (0.92)	Percent densityDense area $-0.03 (0.77)$ $-0.03 (0.77)$ $0.14 (0.13)$ $0.10 (0.27)$ $-0.10 (0.27)$ $-0.04 (0.66)$ $-0.03 (0.77)$ $-0.04 (0.96)$ $0.15 (0.11)$ $0.15 (0.11)$ $0.05 (0.60)$ $0.05 (0.60)$ $-0.03 (0.73)$ $-0.01 (0.92)$ $0.02 (0.85)$ $0.001 (0.99)$ $-0.12 (0.21)$ $-0.12 (0.19)$ $-0.08 (0.40)$ $-0.07 (0.45)$ $-0.01 (0.92)$ $-0.01 (0.90)$	Percent densityDense areaNondense area $-0.03 (0.77)$ $-0.03 (0.77)$ $0.10 (0.26)$ $0.14 (0.13)$ $0.10 (0.27)$ $-0.08 (0.37)$ $-0.10 (0.27)$ $-0.04 (0.66)$ $0.14 (0.12)$ $-0.03 (0.77)$ $-0.004 (0.96)$ $-0.04 (0.64)$ $0.15 (0.11)$ $0.15 (0.11)$ $-0.07 (0.46)$ $0.05 (0.60)$ $0.05 (0.60)$ $-0.01 (0.92)$ $-0.03 (0.73)$ $-0.01 (0.92)$ $-0.02 (0.79)$

Table C40. Partial Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and mammographic characteristics among women (n=120) whose date of mammogram was <30 days from blood draw and film quality not rated as poor

NOTE: N=120. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. Adjusted for age (continuous) and BMI (continuous). P values between parentheses

\*18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

†18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

Mammographic feature (n=248)		NSAID non-user	NSAID user	р
Percent breast density	Model 1*	24.2 (21.0, 27.6)	25.2 (21.8, 28.8)	0.69
	Model 2†	24.1 (21.3, 27.1)	25.2 (22.2, 28.4)	0.60
	Model 3‡	24.6 (21.8, 27.5)	25.4 (22.4, 28.5)	0.72
Dense area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Model 1*	34.6 (30.3, 39.1)	36.5 (32.0, 41.4)	0.55
	Model 2†	34.6 (30.3, 39.1)	36.5 (32.0, 41.4)	0.55
	Model 3‡	35.0 (30.8, 39.5)	37.0 (32.4, 41.9)	0.54
Nondense area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Model 1*	117.6 (104.9, 131.1)	111.0 (98.1, 124.7)	0.49
	Model 2†	118.2 (109.2, 127.6)	110.4 (101.4, 119.9)	0.24
	Model 3‡	116.6 (107.8 125.7)	110.8 (101.7, 120.2)	0.38

Table C41. Mammographic features by self-reported current NSAID use

NOTE: NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. A square root transformation was applied to percent breast density, dense area, and nondense area of the breast

\*Model 1 unadjusted

†Model 2 adjusted for age (continuous) and BMI (continuous)

Model 3 adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), age at menopause (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day, ≥12g/day), current smoker (yes vs.no), previous breast biopsy (yes vs. no), nulliparous (yes vs. no), ever breastfed for > 1 month (yes vs. no), and past hormone therapy use (yes vs. no)

		NSAID non-user (n=129)		NSAID user (n=119)		
	% density	dense areas	nondense areas	% density	dense areas	nondense areas
N-6 PUFAs						
Total n-6*	0.02 (0.84)	-0.02 (0.80)	0.05 (0.58)	0.02 (0.86)	0.01 (0.89)	-0.02 (0.83)
18:2n-6 (LA)	-0.01 (0.95)	-0.08 (0.38)	-0.09 (0.29)	-0.03 (0.75)	-0.02 (0.85)	-0.05 (0.59)
20:4n-6 (AA)	0.13 (0.15)	-0.03 (0.76)	-0.03 (0.76)	0.03 (0.72)	0.01 (0.91)	0.002 (0.98)
Total n-3†	0.10 (0.25)	0.04 (0.63)	-0.12 (0.17)	-0.06 (0.53)	-0.01 (0.89)	0.04 (0.65)
18:3n-3 (ALA)	0.003 (0.97)	-0.07 (0.45)	-0.12 (0.20)	-0.08 (0.41)	-0.03 (0.75)	0.07 (0.44)
20:5n-3 (EPA)	0.12 (0.18)	0.05 (0.59)	-0.14 (0.12)	-0.16 (0.09)	-0.12 (0.18)	0.05 (0.60)
22:6n-3 (DHA) 6:3 Patios	0.10 (0.25)	0.07 (0.43)	-0.09 (0.34)	-0.03 (0.74)	0.02 (0.82)	0.04 (0.64)
Total n-6:n-3	-0.08 (0.39)	-0.04 (0.68)	0.09 (0.30)	0.05 (0.63)	0.01 (0.93)	-0.03 (0.73)
LA:ALA	-0.04 (0.68)	0.03 (0.76)	0.13 (0.15)	0.09 (0.32)	0.05 (0.63)	-0.12 (0.21)
AA:EPA	-0.06 (0.50)	0.01 (0.94)	0.11 (0.20)	0.15 (0.11)	0.11 (0.26)	-0.05 (0.60)
	-0.04(0.62)	-0.003 (0.98)	0.08 (0.35)	0.05 (0.58)	-0.002 (0.98)	-0.04(0.65)

Table C42. Partial Spearman correlations between erythrocyte fatty acids and mammographic features by current NSAID use

AA:EPA+DHA -0.04 (0.62) -0.003 (0.98) 0.08 (0.35) 0.05 (0.58) -0.002 (0.98) -0.04 (0.65) NOTE: Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. Adjusted for age (continuous) and BMI (continuous). P values between parentheses

\*18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

 $\dagger 18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3$ 

Fatty acids (wt. %)	Percent density*	p for trend†	Dense area (cm <sup>2</sup> )*	p for trend†
n-6 PUFAs				
Total n-6 ‡		0.35		0.84
≤37.32	23.0 (18.7, 27.8)		34.3 (27.5, 41.8)	
37.33-39.49	23.5 (18.8, 28.8)		34.3 (27.0, 42.5)	
≥39.50	26.5 (21.6, 31.9)		35.4 (28.2, 43.5)	
18:2n-6 (LA)		0.26		0.17
≤14.69	28.3 (23.0, 34.2)		38.7 (30.7, 47.5)	
14.70-16.84	21.8 (17.6, 26.3)		35.3 (28.5, 42.8)	
≥16.85	23.8 (19.3, 28.8)		30.9 (24.3, 38.2)	
20:4n-6 (AA)		0.04		0.07
≤15.24	21.1 (17.2, 25.4)		29.1 (23.3, 35.6)	
15.25-16.57	24.7 (19.7, 30.4)		39.1 (31.1, 48.1)	
≥16.58	27.9 (22.9, 33.4)		37.7 (30.4, 45.8)	
n-3 PUFAs				
Total n-3 §		0.65		0.78
≤6.68	21.7 (17.2, 26.7)		34.1 (26.9, 42.2)	
6.69-8.41	27.9 (23.1, 33.2)		37.2 (30.0, 45.1)	
≥8.42	23.5 (18.9, 28.5)		32.7 (25.8, 40.5)	
18:3n-3 (ALA)		0.29		0.36
≤0.19	26.3 (21.4, 31.7)		36.8 (29.5, 45.0)	
0.20-0.25	24.4 (19.6, 29.6)		35.5 (28.2, 43.6)	
≥0.26	22.7 (18.5, 27.3)		32.2 (25.9, 39.2)	
20:5n-3 (EPA)		0.34		0.78
≤0.64	20.3 (16.3, 24.8)		31.2 (24.7, 38.4)	
0.65-0.90	30.0 (25.0, 35.4)		40.9 (33.4, 49.2)	
≥0.91	23.3 (18.8, 28.3)		32.3 (25.5, 40.0)	
22:6n-3 (DHA)		0.41		0.71
≤3.69	22.5 (18.1, 27.4)		33.6 (26.7, 41.3)	
3.70-4.86	25.3 (20.2, 30.9)		34.8 (27.2, 43.2)	
≥4.87	25.4 (20.8, 30.5)		35.7 (28.7, 43.4)	

Table C43. Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) percent breast density according to tertile of erythrocyte fatty acid composition among participants reporting no current NSAID use

Fatty acids (wt. %)	Percent density*	p for trend†	Dense area*	p for trend†
6:3 Ratios				
Total n-6:n-3		0.76		0.82
<u>≤</u> 4.48	23.1 (18.5, 28.1)		34.5 (27.4, 42.4)	
4.49-5.73	26.0 (21.1, 31.4)		33.7 (26.6, 41.6)	
≥5.74	24.0 (19.3, 29.3)		35.9 (28.4, 44.2)	
LA:ALA		0.87		0.87
≤64.00	24.4 (20.1, 29.1)		34.4 (28.0, 41.6)	
64.01-78.05	24.8 (20.0, 30.1)		36.2 (28.8, 44.4)	
≥78.06	23.8 (18.9, 29.2)		33.4 (26.0, 41.6)	
AA:EPA		0.90		0.69
≤16.92	23.2 (18.9, 28.0)		32.4 (25.9, 39.7)	
16.93-25.89	26.8 (21.7, 32.4)		38.0 (30.3, 46.6)	
≥25.90	23.4 (18.8, 28.5)		34.2 (27.1, 42.1)	
AA:EPA+DHA		0.71		0.40
≤2.67	23.2 (18.9, 27.9)		32.9 (26.4, 40.1)	
2.68-3.77	25.8 (20.9, 31.1)		34.0 (26.9, 41.9)	
≥3.78	24.4 (19.7, 29.6)		37.5 (30.0, 45.8)	

 Table C43 (continued)

NOTE: N=127. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. Tertile cutpoints were determined from entire study population (n=248). Values were adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), age at menopause (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\geq$ 12g/day), current smoker (yes vs.no), previous breast biopsy (yes vs. no), nulliparous (yes vs. no), ever breastfed for > 1 month (yes vs. no), past hormone therapy use (yes vs. no).

\*Square root transformation was applied to percent density and dense breast area

† Linear trend tests were performed by treating the fatty acid tertile groups as continuous variables ‡18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

Fatty acids (wt.%)	Percent density*	p for trend†	Dense area (cm <sup>2</sup> )*	p for trend†
n-6 PUFAs				
Total n-6 ‡		0.50		0.76
≤37.32	25.5 (19.5, 32.3)		38.7 (29.2, 49.7)	
37.33-39.49	23.5 (18.6, 29.0)		33.6 (26.0, 42.1)	
≥39.50	28.6 (22.5, 35.4)		40.8 (31.4, 51.4)	
18:2n-6 (LA)		0.92		0.81
≤14.69	25.8 (20.4, 31.9)		38.3 (29.8, 47.9)	
14.70-16.84	25.8 (20.1, 32.2)		36.9 (28.1, 46.9)	
≥16.85	25.4 (19.8, 31.8)		36.7 (28.0, 46.6)	
20:4n-6 (AA)	25.4 (19.2, 32.3)	0.75	37.1 (27.5, 48.1)	0.95
≤15.24	25.0 (20.1, 30.6)		38.1 (30.2, 47.0)	
15.25-16.57	26.8 (21.0, 33.2)		36.7 (27.9, 46.6)	
≥16.58				
n-3 PUFAs				
Total n-3 §		0.28		0.84
≤6.68	29.4 (23.4, 36.2)		40.2 (31.1, 50.6)	
6.69-8.41	23.3 (18.1, 29.2)		33.1 (25.0, 42.3)	
≥8.42	24.5 (19.0, 30.6)		38.8 (29.9, 48.9)	
18:3n-3 (ALA)		0.56		0.53
≤0.19	27.7 (22.2, 33.8)		40.3 (31.7, 49.9)	
0.20-0.25	24.0 (18.9, 29.8)		35.4 (27.3, 44.5)	
≥0.26	25.3 (19.3, 32.0)		36.1 (26.9, 46.7)	
20:5n-3 (EPA)		0.01		0.08
≤0.64	31.1 (24.9, 38.0)		43.6 (34.0, 54.5)	
0.65-0.90	26.8 (21.3, 33.0)		38.1 (29.4, 47.9)	
≥0.91	20.2 (15.4, 25.6)		31.4 (23.5, 40.3)	
22:6n-3 (DHA)		0.32		0.82
≤3.69	28.1 (21.9, 35.1)		37.6 (28.3, 48.2)	
3.70-4 86	25.7 (20.4 31.5)		35.7 (27 7 44 7)	
≥4.87	23.5 (18.0, 29.8)		39.2 (29.9, 49.8)	

Table C44. Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) mammographic features according to tertile of erythrocyte fatty acid composition among women reporting NSAID use at blood draw

Fatty acids (wt.%)	Percent density†	p for trend‡	Dense area†	p for trend:
6:3 Ratios		1 7		1 7
Total n-6:n-3		0.13		0.55
≤4.48	22.0 (16.7, 28.0)		34.9 (26.3, 44.9)	
4.49-5.73	26.4 (21.0, 32.5)		37.9 (29.4, 47.5)	
≥5.74	28.8 (22.8, 35.4)		39.2 (30.2, 49.4)	
ΤΑ·ΑΤΑ		0.21		0.24
LA.ALA <64.00	24.1(18.4, 20.6)	0.21	26 1 (27 1 16 7)	0.24
<u>~</u> 04.00 64.01 78.05	24.1(18.4, 30.0) 23.4(18.2, 20.1)		30.4(27.4, 40.7)	
>79.06	23.4(10.5, 29.1)		51.9(24.2, 40.0)	
≥/8.06	29.3. (23.7, 35.4)		43.8 (33.0, 33.3)	
AA:EPA		0.09		0.34
≤16.92	22.1 (16.5, 28.6)		33.9 (24.8, 44.4)	
16.93-25.89	24.9 (19.8, 30.6)		37.0 (28.9, 46.0)	
≥25.90	30.0 (18.9, 28.6)		41.0 (31.7, 51.6)	
AA EPA+DHA		0.24		0.76
<2.67	22.9 (17.0.29.7)	0.21	37 4 (27 6 48 7)	0.70
2 68-3 77	253(199313)		35 4 (27 2 44 6)	
≥3.78	28.4 (22.5, 35.1)		39.5 (30.4, 49.7)	

Table C44 (continued)

NOTE: N=114. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt.%). NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; LA, linoleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ALA, alpha-linolenic acid; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; and DHA, docosahexaenoic acid. Tertile cutpoints were determined from entire study population (n=248). Values were adjusted for age (continuous), BMI (continuous), age at menopause (continuous), alcohol intake (none, <12g/day,  $\geq$ 12g/day), current smoker (yes vs.no), previous breast biopsy (yes vs. no), nulliparous (yes vs. no), ever breastfed for > 1 month (yes vs. no), past hormone therapy use (yes vs. no).

\*Square root transformation was applied to percent density and dense breast area

† Linear trend tests were performed by treating the fatty acid tertile groups as continuous variables ‡18:2n-6+18:n-6+20:2n-6+20:3n-6+20:4n-6+22:4n-6+22:5n-6

§18:3n-3+20:4n-3+20:5n-3+22:5n-3+22:6n-3

	Percent breast density	Dense breast area	Nondense breast area
Fatty acid (wt. %)	r (p)	r (p)	r (p)
14.0	-0.04 (0.50)	-0.07 (0.24)	0.02 (0.81)
15.0	0.07 (0.27)	-0.07 (0.28)	-0.02 (0.71)
16.0	0.003 (0.96)	-0.02 (0.76)	0.005 (0.94)
17.0	0.10 (0.12)	0.13 (0.05)	-0.02 (0.77)
18.0	-0.02 (0.78)	0.001 (0.99)	0.004 (0.96)
16:1t	-0.05 (0.40)	-0.07 (0.30)	0.03 (0.61)
18:1 t-1	-0.07 (0.25)	-0.07 (0.29)	0.05 (0.46)
18:1 t-2	-0.09 (0.17)	-0.05 (0.41)	0.12 (0.06)
18:1 t-3	-0.13 (0.05)	-0.10 (0.13)	0.12 (0.06)
18:1 t-4	-0.13 (0.05)	-0.09 (0.14)	0.10 (0.10)
18:1 t-5	-0.12 (0.07)	-0.09 (0.14)	0.11 (0.10)
18:2 tt	-0.08 (0.21)	-0.14 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.87)
16:1n7c	-0.001 (0.98)	-0.04 (0.55)	0.009 (0.89)
18:1n9c	0.02 (0.80)	0.01 (0.84)	0.007 (0.92)
18:1n7c	0.05 (0.47)	0.04 (0.55)	0.02 (0.81)
20:1n9	-0.02 (0.71)	-0.01 (0.84)	0.06 (0.37)
24:1n9	0.04 (0.55)	0.08 (0.21)	0.02 (0.79)

Table C45. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte fatty acids not of the n-6 or n-3 families and mammographic features

NOTE: N=248. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). Adjusted for age (continuous) and BMI (continuous)

	Percent breast density	Dense breast area	Nondense breast area
Fatty acid (wt.%)	r (p)	r (p)	r (p)
14.0	0.03 (0.73)	-0.02 (0.87)	-0.04 (0.68)
15.0	0.15 (0.11)	0.15 (0.10)	-0.05 (0.62)
16.0	0.03 (0.77)	-0.01 (0.93)	-0.02 (0.80)
17.0	0.13 (0.17)	0.17 (0.07)	-0.06 (0.49)
18.0	-0.10 (0.28)	-0.06 (0.53)	0.05 (0.56)
16:1t	0.03 (0.76)	-0.01 (0.93)	-0.07 (0.47)
18:1 t-1	0.02 (0.87)	-0.02 (0.81)	-0.08 (0.41)
18:1 t-2	-0.12 (0.20)	-0.14 (0.13)	0.06 (0.55)
18:1 t-3	-0.14 (0.14)	-0.14 (0.13)	0.08 (0.37)
18:1 t-4	-0.16 (0.07)	-0.18 (0.05)	0.06 (0.52)
18:1 t-5	-0.11 (0.22)	-0.10 (0.29)	0.10 (0.30)
18:2 tt	-0.02 (0.79)	-0.16 (0.08)	-0.12 (0.20)
16:1n7c	0.10 (0.29)	0.02 (0.79)	-0.06 (0.51)
18:1n9c	0.23 (0.01)	0.12 (0.20)	-0.25 (0.01)
18:1n7c	0.10 (0.29)	0.04 (0.67)	-0.06 (0.53)
20:1n9	0.09 (0.32)	0.03 (0.75)	-0.01 (0.89)
24:1n9	-0.14 (0.14)	-0.05 (0.61)	0.22 (0.20)

Table C46. Spearman correlation coefficients between erythrocyte fatty acids not of the n-6 or n-3 families and mammographic features among women whose date of mammogram was <30 days from blood draw and film quality not rated as poor

NOTE: N=120. Fatty acids are reported as a percentage by weight of the total fatty acids (weight percent, wt. %). Adjusted for age (continuous) and BMI (continuous)

	Serum estradiol			
Mammographic characteristic	r*	р	r†	р
Percent breast density	-0.29	< 0.0001	-0.08	0.24
Dense breast area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	-0.06	0.37	-0.07	0.29
Nondense breast area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	0.42	< 0.0001	0.08	0.19

## Table C47. Spearman's correlation coefficients between serum estradiol concentration and mammographic features

\*Unadjusted Spearman's correlation coefficients

†Age- and BMI-adjusted Spearman's correlation coefficients

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Ferlay J., et al. "GLOBOCAN 2002." <u>Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence</u> <u>Worldwide</u> IARC CancerBase No. 5, version 2.0. IARC Press, Lyon, 2004.
- 2. American Cancer Society Inc "Cancer Facts and Figures 2006." <u>Atlanta: American Cancer</u> <u>Society.</u>
- "Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, (www.seer.cancer.gov) SEER\*Stat Database: Incidence - SEER 17 Regs Public-Use, Nov 2005 Sub (2000-2003), National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, Cancer Statistics Branch, released April 2006, based on the November 2005 submission."
- 4. National Cancer Institute (1999). "Facts About Breast Cancer and Mammograms."
- 5. IARC. Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide (2002 estimates), GLOBOCAN 2002: 2006 Accessed.
- 6. Shimizu, H., et al. (1991). "Cancers of the prostate and breast among Japanese and white immigrants in Los Angeles County." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **63**(6): 963-6.
- 7. Ziegler, R. G., et al. (1993). "Migration patterns and breast cancer risk in Asian-American women." J Natl Cancer Inst **85**(22): 1819-27.
- 8. Stanford, J. L., et al. (1995). "Breast cancer incidence in Asian migrants to the United States and their descendants." Epidemiology **6**(2): 181-3.
- 9. Rockhill, B., et al. (1998). "Population attributable fraction estimation for established breast cancer risk factors: considering the issues of high prevalence and unmodifiability." <u>dAm J Epidemiol</u> **147**(9): 826-833.
- 10. "Familial breast cancer: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 52 epidemiological studies including 58,209 women with breast cancer and 101,986 women without the disease." (2001). Lancet **358**(9291): 1389-99.

- 11. Hartmann, L. C., et al. (2005). "Benign breast disease and the risk of breast cancer." <u>N</u> Engl J Med **353**(3): 229-237.
- 12. Clavel-Chapelon, F. (2002). "Differential effects of reproductive factors on the risk of preand postmenopausal breast cancer. Results from a large cohort of French women." <u>Br J</u> <u>Cancer</u> **86**(5): 723-7.
- 13. Martin, R. M., et al. (2005). "Breast-feeding and cancer: the Boyd Orr cohort and a systematic review with meta-analysis." J Natl Cancer Inst **97**(19): 1446-57.
- Beral, V., et al. (2004). "Breast cancer and abortion: collaborative reanalysis of data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 83,000 women with breast cancer from 16 countries." <u>Lancet</u> 363(9414): 1007-16.
- 15. Titus-Ernstoff, L., et al. (1998). "Menstrual factors in relation to breast cancer risk." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 7(9): 783-9.
- 16. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. (1996) "Breast cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 53,297 women with breast cancer and 100,239 women without breast cancer from 54 epidemiological studies." Lancet **347**(9017): 1713-27.
- 17. Chlebowski, R., et al. (2003). "Influence of estrogen plus progestin on breast cancer and mammography in healthy postmenopausal women: The Women's Health Initiative Randomized Trial." JAMA **289**(24): 3243-3253.
- Kaaks, R., et al. (2005). "Postmenopausal serum androgens, oestrogens and breast cancer risk: the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition." <u>Endocr Relat</u> <u>Cancer</u> 12(4): 1071-82.
- 19. "Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies." (2002). J Natl Cancer Inst **94**(8): 606-16.
- 20. Muti, P., et al. (2000). "Estrogen metabolism and risk of breast cancer: a prospective study of the 2:16alpha-hydroxyestrone ratio in premenopausal and postmenopausal women." Epidemiology **11**(6): 635-40.
- 21. Renehan, A. G., et al. (2004). "Insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF binding protein-3, and cancer risk: systematic review and meta-regression analysis." Lancet **363**(9418): 1346-53.

- 22. Zmuda, J. M., et al. (2001). "Bone mass and breast cancer risk in older women: differences by stage at diagnosis." J Natl Cancer Inst **93**: 930-936.
- 23. Boyd, N. F., et al. (1995). "Quantitative classification of mammographic densities and breast cancer risk: results from the Canadian National Breast Screening Study." J Natl Cancer Inst **87**(9): 670-5.
- 24. van den Brandt, P. A., et al. (2000). "Pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies on height, weight, and breast cancer risk." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **152**(6): 514-527.
- 25. Marcus, P. M., et al. (2000). "The associations of adolescent cigarette smoking, alcoholic beverage consumption, environmental tobacco smoke, and ionizing radiation with subsequent breast cancer risk (United States)." <u>Cancer Causes Control</u> **11**(3): 271-8.
- 26. John, E.M., et al. (2003). "Lifetime physical activity and breast cancer risk in a multiethnic population: the San Francisco Bay area breast cancer study." <u>Cancer Epidemiol</u> <u>Biomarkers Prev</u> **12**(11): 1143-52.
- 27. Cui, Y., et al. (2006). "Cigarette smoking and breast cancer risk: update of a prospective cohort study." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> **100**(3): 293-9.
- 28. Hamajima, N., et al. (2002). "Alcohol, tobacco and breast cancer--collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 58,515 women with breast cancer and 95,067 women without the disease." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **87**(11): 1234-45.
- 29. Boyd, N.F., et al. (2003). "Dietary fat and breast cancer risk revisited: a meta-analysis of the published literature." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **89**: 1672-1685.
- 30. Trock, B. J., et al. (2006). "Meta-analysis of soy intake and breast cancer risk." J Natl Cancer Inst **98**(7): 459-71.
- McCullough, M. L., et al. (2005). "Dairy, calcium, and vitamin D intake and postmenopausal breast cancer risk in the Cancer Prevention Study II Nutrition Cohort." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(12): 2898-904.
- 32. Zhang, S., et al. (1999). "A prospective study of folate intake and the risk of breast cancer." JAMA **281**(17): 1632-7.
- 33. van Gils, C. H., et al. (2005). "Consumption of vegetables and fruits and risk of breast cancer." JAMA **293**(2): 183-93.
- 34. Megdal, S. P., et al. (2005). "Night work and breast cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis." <u>Eur J Cancer</u> **41**(13): 2023-32.

- 35. Williams, G., et al. (1991). "Oral contraceptive (OCP) use increases proliferation and decreases oestrogen receptor content of epithelial cells in the normal human breast." Int J Cancer **48**(2): 206-10.
- 36. Lilienfeld, A. M. (1956). "The relationship of cancer of the female breast to artificial menopause and martial status." <u>Cancer</u> **9**(5): 927-34.
- 37. Beral, V. (2003). "Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study." Lancet **362**(9382): 419-27.
- 38. The Women's Health Initiative Steering Committee (2004). "Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: The Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Trial." JAMA **291**(14): 1701-1712.
- 39. Chen, W. Y., et al. (2006). "Unopposed estrogen therapy and the risk of invasive breast cancer." <u>Arch Intern Med</u> **166**(9): 1027-32.
- 40. Cauley, J. A., et al. (1999). "Elevated serum estradiol and testosterone concentrations are associated with a high risk for breast cancer. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." <u>Ann Intern Med</u> **130**(4): 270-7.
- 41. Endogenous Hormones and Breast Cancer Collaborative Group (2002). "Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies." J Natl Cancer Inst 94(8): 606-616.
- 42. Fisher, B., et al. (1998). "Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study." JNCI Cancer Spectrum **90**(18): 1371-1388.
- 43. Cummings, S. R., et al. (2002). "Serum estradiol level and risk of breast cancer during treatment with raloxifene." JAMA **287**(2): 216-220.
- 44. Lippman, M. E., et al. (2001). "Indicators of lifetime estrogen exposure: effect on breast cancer incidence and interaction with raloxifene therapy in the multiple outcomes of raloxifene evaluation study participants." J Clin Oncol **19**(12): 3111-6.
- 45. Garland, C. F., et al. (1992). "Sex hormones and postmenopausal breast cancer: a prospective study in an adult community." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **135**(11): 1220-30.
- 46. Helzlsouer, K. J., et al. (1994). "A prospective study of endogenous hormones and breast cancer." <u>Cancer Detect Prev</u> **18**(2): 79-85.

- 47. Berrino, F., et al. (1996). "Serum sex hormone levels after menopause and subsequent breast cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **88**(5): 291-6.
- 48. Dorgan, J. F., et al. (1996). "Relation of prediagnostic serum estrogen and androgen levels to breast cancer risk." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **5**(7): 533-9.
- 49. Thomas, H. V., et al. (1997). "A prospective study of endogenous serum hormone concentrations and breast cancer risk in post-menopausal women on the island of Guernsey." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **76**(3): 401-5.
- 50. Hankinson, S. E., et al. (1998). "Plasma sex steroid hormone levels and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women." J Natl Cancer Inst **90**(17): 1292-9.
- 51. Kabuto, M., et al. (2000). "A prospective study of estradiol and breast cancer in Japanese women." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **9**(6): 575-9.
- 52. Missmer, S. A., et al. (2004). "Endogenous estrogen, androgen, and progesterone concentrations and breast cancer risk among postmenopausal women." J Natl Cancer Inst **96**(24): 1856-65.
- 53. Zeleniuch-Jacquotte, A., et al. (2004). "Postmenopausal levels of oestrogen, androgen, and SHBG and breast cancer: long-term results of a prospective study." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **90**(1): 153-9.
- 54. Kaaks, R., et al. (2005). "Serum sex steroids in premenopausal women and breast cancer risk within the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)." J Natl Cancer Inst **97**(10): 755-65.
- 55. Bird, R.E., et al. (1992). "Analysis of cancer missed screening mammography." <u>Radiol</u> **184**: 613-617.
- 56. Wolfe, J. N. (1976). "Risk for breast cancer development determined by mammographic parenchymal pattern." <u>Cancer</u> **37**(5): 2486-92.
- 57. Gram, I.T., et al. (1997). "The Tabar classification of mammographic parenchymal patterns." <u>Eur J Radiol</u> 24(2): 131-6.
- 58. Wolfe J. N., et al. (1987). "Mammographic parenchymal patterns and quantitative evaluation of mammographic densities: a case-control study." <u>AJR</u> **148**(6): 1087-92.
- 59. Byng, J. W., et al. (1998). "Analysis of mammographic density and breast cancer risk from digitized mammograms." <u>Radiographics</u> **18**(6): 1587-98.

- 60. Warner, E., et al. (1992). "The risk of breast cancer associated with mammographic parenchymal patterns: a meta-analysis of the published literature to examine the effect of method of classification." <u>Cancer Detection & Prevention</u> **16**(1): 67-72.
- 61. McCormack, V. A. and dos Santos, S. I. (2006). "Breast density and parenchymal patterns as markers of breast cancer risk: A meta-analysis." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 15(6): 1159-1169.
- 62. Boyd, N. F., et al. (1998). "Mammographic densities and breast cancer risk." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 7(12): 1133-44.
- 63. Ursin, G., et al. (2003). "Mammographic density and breast cancer in three ethnic groups." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **12**(4): 332-8.
- 64. Titus-Ernstoff, L., et al. (2006). "Breast cancer risk factors in relation to breast density." <u>Cancer Causes Control</u> 17(10): 1281-90.
- 65. de Waard, F., et al. (1984). "Breast cancer risk associated with reproductive factors and breast parenchymal patterns." J Natl Cancer Inst **72**(6): 1277-82.
- 66. Gram, I.T., et al. (1995). "Reproductive and menstrual factors in relation to mammographic parenchymal patterns among perimenopausal women." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 71(3): 647-50.
- 67. Kaufman, Z., et al. (1991). "The mammographic parenchymal patterns of nulliparous women and women with a family history of breast cancer." <u>Clin Radiol</u> **43**(6): 385-8.
- 68. Bergkvist, L., et al. (1987). "Epidemiologic determinants of the mammographic parenchymal pattern. A population-based study within a mammographic screening program." <u>Am. J. Epidemiol</u> **126**(6): 1075-81.
- 69. Vachon, C. M., et al. (2000). "Association of mammographically defined percent breast density with epidemiologic risk factors for breast cancer (United States)." <u>Cancer Cause Control</u> **11**(7): 653-62.
- 70. Ernster, V. L., et al. (1980). "Mammographic parenchymal patterns and risk factors for breast cancer." <u>Radiology</u> **134**(3): 617-20.
- Chen, F. P., et al. (2005). "The relationship between mammographic density and duration of hormone therapy: effects of estrogen and estrogen-progestin." <u>Hum Reprod</u> 20(6): 1741-5.

- 72. Christodoulakos, G. E., et al. (2003). "The effect of various regimens of hormone replacement therapy on mammographic breast density." <u>Maturitas</u> **45**(2): 109-18.
- 73. Colacurci, N., et al. (2001). "Effects of a short-term suspension of hormone replacement therapy on mammographic density." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **76**(3): 451-5.
- 74. Christodoulakos, G. E., et al. "The effect of low dose hormone therapy on mammographic breast density." <u>Maturitas</u> **5** (1): p. 78-85.
- 75. Conner, P., et al. (2004). "Mammographic breast density, hormones, and growth factors during continuous combined hormone therapy." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **81**(6): 1617-23.
- 76. Greendale, G. A., et al. (2003). "Postmenopausal hormone therapy and change in mammographic density." J Natl Cancer Inst **95**(1): 30-7.
- 77. Harvey, J., et al. (2005). "Hormone replacement therapy and breast density changes." <u>Climacteric</u> **8**(2): 185-92.
- 78. Leung, W., et al. (1997). "Mammographic density in women on postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy." <u>Surgery</u> **122**(4): 669-73; discussion 673-4.
- 79. Lundstrom, E., et al. (1999). "Mammographic breast density during hormone replacement therapy: differences according to treatment." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **181**(2): 348-52.
- 80. Fiorica, J. (2001). "Association between changes in hormone replacement therapy and breast density." JAMA **285**(14): 1839-40.
- Lundstrom, E., et al. (2002). "Effects of tibolone and continuous combined hormone replacement therapy on mammographic breast density." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> 186(4): 717-22.
- 82. Marchesoni, D., et al. (2006). "Postmenopausal hormone therapy and mammographic breast density." <u>Maturitas</u> **53**(1): 59-64.
- Rutter, C. M., et al. (2001). "Changes in breast density associated with initiation, discontinuation, and continuing use of hormone replacement therapy." JAMA 285(2): 171-6.
- 84. Sendag, F., et al. (2001). "Mammographic density changes during different postmenopausal hormone replacement therapies." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **76**(3): 445-50.

- 85. Aiello, E. J., et al. (2006). "Do breast cancer risk factors modify the association between hormone therapy and mammographic breast density? (United States)." <u>Cancer Causes Control</u> **17**(10): 1227-35.
- 86. Brisson, J., et al. (2000). "Tamoxifen and mammographic breast densities." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 9(9): 911-5.
- 87. Atkinson, C., et al. (1999). "Mammographic patterns as a predictive biomarker of breast cancer risk: effect of tamoxifen." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **8**(10): 863-6.
- Freedman, M., et al. (2001). "Digitized mammography: a clinical trial of postmenopausal women randomly assigned to receive raloxifene, estrogen, or placebo." J Natl Cancer Inst 93(1): 51-6.
- 89. Cuzick, J., et al. (2004). "Tamoxifen and breast density in women at increased risk of breast cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **96**(8): 621-628.
- 90. Lasco, A., et al. (2006). "Effect of long-term treatment with raloxifene on mammary density in postmenopausal women." <u>Menopause</u>.**13** (5) 787-92.
- 91. Gao, J.N., et al. "Change in mammographic density after cessation of tamoxifen results from international breast cancer intervention study I (IBIS I)." <u>In Proceedings of the 29th</u> <u>Annual Meeting of the San Antonio Bredast Cancer Symposium</u>; 2006 Dec 14-17; San Antonio, TX: SABCS; 2006. Abstract.
- 92. Gram, I. T., et al. (2002). "Oral contraceptive use and mammographic patterns." <u>Eur J</u> <u>Cancer Prev</u> 11(3): 265-70.
- 93. Ursin, G., et al. (2001). "Mammographic density changes during the menstrual cycle." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **10**(2): 141-2.
- 94. Buist, D.S., et al. (2006). "Mammographic breast density, dense area, and breast area differences by phase in the menstrual cycle." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **15**(11): 2303-6.
- 95. Greendale, G. A., et al. (2005). "The association of endogenous sex steroids and sex steroid binding proteins with mammographic density: results from the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions Mammographic Density Study." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **162**(9): 826-34.
- 96. Tamimi, R. M., et al. (2005). "Endogenous sex hormone levels and mammographic density among postmenopausal women." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(11): 2641-2647.

- 97. Aiello, E. J., et al. (2005). "Associations among Circulating Sex Hormones, Insulin-Like Growth Factor, Lipids, and Mammographic Density in Postmenopausal Women." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(6): 1411-1417.
- 98. Boyd, N. F., et al. (2002). "The association of breast mitogens with mammographic densities." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 87(8): 876-82.
- 99. Warren, R., et al. (2006). "Associations among mammographic density, circulating sex hormones, and polymorphisms in sex hormone metabolism genes in postmenopausal women." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **15**(8): 1502-8.
- 100. Buist, D. S., et al. (2004). "The relationship between breast density and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women." <u>Cancer</u> **101**(9): 1968-76.
- Crandall, C., et al. (2005). "Positive association between mammographic breast density and bone mineral density in the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions Study." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> 7(6): R922 - R928.
- 102. Kerlikowske, K., et al. (2005). "Are breast density and bone mineral density independent risk factors for breast cancer?" J Natl Cancer Inst **97**(5): 368-374.
- 103. Boyd, N. F., et al. (1982). "Mammographic signs as risk factors for breast cancer." <u>Br J</u> <u>Cancer</u> 45(2): 185-93.
- 104. Brisson, J., et al. (1982). "Mammographic features of the breast and breast cancer risk." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **115**(3): 428-37.
- 105. Brisson, J., et al. (1984). "Height and weight, mammographic features of breast tissue, and breast cancer risk." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **119**(3): 371-81.
- 106. Brisson, J., et al. (1989). "Diet, mammographic features of breast tissue, and breast cancer risk." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **130**(1): 14-24.
- 107. Maskarinec, G. and Meng. L. (2000). "A case-control study of mammographic densities in Hawaii." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> **63**(2): 153-61.
- Saftlas, A. F., et al. (1991). "Mammographic densities and risk of breast cancer." <u>Cancer</u> 67(11): 2833-8.
- Kato, I., et al. (1995). "A nested case-control study of mammographic patterns, breast volume, and breast cancer (New York City, NY, United States)." <u>Cancer Causes Control</u> 6(5): 431-8.

- 110. Byrne, C., et al. (1995). "Mammographic features and breast cancer risk: effects with time, age, and menopause status." J Natl Cancer Inst **87**(21): 1622-9.
- 111. van Gils, C. H.,, et al. (1999). "Changes in mammographic breast density and concomitant changes in breast cancer risk." <u>Eur J Cancer Prev</u> **8**(6): 509-15.
- 112. Maskarinec, G., et al. (2005). "Mammographic density and breast cancer risk." <u>Am. J.</u> <u>Epidemiol</u> **162**(8):743-52.
- Thomas, D. B., et al. (2002). "Risk of subsequent breast cancer in relation to characteristics of screening mammograms from women less than 50 years of age." <u>Cancer Epidemiol</u> <u>Biomarkers Prev</u> 11(6): 565-71.
- 114. Torres-Mejia, G., et al. (2005). "Mammographic features and subsequent risk of breast cancer: a comparison of qualitative and quantitative evaluations in the Guernsey prospective studies." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(5): 1052-9.
- 115. Curtis-Prior, P. B. (2004). <u>The Eicosanoids</u>. Chichester, England ; Hoboken, NJ, John Wiley & Sons.
- 116. Groof, J. and Gropper, S. (2000). Lipids. <u>Advanced Nutrition and Human Metabolism</u>. Belmont, Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- 117. Simopoulos, A. (1991). "Fatty acids in health and disease and in growth and development." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **54**: 438-463.
- 118. Lands, W., et al (1990). "Changing dietary patterns." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 51: 991-993.
- 119. Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Panel on Macronutrients. and Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes. (2005). <u>Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol,</u> <u>protein, and amino acids</u>. Washington, D.C., National Academies Press.
- Emken, E.A., et al. (1994). "Dietary linoleic acid influences desaturation and acylation of deuterium-labeled linoleic and linolenic acids in young adult males." <u>Biochim Biophys</u> <u>Acta</u> 1213(3): 277-88.
- 121. Pawlosky, R. J., et al. (2001). "Physiological compartmental analysis of alpha-linolenic acid metabolism in adult humans." J Lipid Res **42**(8): 1257-65.
- 122. Kris-Etherton, P. M., et al. (2000). "Polyunsaturated fatty acids in the food chain in the United States." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **71**(1 Suppl): 179S-88S.

- 123. Food and Nutrition Board Institute of Medicine (2005). Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids (Macronutrients). Washington, DC, National Academy Press.
- 124. Simopoulos, A.P. and Salem Jr., N. (1992). "Egg yolk as a source of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in infant feeding." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **55**(2): 411-4.
- 125. Aggelousis, G. and Lazos, E.S., (1991). "Fatty acid composition of the lipids from eight freshwater fish species from Greece." J Food Compos Anal 4: 68–76.
- 126. Aro, T., et al. (2000). "Effects of season and processing on oil content and fatty acids of baltic herring (Clupea harengus membras)." J Agric Food Chem **48**(12): 6085-93.
- 127. Cengiz, E. I., Unlu E., and Bhasan M. (2003). "The effects of dietary fatty acids on the fatty acid composition in the phospholipid fraction of gambusia affinis." <u>Turk J Biol</u> 27: 145-48.
- 128. Bingham, S. et al. (2003). "Are imprecise methods obscuring a relation between fat and breast cancer?" Lancet **362**(9379): 212-4.
- 129. Greenwald, P. (1999). "Role of dietary fat in the causation of breast cancer: point." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 8(1): 3-7.
- Potischman, N. (2003). "Biologic and methodologic issues for nutritional biomarkers." J Nutr 133 Suppl 3: 875S-880S.
- 131. Prentice, R. L. (2003). "Dietary assessment and the reliability of nutritional epidemiology reports." Lancet **362**(9379): 182-3.
- 132. Hebert, J.R., et al. (1997). "Gender differences in social desirability and social approval bias in dietary self-report." Am J Epidemiol **146**: 1046-1055.
- Innis, S., Kuhnlein, H.V., and Kinloch, D. (1988). "The composition of red cell membrane phospholipids in Canadian Inuit consuming a diet high in marine mammals." <u>Lipids</u> 23(11): 1064-8.
- 134. Sun, Q., et al. (2007). "Comparison between plasma and erythrocyte fatty acid content as biomarkers of fatty acid intake in US women." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **86**(1): 74-81.
- 135. Vermunt, S.H., et al. (2000). "Effects of dietary alpha-linolenic acid on the conversion and oxidation of 13C-alpha-linolenic acid." Lipids **35**: 137-142.

- 136. Key, T.J., et al. (1990). "The relationship of free fatty acids with the binding of oestradiol to SHBG and to albumin in women." J Steroid Biochem **35**: 35-38.
- 137. Katan, M.B., et al. (1997). "Kinetics of the incorporation of dietary fatty acids into serum cholesteryl esters, erythrocyte membranes, and adipose tissue: an 18-month controlled study." J Lipid Res **38**: 2012-2023.
- 138. Cunnane, S.C., et al. (1993). "High alpha-linolenic acid flaxseed (Linum usitatissimum): some nutritional properties in humans." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **69**(2): 443-53.
- 139. Joshi, K., et al. (2006). "Supplementation with flax oil and vitamin C improves the outcome of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids</u> 74(1): 17-21.
- 140. Cartwright, I. J., et al. (1985). "The effects of dietary omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on erythrocyte membrane phospholipids, erythrocyte deformability and blood viscosity in healthy volunteers." <u>Atherosclerosis</u> **55**(3): 267-81.
- 141. Agren, J. J. and Hanninen, O. O. (1991). "Effect of moderate freshwater fish diet on erythrocyte ghost phospholipid fatty acids." <u>Ann Med</u> **23**(3): 261-3.
- 142. Katan, M.B., et al. (1991). "Biological markers of dietary intake, with emphasis on fatty acids." <u>Ann Nutr Metab</u> **35**(5): 249-252.
- 143. Goode, G., Garcia, S., and Heagerty, A. (1997). "Dietary supplementation with marine fish oil improves in vitro small artery endothelial function in hypercholesterolemic patients: A double-blind placebo-controlled study." <u>Circulation</u> **96**(9): 2802-2807.
- 144. Brown, A. J., et al. (1991). "Erythrocyte eicosapentaenoic acid versus docosahexaenoic acid as a marker for fish and fish oil consumption." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty</u> <u>Acids</u> 44(2): 103-6.
- 145. Marangoni, F., et al. (1993). "Changes of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids in plasma and circulating cells of normal subjects, after prolonged administration of 20:5 (EPA) and 22:6 (DHA) ethyl esters and prolonged washout." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1210**(1): 55-62.
- 146. Vidgren, H.M., et al. (1997). "Incorporation of n-3 fatty acids into plasma lipid fractions, and erythrocyte membranes and platelets during dietary supplementation with fish, fish oil, and docosahexaenoic acid-rich oil amoung healthy young men." Lipids **32**(7): 697-705.
- 147. Brown, A. J., et al. (1990). "A mixed Australian fish diet and fish-oil supplementation: impact on the plasma lipid profile of healthy men." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **52**(5): 825-33.

- 148. Brown, A., Pang, E., and Roberts, D.C. (1991). "Persistent changes in the fatty acid composition of erythrocyte membranes after moderate intake of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: study design implications." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **54**(4): 668-73.
- 149. Godley, P. A., et al. (1996). "Correlation between biomarkers of omega-3 fatty acid consumption and questionnaire data in African American and Caucasian United States males with and without prostatic carcinoma." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **5**(2): 115-9.
- 150. Feunekes, G. I., et al. (1993). "Relative and biomarker-based validity of a food-frequency questionnaire estimating intake of fats and cholesterol." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **58**(4): 489-96.
- 151. Adam, O., et al. (2003). "Anti-inflammatory effects of a low arachidonic acid diet and fish oil in patients with rheumatoid arthritis." <u>Rheumatol Int</u> **23**(1): 27-36.
- 152. Parra, M. S., et al. (2002). "Erythrocyte cell membrane phospholipid levels compared against reported dietary intakes of polyunsaturated fatty acids in pregnant Mexican women." Public Health Nutr 5(6A): 931-7.
- 153. Agren J.J., et al. (1995). "Fatty acid composition of erythrocyte, platelet, and serum lipids in strict vegans." Lipids **30**(4): 365-9.
- 154. Fokkema, M. R., et al. (2000). "Polyunsaturated fatty acid status of Dutch vegans and omnivores." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids</u> **63**(5): 279-85.
- 155. Nelson, G. J., et al. (1997). "The effect of dietary arachidonic acid on plasma lipoprotein distributions, apoproteins, blood lipid levels, and tissue fatty acid composition in humans." <u>Lipids</u> 32(4): 427-33.
- 156. Hill, J.G., et al. (1965). "The effect of diet on the phospholipid composition of the red blood cells of man." J Am Oil Chem Soc **42**: 137-41.
- 157. Manku, M. S., et al. (1983). "Fatty acids in plasma and red cell membranes in normal humans." Lipids **18**(12): 906-8.
- 158. Farquhar, J.W. and Ahrens Jr, E.H. (1963). "Effects of dietary fats on human erythrocyte fatty acid patterns." J Clin Invest **42**: 675-85.
- 159. Glatz, J.F., et al. (1989). "Fatty acid composition of serum cholesteryl esters and erythrocyte membranes as indicators of linoleic acid intake in man." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **49**(2): 269-76.
- 160. Riboli E., et al. (1987). "Biological markers of diet." <u>Cancer Surv</u> 6: 685-718.

- 161. Dougherty, R.M., et al. (1987). "Lipid and phospholipids fatty acid composition of plasma, red blood cells, and platelets and how they are affected by dietary lipids: a study of normal subjects from Italy, Finland and the USA." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **45**: 443-455.
- 162. Zeleniuch-Jacquotte, A., et al. (2000). "Reliability of fatty acid composition in human serum phospholipids." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> **54**(5): 367-372.
- 163. Arab L. and Akbar, J. (2002). "Biomarkers and the measurement of fatty acids." <u>Public Health Nutr</u> **5**(6A): 865-71.
- 164. Arab, L. (2003). "Biomarkers of fat and fatty acid intake." J Nutr 133 Suppl 3: 925S-932S.
- 165. Paula, B. (1998). Organic Chemistry. Upper Saddle River, Prentice Hall.
- Smith, W.L. (1989). "The eicosanoids and their biochemical mechanisms of action." <u>Biochem J</u> 259: 315-24.
- 167. Calder, P. (2002). "Dietary modification of inflammation with lipids." <u>Proc Nutr Soc</u> **61**: 345-358.
- 168. Lands, W.E., t al. (1992). "Maintenance of lower proportions of (n 6) eicosanoid precursors in phospholipids of human plasma in response to added dietary (n 3) fatty acids." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1180: 147-162.
- Obata, T., et al. (1999). "Eicosapentaenoic acid inhibits prostaglandin D2 generation by inhibiting cyclo-oxygenase-2 in cultured human mast cells." <u>Clin Exp Allergy</u> 29: 1129-1135.
- 170. Hamid, R., et al. (1999). "Inhibition by dietary menhaden oil of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 in N-nitrosomethylyurea-induced rat mammary tumors." Int J Oncol 14: 523-528.
- 171. Badawi, A.F., et al. (1998). "The effect of n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids on the expression of cyclooxygenase 1 and 2 and levels of p21ras in rat mammary glands." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> 19: 905-10.
- 172. Culp, B.R., et al. (1979). "Inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis by eicosapentaenoic acid." <u>Prostaglandins Med</u> **3**(5): 269-78.
- Kobayashi, N., et al. (2006). "Effect of altering dietary omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratios on prostate cancer membrane composition, cyclooxygenase-2, and prostaglandin E2." <u>Clin</u> <u>Cancer Res</u> 12(15): 4662-70.

- 174. Horia, E. and B. A. Watkins (2007). "Complementary actions of docosahexaenoic acid and genistein on COX-2, PGE2 and invasiveness in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells." <u>Carcinogenesis</u>.
- Knapp, H. (1990). "Prostaglandins in human semen during fish oil ingestion: evidence for in vivo cyclooxygenase inhibition and appearance of novel trienoic compounds." <u>Prostaglandins</u> 39: 407-423.
- 176. Bagga, D., et al (2003). "Differential effects of prostaglandins derived from  $\omega$ -6 and  $\omega$ -3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on COX-2 expression and IL-6 secretion." <u>PNAS</u> 100: 1751-56.
- 177. Boudreau, M.D., et al. (1991). "Lack of dose response by dietary n-3 fatty acids at a constant ratio of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids in suppressing eicosanoid biosynthesis from arachidonic acid." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **54**: 111-117.
- 178. Connolly, J.M., Gilhooly, E.M, and Rose, D.P. (1999). "Effects of reduced dietary linoleic acid intake, alone or combined with an algal source of docosahexaenoic acid, on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell growth and apoptosis in nude mice." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **35**: 44-49.
- 179. Cleland, L. G., et al. (2006). "Reduction of cardiovascular risk factors with longterm fish oil treatment in early rheumatoid arthritis." J Rheumatol. **33**(10): 1973-9.
- 180. Gupta, S., et al. (2000). "Over-expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human prostate adenocarcinoma." Prostate **42**: 73-78.
- 181. Huang, Y.C., et al. (1996). "n-3 fatty acids decrease colonic epithelial cell proliferation in high-risk bowel mucosa." Lipids **31**: S313-317.
- 182. Shono, T. et al. (2001). "Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human gliomas:prognostic significance and molecular correlations." <u>Cancer Res</u> **61**: 4375-4381.
- 183. Sales, K.J., et al. (2001). "Cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostaglandin E(2) synthesis are up-regulated in carcinomas of the cervix:a possible autocrine/paracrine regulation of neoplastic cell function via EP2/EP4 receptors." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **86**: 2243-2249.
- Hosomi, Y., et al. (2000). "Increased cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression occurs frequently in precursor lesions of human adenocarcinoma of the lung." <u>Lung Cancer</u> 30: 73-81.
- Bennett, A., et al. (1997). "Cyclooxygenase-2 gene expression in human breast cancer." Int J Oncol 10: 503-507.

- 186. Hwang, D., et al. (1998). "Expression of cyclooxygenase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 in human breast cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **90**: 455-460.
- 187. Jiang W.G., et al. (2003). "Levels of expression of lipoxygenases and cyclooxygenase-2 in human breast cancer." <u>Prostag Leukotr Ess</u> **69**: 275-81.
- 188. Shim, J.Y., et al. (2003). "Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 is associated with breast carcinoma and its poor prognostic factors." <u>Mod Pathol</u> **16**: 1199-204.
- 189. Davies, G., et al. (2003). "Correlation between cyclooxygenase-2 expression and angiogenesis in human breast cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **9**: 2651-2656.
- 190. Boland G.P., et al. (2004). "COX-2 expression is associated with an aggressive phenotype in ductal carcinoma in situ." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **90**: 423-429.
- 191. Harris, R.E., et al. (2000). "Chemoprevention of breast cancer in rats by celecoxib, a cyclooxygenase 2 inhibitor." <u>Cancer Res</u> **60**: 2101-2113.
- 192. Terry, M.B., et al. (2004). "Association of frequency and duration of aspirin use and hormone receptor status with breast cancer risk." JAMA **291**: 2433-2440.
- 193. Schreinemachers, D.M. and Everson, R.B. (1994). "Aspirin use and lung, colon, and breast cancer incidence in a prospective study." <u>Epidemiology</u> **5**: 138-146.
- 194. Sharpe, C.R., et al. (2000). "Nested case-control study of the effects of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs on breast cancer risk and stage." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 83: 112-120.
- 195. Cotterchio, M., et al. (2001). "Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use and breast cancer risk." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 10: 1213-1217.
- 196. Harris, R.E., et al. (2003). "Breast cancer and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: prospective results from the women's health initiative." <u>Cancer Res</u> **63**: 6096-6101.
- 197. Vane, J. (1980). "Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis as a mechanism of action for aspirin-like drugs." <u>Nature</u> **231**: 232-235.
- 198. Harris, R.E., Namboodiri, K.K., and Farrar, W.B. (1996). "Nonsteroidal anti-inflmmatory drugs and breast cancer." <u>Epidemiology</u> 7: 203-205.
- 199. Noble L.S., et al. (1997). "Prostaglandin E2 stimulates aromatase expression in endometriosis-derived stromal cells." J Clin Endo Metabl **82**: 600-602.

- 200. Zhao, G., et al. (2007). "Dietary alpha-linolenic acid inhibits proinflammatory cytokine production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells in hypercholesterolemic subjects." <u>Am J</u> <u>Clin Nutr</u> **85**(2): 385-91.
- 201. Brueggemeier, R. W., et al. (2007). "Aromatase and COX in breast cancer: Enzyme inhibitors and beyond." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol **106**:16-23.
- 202. Prosperi, J. R. and Robertson, F. M. (2006). "Cyclooxygenase-2 directly regulates gene expression of P450 Cyp19 aromatase promoter regions pII, pI.3 and pI.7 and estradiol production in human breast tumor cells." <u>Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat</u> 81(1-2): 55-70.
- 203. Simpson, E. R., et al. (1994). "Aromatase cytochrome P450, the enzyme responsible for estrogen biosynthesis." <u>Endocr Rev</u> **15**(3): 342-55.
- 204. Toniolo, P. (1997). "Endogenous estrogens and breast cancer risk: the case for prospective cohort studies." <u>Environ Health Perspect</u> **105 (suppl 3)**: 387-392.
- 205. Maggiolini, M., et al. (2002). "Aromatase overexpression enhances the stimulatory effects of adrenal androgens on MCF7 breast cancer cells." <u>Mol Cell Endocrionl</u> **182**: 13-18.
- 206. Yue, W., et al. (1998). "In situ aromatization enhances breast tumor estradiol levels and cellular proliferation." <u>Cancer Res</u> **58**: 927-932.
- 207. Utsumi, T., et al. (1996). "Prescence of alternatively spliced transcripts of aromatase gene in human breast cancer." J Clin Endo Metabl **81**: 2344-2349.
- 208. Sun, X.Z., Zhou, D., and Chen, S. (1997). "Autocrine and paracrine actions of breast tumor aromatase. A three-dimensional cell culture study involving aromatase transfected MCF-7 and T-47D cells." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol **63**: 29-36.
- 209. Miller, W.R. (1991). "Aromatase activity in breast tissue." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol **39**: 783-90.
- 210. Gunson, D.E., et al. (1995). "Prevention of spontaneous tumours in female rats by fadrozole hydrochloride, an aromatase inhibitor." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **72**: 72-75.
- Johnston, S. and Dowsett, M. (2003 Nov). "Aromatase inhibitors for breast cancer: lessons from the laboratory." <u>Nature Reviews</u> 3: 821-831.
- 212. Howell, A. and Dowsett, M. (2004). "Endocrinology and hormone therapy in breast cancer aromatase inhibitors versus antioestrogens." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> **6**: 269-274.

- 213. Baum, M., et al. (2002). "Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifen versus tamoxifen alone for adjuvan treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: first results of the ATAC randomised trial." Lancet **359**: 2131-9.
- Goss, P.E., et al. (2003). "A randomized trial of letrozole in postmenopausal women after five years of tamoxifen therapy for early-stage breast cancer." <u>N Engl J Med</u> 349: 1793-1802.
- 215. Dowsett, M., et al. (2000). "Effects of the aromatase inhibitor anastrozole on serum oestrogens in Japanese and Caucasian women." <u>Cancer Chemother Pharmacol</u> **46**: 35-39.
- Richards, J. and Brueggermeter, R. (2003). "Prostaglandin E2 regulates aromatase activity and expression in human adipose stromal cells via two distinct receptor subtypes." <u>J Clin</u> <u>Endo Metabl</u> 86: 2810-2816.
- 217. Brodie, A., et al. (2001). "Aromatase and COX-2 expression in human breast cancers." J Steroid Biochem **79**: 41-7.
- 218. Purohit, A., et al. (1995). "Aromatase activity and interleukin-6 production by normal and malignant breast tissue." J Clin Endo Metabl **80**: 3052-3058.
- 219. O'Neill, J.S., Elton, R.A., and Miller, W.R. (1988). "Aromatase activity in adipose tissue from breast quadrants: a link with tumor site." <u>Brit Med J</u> 296.
- 220. Karrupa, D., et al. (2002). "Aromatase and prostaglandin inter-relationships in breast adipose tissue: significance for breast cancer development." <u>Breast Cancer Research & Treatment</u> **76**(2): 102-109.
- 221. Brueggemeier, R.W., et al. (1999). "Correlation of aromatase and cyclooxygenase gene expression in human breast cancer specimens." <u>Cancer Lett</u> **140**: 27-35.
- 222. Diaz-Cruz, E.S., et al. (2005). "Cyclooxygenase inhibitors suppress aromatase expression and activity in breast cancer cells." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **90**(5): 2563-70.
- 223. Braden, L.M. and Carroll, K.K. (1986). "Dietary polyunsaturated fat in relation to mammary carcinogenesis in rats." Lipids **21**: 285-288.
- 224. Welsh, C.W., et al. (1985). "Influence of dietary fat levels on development and hormone responsiveness of the mouse mammary gland." <u>Cancer Res</u> **45**: 6147-6157.
- 225. Fay, M.P. and Freedman, L.S. (1997). "Meta-analyses of dietary fats and mammary neoplasms in rodent experiments." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> **46**: 215-223.

- 226. Rose, D.P. and Connolly, J.M. (1993). "Effects of dietary omega-3 fatty acids on human breast cancer growth and metastases in nude mice." J Natl Cancer Inst **85**(21): 1743-1747.
- 227. Senzaki, H., et al. (1998). "Dietary effects of fatty acids on growth and metastasis of KPL-1 human breast cancer cells in vivo and in vitro." <u>Anticancer Res</u> 18: 1621-1627.
- 228. Fay, M.P., et al. (1997). "Effect of different types and amounts of fat on the development of mammary tumors in rodents: a review." <u>Cancer Res</u> **57**(18): 3979-3988.
- 229. Hilakivi-Clarke L, et al. (1996). "Breast cancer risk of rats fed a diet high in n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids during pregnancy." J Natl Cancer Inst **88**: 1821-1827.
- 230. Kinoshita, K., et al. (1994). "Inhibitory effects of purified eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid on growth and metastasis of murine transplantable mammary tumor." In Vivo 8: 371-374.
- Gammatikos, S.I., et al. (1994). "n-3 and n-6 fatty acid processing and growth effects in neoplastic and noncancerous human mammary epithelial cell lines." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 70: 219-227.
- Mukutmoni-Norris, M., Hubbard, N.E., and Erickson, K.L. (2000). "Modulation of murine mammary tumor vasculature by dietary n-3 fatty acids in fish oil." <u>Cancer Lett</u> 150: 101-109.
- 233. Hubbard, N.E., Lim, D., and Erickson, K.L. (1998). "Alteration of murine mammary tumorigenesis by dietary enrichment with n-3 fatty acids in fish oil." <u>Cancer Lett.</u> **124**: 1-7.
- 234. Minami, M. and Noguchi, N. (1996). "Effects of low-dose eicosapentaenoic acid, docosahexaenoic acid and dietary fat on the incidence, growth and cell kinetics of mammary carcinomas in rats." <u>Oncology</u> 53: 398-405.
- Hardman, W.E., et al. (2001). "Three percent dietary fish oil concentrate increased efficacy of doxorubicin against MDA-MB 231 breast cancer xenografts." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> 7(7): 2041-2049.
- 236. Karmali, R.A., Marsh, J., and Fuchs, C. (1984). "Effect of omega-3 fatty acids on growth of a rat mammary tumor." J Natl Cancer Inst **73**: 457-461.
- 237. Razanamahefa, L., et al. (2000). "Stimulatory effect of arachidonic acid on T-47D human breast cancer cell growth is associated with enhancement of cyclin D1 mRNA expression." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> 38(2): 274-80.

- 238. Wang, M., et al. (2000). "Induction of mammary differentiation by mammary-derived growth inhibitor-related gene that interacts with an omega-3 fatty acid on growth inhibition of breast cancer cells." <u>Cancer Res</u> **60**(22): 6482-6487.
- 239. Hilakivi-Clarke, L., et al. (1997). "A maternal diet high in n 6 polyunsaturated fats alters mammary gland development, puberty onset, and breast cancer risk among female rat offspring." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> 94: 9372–9377.
- 240. Sasaki, T., et al. (1998). "Effects of dietary n-3-to-n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid ratio on mammary carcinogenesis in rats." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **30**: 137-143.
- Hebert, J. and Rosen, A. (1996). "Nutritional, socioeconomic, and reproductive factors in relation to female breast cancer mortality: findings from a cross-national study." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Detect Prev</u> 20(3): 234-44.
- 242. Kaizer, L. et al. (1989). "Fish consumption and breast cancer risk: an ecological study." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **12**(1): 61-68.
- 243. Sasaki, S,. et al. (1993). "An ecological study of the relationship between dietary fat intake and breast cancer mortality." <u>Prev Med</u> **22**(2): 187-202.
- 244. Guo, W.D., et al. (1994). "Diet, serum markers and breast cancer mortality in China." Jpn J Cancer Res **85**(6): 572-7.
- 245. Caygill, C.P., et al. (1996). "Fat, fish, fish oil and cancer." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 74(1): 159-64.
- 246. Voorrips, L. E., et al. (2002). "Intake of conjugated linoleic acid, fat, and other fatty acids in relation to postmenopausal breast cancer: the Netherlands Cohort Study on Diet and Cancer." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **76**(4): 873-82.
- 247. Stripp, C., et al. (2003). "Fish intake is positively associated with breast cancer incidence rate." J Nutr **133**(11): 3664-9.
- Gago-Dominguez, M., et al. (2003). "Opposing effects of dietary n-3 and n-6 fatty acids on mammary carcinogenesis: The Singapore Chinese Health Study." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 89(9): 1686-1692.
- 249. MacLean, C. H., et al. (2006). "Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on cancer risk: a systematic review." JAMA 295(4): 403-15.
- 250. Jakovljevic, J., et al. (2002). "Dietary intake of selected fatty acids, cholesterol and carotenoids and estrogen receptor status in premenopausal breast cancer patients" <u>Breast</u> <u>Cancer Res Treat</u> **75**(1): 5-14.

- 251. Wirfalt, E., et al. (2002). "Postmenopausal breast cancer is associated with high intakes of omega6 fatty acids (Sweden)." <u>Cancer Causes Control</u> **13**(10): 883-893.
- 252. Goodstine, S.L., et al. (2003). "Dietary (n-3)/(n-6) fatty acid ratio: possible relationship to premenopausal but not postmenopausal breast cancer risk in U.S. women." J Nutr 133(5): 1409-1414.
- 253. Wakai, K., et al. (2005). "Dietary intakes of fat and fatty acids and risk of breast cancer: a prospective study in Japan." <u>Cancer Sci</u> **96**(9): 590-9.
- 254. Simonsen, N., et al. (1998). "Adipose tissue omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid content and breast cancer in the EURAMIC study. European Community Multicenter Study on Antioxidants, Myocardial Infarction, and Breast Cancer." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> 147(4): 342-352.
- 255. Maillard, V., et al. (2002). "N-3 and N-6 fatty acids in breast adipose tissue and relative risk of breast cancer in a case-control study in Tours, France." Int J Cancer **98**: 78-83.
- 256. Bagga, D., et al. (2002). "Long-chain n-3-to-n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid ratios in breast adipose tissue from women with and without breast cancer." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **42**(2): 180-185.
- 257. Punnonen, K., et al. (1989). "Phospholipids and fatty acids in breast cancer tissue." J Cancer Res Clin Oncol **115**(6): 575-8.
- Vatten, L.J., et al. (1993). "Polyunsaturated fatty acids in serum phospholipids and risk of breast cancer: A case-control study from the Janus Serum Bank in Norway." <u>Eur J Cancer</u> 29A(4): 532-38.
- Rissanen, H., et al. (2003). "Serum fatty acids and breast cancer incidence." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> 45(2): 168-75.
- Saadatian-Elahi, M., et al. (2002). "Serum fatty acids and risk of breast cancer in a nested case-control study of the New York University Women's Health Study." <u>IARC Sci Publ</u> 156: 227-30.
- 261. Chajes, V., et al. (1999). "Fatty-acid composition in serum phospholipids and risk of breast cancer: an incident case-control study in Sweden." Int J Cancer **83**(5): 585-90.
- 262. Pala, V., et al. (2001). "Erythrocyte membrane fatty acids and subsequent breast cancer: a prospective Italian study." J Natl Cancer Inst **93**(14): 1088-1095.
- 263. Kuriki, K., et al. (2007). "Breast cancer risk and erythrocyte compositions of n-3 highly unsaturated fatty acids in Japanese." Int J Cancer 121(2): 377-85.

- 264. Shannon, J., et al. (2007). "Erythrocyte fatty acids and breast cancer risk: a case-control study in Shanghai, China." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **85**(4): 1090-7.
- 265. Wirfalt ,E., et al. (2004). "No relations between breast cancer risk and fatty acids of erythrocyte." <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> **58**: 761-70.
- 266. Saadatian-Elahi, M., et al. (2004). "Biomarkers of dietary fatty acid intake and the risk of breast cancer: A meta-analysis." Int J Cancer 111: 584-591.
- 267. Dorgan, J.F., et al. (1996). "Relation of energy, fat, and fiber intakes to plasma concentrations of estrogens and androgens in premenopausal women." <u>Am J ClinNutr</u> 64(1): 25-31.
- Bagga, D., et al. (1995). "Effects of a very low fat, high fiber diet on serum hormones and menstrual function. Implications for breast cancer prevention." <u>Cancer</u> **76**(12): 2491-6.
- 269. Dorgan, J.F., et al. (2003). "Diet and Sex Hormones in Girls: Findings from a randomized controlled clinical trial." J Natl Cancer Inst **95**(2): 132-41.
- 270. Wu, A.H., et al. (1999). "Meta-analysis: dietary fat intake, serum estrogen levels, and the risk of breast cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **91**(6): 529-534.
- 271. Goldin, B.R., et al. (1982). "Estrogen excretion patterns and plasma levels in vegetarian and omnivorous women." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **307**: 1542-1547.
- 272. Reed M.J., et al. (1986). "The regulation of the biologically available fractions of oestradiol and testosterone in plasma." J Steroid Biochem 24: 317-320.
- 273. Bruning ,P.F. and Bonfrer J.M. (1986). "Free fatty acid concentrations correlated with the available fraction of estradiol in human plasma." <u>Cancer Res</u> **46**: 2606-2609.
- 274. Rock, C. L., et al. (2004). "Effects of a high-fiber, low-fat diet intervention on serum concentrations of reproductive steroid hormones in women with a history of breast cancer." J Clin Oncol 22(12): 2379-87.
- 275. Heber D., et al. (1991). "Reduction of serum estradiol in postmenopausal women given free access to low-fat high-carbohydrate diet." <u>Nutrition</u> 7: 137-39.
- 276. Berrino, F., et al. (2001). "Reducing bioavailable sex hormones through a comprehensive change in diet: the diet and androgens (DIANA) randomized trial." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 10(1): 25-33.

- 277. Holmes, M.D., et al. (2000). "Dietary fat intake and endogenous sex steroid hormone levels in postmenopausal women." J Clin Oncol **18**: 3668-3676.
- 278. Boyd, N. F., et al. (1997). "Effects at two years of a low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet on radiologic features of the breast: results from a randomized trial. Canadian Diet and Breast Cancer Prevention Study Group." J Natl Cancer Inst **89**(7): 488-96.
- 279. Nagata, C., et al. (2005). "Associations of mammographic density with dietary factors in Japanese women." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(12): 2877-2880.
- Knight, J. A., et al. (1999). "Macronutrient intake and change in mammographic density at menopause: results from a randomized trial." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 8(2): 123-8.
- 281. Nordevang, E., et al. (1993). "Dietary habits and mammographic patterns in patients with breast cancer." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> **26**(3): 207-15.
- Masala, G., et al. (2005). "Dietary and lifestyle determinants of mammographic breast density. A longitudinal study in a Mediterranean population." <u>Int J Cancer</u> 118 (7): 1782-89.
- 283. Vachon, C. M., et al. (2000). "Association of diet and mammographic breast density in the Minnesota breast cancer family cohort." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 9(2): 151-60.
- 284. Sala, E., et al. (2000). "High risk mammographic parenchymal patterns and diet: a casecontrol study." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **83**(1): 121-6.
- 285. Thomson, C. A., et al. (2007). "Pilot study of dietary influences on mammographic density in pre- and postmenopausal Hispanic and non-Hispanic white women." <u>Menopause</u> 14(2): 243-50.
- 286. Doll, R. and R. Peto (1981). "The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks of cancer in the United States today." J Natl Cancer Inst **66**(6): 1191-308.
- Hursting, S.D., et al. (1990). "Types of dietary fat and the incidence of cancer at five sites." <u>Prev Med</u> 19: 242-53.
- 288. Raper, N.R., et al. (1992). "Omega-3 fatty acid content of the US food supply." <u>J Amer</u> <u>Coll Nutr</u> **11**: 304.
- 289. Nielsen, N.H., and Hansen, J.P. (1980). "Breast cancer in Greenland-selected epidemiological, clinical and histological features." J Cancer Res Clin Oncol **98**: 287-299.
- 290. Hildes, J.A. and Schaefer, O. (1984). "The changing picture of neoplastic disease in the western and central Canadian Artic (1950-1980)." <u>Can Med Assoc J</u> **130**: 25-32.
- 291. Lanier, A.P., et al. (1996). "Alaska Native cancer update: incidence rates 1989-1993." Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 5(9): 749-751.
- 292. "The research group for population-based cancer registration in Japan. Cancer incidence and incidence rates in Japan in 1999: Estimates based on data from 11 population-based cancer registries." (2004). Jpn J Clin Oncol **34**: 352-356.
- 293. Hardman, W. E. (2007). "Dietary canola oil suppressed growth of implanted MDA-MB 231 human breast tumors in nude mice." <u>Nutr Cancer</u> **57**(2): 177-83.
- 294. Schrey, M. P. and Patel, K. V. (1995). "Prostaglandin E2 production and metabolism in human breast cancer cells and breast fibroblasts. Regulation by inflammatory mediators." <u>Br J Cancer</u> 72(6): 1412-9.
- 295. Seyberth, H. W., et al. (1975). "Increased arachidonate in lipids after administration to man: effects on prostaglandin biosynthesis." <u>Clin Pharmacol Ther</u> **18**(5): 521-9.
- 296. Reeves, K. W., et al. (2007). "Recreational physical activity and mammographic breast density characteristics." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **16**(5): 934-42.
- 297. Chandrasekharan, N. V., et al. (2002). "COX-3, a cyclooxygenase-1 variant inhibited by acetaminophen and other analgesic/antipyretic drugs: cloning, structure, and expression." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 99(21): 13926-31.
- 298. Modugno, F., et al. (2003). "Alcohol consumption and the risk of mucinous and nonmucinous epithelial ovarian cancer." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **102**(6): 1336-43.
- 299. Chen, Z., et al. (2005). "Fracture risk among breast cancer survivors: results from the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study." <u>Arch Intern Med</u> **165**(5): 552-8.
- 300. Bligh, E.G. and Dyer, W.J. (1959). "A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification." <u>Can J Med Sci</u> **37**(8): 911-917.
- 301. Morrison, W.R. and Smith, L.M. (1964). "Preparation of fatty acid methyl esters and dimethylacetals from lipids with boron fluoride-methanol." J Lipid Res 53: 600-608.
- 302. Dowsett, M., et al. (1987). "Use of the aromatase inhibitor 4-hydroxyandrostenedione in postmenopausal breast cancer: optimization of therapeutic dose and route." <u>Cancer Res</u> 47(7): 1957-61.

- 303. Zhao, G., et al. (2007). "Dietary alpha-linolenic acid inhibits proinflammatory cytokine production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells in hypercholesterolemic subjects." <u>Am J</u> <u>Clin Nutr</u> **85**(2): 385-91.
- 304. Purohit, A., et al. (2005). "Regulation of aromatase activity by cytokines, PGE2 and 2methoxyoestrone-3-O-sulphamate in fibroblasts derived from normal and malignant breast tissues." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol **94**(1-3): 167-72.
- 305. Hall, M. N., et al. (2007). "Blood levels of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, aspirin, and the risk of colorectal cancer." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **16**(2): 314-21.
- 306. Hartman T.J., et al. (2005). "Does nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use modify the effect of a low-fat, high-fiber diet on recurrence of colorectal adenomas?"<u>Cancer Epidemiol</u> <u>Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(10): 2359-65.
- Harris, R. B., et al. (2005). "Fatty acid composition of red blood cell membranes and risk of squamous cell carcinoma of the skin." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(4): 906-12.
- 308. Carter, C. A., et al. (1989). "A comparison of the effects of the prostaglandin synthesis inhibitors indomethacin and carprofen on 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced mammary tumorigenesis in rats fed different amounts of essential fatty acid." <u>Carcinogenesis</u> **10**(8): 1369-74.
- 309. Lala, P. K., et al. (1997). "Effects of chronic indomethacin therapy on the development and progression of spontaneous mammary tumors in C3H/HEJ mice." Int J Cancer **73**(3): 371-80.
- Robertson, F. M., et al. (1998). "Ibuprofen-induced inhibition of cyclooxygenase isoform gene expression and regression of rat mammary carcinomas." <u>Cancer Lett</u> 122(1-2): 165-75.
- 311. Harris, R. E., et al. (1999). "Prospective study of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and breast cancer." <u>Oncol Rep</u> **6**: 71-72.
- 312. Johnson, T. W., et al. (2002). "Association of aspirin and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use with breast cancer." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **11**(12): 1586-91.
- 313. Harris, R. E., et al. (2007). "Cancer chemoprevention by cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) blockade: results of case control studies." <u>Subcell Biochem</u> **42**: 193-212.
- 314. Kirsh, V. A., et al. (2007). "Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use and breast cancer risk: subgroup findings." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **166** (6): 709-16.

- Langman, M. J., et al. (2000). "Effect of anti-inflammatory drugs on the overall risk of common cancer: case control study in general practice research database." <u>Br Med J</u> 320: 1642-1646.
- 316. Neuget, A. I., et al. (1998). "Association between coronary heart disease and cancers of the breast, prostate, and colon." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 7: 869-873.
- 317. Egan, K. M., et al. (1996). "Prospective study of regular aspirin use and the risk of breast cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **88**(14): 988-993.
- 318. Friis, S., et al. (2003). "A population-based cohort study of the risk of colorectal and other cancers among users of low-dose aspirin." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **88**(5): 684-8.
- 319. Sorensen, H. T., et al. (2003). "Risk of cancer in a large cohort of nonaspirin NSAID users: a population-based study." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **88**(11): 1687-92.
- Jacobs, E. J., et al. (2005). "Aspirin and other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and breast cancer incidence in a large U.S. cohort." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(1): 261-4.
- 321. Cook, N. R., et al. (2005). "Low-dose aspirin in the primary prevention of cancer: the Women's Health Study: a randomized controlled trial." JAMA **294**(1): 47-55.
- 322. Bajetta, E., et al. (2002). "Biological activity of anastrozole in postmenopausal patients with advanced breast cancer: effects on estrogens and bone metabolism." <u>Ann Oncol</u> **13**(7): 1059-66.
- 323. Diaz-Cruz, E. S. and Brueggemeier, R. W. (2006). "Interrelationships between cyclooxygenases and aromatase: unraveling the relevance of cyclooxygenase inhibitors in breast cancer." <u>Anticancer Agents Med Chem</u> **6**(3): 221-32.
- 324. DuBois, R. N. (2004). "Aspirin and breast cancer prevention: the estrogen connection." JAMA **291**(20): 2488-9.
- 325. <u>Nurse Practitioners' Prescribing Reference</u>. (2004).New York, NY, Prescribing Reference, Inc.
- Curhan, G. C., et al. (2002). "Frequency of use of acetaminophen, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, and aspirin in US women." <u>Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf</u> 11(8): 687-93.

- 327. Erman, A., et al. (1996). "Ovarian angiotensin-converting enzyme activity in humans: relationship to estradiol, age, and uterine pathology." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81(3): 1104-7.
- 328. McTiernan, A., et al. (2006). "Relation of BMI and physical activity to sex hormones in postmenopausal women." <u>Obesity</u> 14(9): 1662-77.
- 329. Harris, R. E., et al. (2005). "Aspirin, ibuprofen, and other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in cancer prevention: a critical review of non-selective COX-2 blockade (review)." <u>Oncol Rep</u> **13**(4): 559-83.
- 330. Marshall, S. F., et al. (2005). "Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use and breast cancer risk by stage and hormone receptor status." J Natl Cancer Inst **97**(11): 805-12.
- 331. Zhang, Y., et al. (2005). "Use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and risk of breast cancer: the Case-Control Surveillance Study revisited." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **162**(2): 165-70.
- 332. Wolfe, M. M., et al. (1999). "Gastrointestinal toxicity of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **340**(24): 1888-99.
- 333. Lanas, A., et al. (2005). "A nationwide study of mortality associated with hospital admission due to severe gastrointestinal events and those associated with nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use." <u>Am J Gastroenterol</u> **100**(8): 1685-93.
- 334. Giagoudakis, G. and Markantonis, S. L. (2005). "Relationships between the concentrations of prostaglandins and the nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs indomethacin, diclofenac, and ibuprofen." <u>Pharmacotherapy</u> **25**(1): 18-25.
- 335. Paulose-Ram, R., et al. (2003). "Prescription and non-prescription analgesic use among the US adult population: results from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III)." <u>Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf</u> **12**(4): 315-26.
- 336. Carney, P.A., et al. (2003). "Individual and combined effects of age, breast density, and hormone replacement therapy use on the accuracy of screening mammography." <u>Ann Intern Medicine</u> 138(3): 168-75.
- 337. van Gils, C.H., et al. (1999). "High mammographic breast density and its implications for the early detection of breast cancer." Journal of Medical Screening 6(4): 200-4.
- 338. Pasqualini, J.R., et al (1996). "Concentrations of estrone, estradiol, and estrone sulfate and evaluation of sulfatase and aromatase activities in pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer patients." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **81**(4): 1460-4.

- 339. Li, T. et al. (2005). "The association of measured breast tissue characteristics with mammographic density and other risk factors for breast cancer." <u>Cancer Epidemiol</u> <u>Biomarkers Prev</u> 14(2): 343-349.
- 340. Soule, H.D. and McGrath, C.M. (1980). "Estrogen responsive proliferation of clonal human breast carcinoma cells in athymic mice." <u>Cancer Lett</u> (10)2: 177-89.
- 341. van Gils, C.H., et al, (1998). "Effect of mammographic breast density on breast cancer screening performance: a study in Nijmegen, the Netherlands." J Epidemiol Community Health 52(4): 267-71.
- 342. Stanford, J.L., King, I., and Kristal, A.R. (1991). "Long-term storage of red blood cells and correlations between red cell and dietary fatty acids: results from a pilot study." <u>Nutr</u> <u>Cancer</u> **16**:183-88.
- 343. Hodson, L. et al., (2002). "Stability of plasma and erythrocyte fatty acid composition during cold storage" <u>Clin Chim Acta</u> **321**: 63-67.